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Dear Investors,

As we discussed in last year’s annual report, the credit crisis
and a distressed real estate market have expanded the
prospects for our program’s style of opportunistic investing.
Traditional opportunistic institutional investment strategy
targets properties with property-level performance challenges
that have a value-creation potential through developing,
re-developing, retenanting or repositioning the property

and then harvesting the value at an appropriate time. These
investments should offer attractive total returns with most

of the return captured upon the sale of the asset and will
typically have little or no current return. However, today’s
frozen credit markets and lack of equity capital have begun to
present the opportunity for investors with access to capital

to participate in the initial capitalization of a project, or
recapitalize existing high-quality real estate whose problems
are not in property-level performance. These recapitalizations
can address owner issues, enable lenders to adjust the balance
sheets of properties in their possession, or resolve distress on
lenders’ own balance sheets. Contrasted with traditional
opportunistic investments, today’s investment profile
provides for a higher current return with less pressure on
property appreciation to achieve attractive total returns.

Our investments in 2009 reflect these opportunities.

In August 2009, we entered into an agreement to provide

up to $25 million of mezzanine financing for the renovation
of 3,200 U.S. Army-owned hotel lodging units on 10
installations in eight states (one of the lodging units is
featured on the cover). The developer contributed $23
million of equity and a major bank supplied $35 million of
first mortgage financing. Our loan accrues interest at an
annual rate of 18 percent, pays monthly interest at a 10
percent annual rate and matures on September 1, 2016. This
loan may be prepaid at any time after the full $25 million has
been disbursed, subject to certain conditions and payment
of a prepayment premium that would enhance returns. As
of December 31, 2009, we had funded approximately $12.6
million of this loan.

In October 2009, the REIT and a joint venture partner
purchased at a discount a promissory note secured by a first
lien mortgage on The Palms of Monterrey, a 408-unit
multifamily community in Ft. Myers, Florida. The seller was
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as receiver for a
failed bank in Chicago and the purchase price was $25.4
million plus closing costs. At the time of the purchase, the
principal balance and accrued interest on the original note
was $65.8 million and the borrower was in default. We have
agreed to a mediated settlement with the borrower under
which we will take ownership of this property in mid-May.
Subsequently, we plan to use modest financing from certain
government sponsored entities to enhance our returns.

In November 2009, for $460,000, the REIT acquired a 9.99
percent limited partnership interest in Stone Creek
Apartments, a 300-unit multifamily community in Killeen,
Texas that at the end of the year was 97 percent leased. The
developer and general partner of the community from
which the REIT purchased this interest retained a small
ownership interest and is responsible for the property
operations. Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity
Fund I LP, a privately offered real estate limited partnership,
owns the remaining 90 percent limited partner interest in
the community.

These investments illustrate our flexibility and adaptability to
the realities of the marketplace as we execute our investment
strategies. We will continue to seek investments in a range of
property types while remaining patient and disciplined in our
approach. We believe our patience and discipline in the types
of investments we have made in the second half of 2009 have
been, and will continue to be, rewarded. Even as this letter is
being written, we are seeing more investment opportunities
as owners and banks liquidate or recapitalize their holdings.

Beginning in June 2009, our Board of Directors increased
the annualized distribution to shareholders to five percent,
an increase from the prior rate of three percent. As we noted
in last year’s annual report, the rate increase is related to the
profiles of the investment opportunities we have seen that
can offer unusually attractive current returns in an
opportunity investment environment.

During 2010, we expect to see an improved flow of investment
opportunities. Many will be traditional opportunistic
investments, while others will be what in more normal times
would be considered core or value-added opportunities and
are the result of the continuing lack of debt and equity
capital available for investment in real estate. Our current
pipeline includes several possible investments in high-quality
properties that have issues within their capital structure—
and with the right type of investment, we can generate both
attractive current returns as well as excellent total returns. We
believe we can continue to make these types of investments
through the balance of 2010, maintaining our patience and
discipline and committing capital only when our investment
objectives are met.

Thank you for your investment and confidence in Behringer
Harvard Opportunity REIT II.

Sincerely,

Robert M. Behringer
Chairman

B e

Robert S. Aisner
Chief Executive Offer and President
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™) -
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.(the “Exchange Act”). These -
forward-looking statements include discussion and analysis of the financial condition of Behringer
Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc. and our subsidiaries (which may be referred to herein as the
“Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”), including our ability to rent space on favorable terms, to-address
our debt maturities and to fund our liquidity requirements, the value of our assets, our anticipated
capital expenditures, the amount and timing of anticipated future cash distributions to our stockholders,
the estimated per share value of our common stock and other matters. Words such as “may,”
“anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “would,” “could,”
“should” and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements.

27« 27«

These forward-looking statements are not historical facts but reflect the intent, belief or current
expectations of our management based on their knowledge and understanding of the business and
industry, the economy and other future conditions. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance, and we caution stockholders not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.
Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking
statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors, including but not limited to the
factors listed and described under “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the factors
described below:

» market and economic challenges experienced by the U.S. economy or real estate industry as a
whole and the local economic conditions in the markets in which our properties are located;

* the availability of cash flow from operating activities for distributions and capital expenditures;
* a decrease in the level of participation under our distribution reinvestment plan;
* our level of debt and the terms and limitations imposed on us by our debt agreements;

* the availability of credit generally, and any failure to refinance or extend our debt as it comes
due or a fajlure to satisfy the conditions and requirements of that debt;

* the need to invest additional equity in connection with debt refinancings as a result of reduced
asset values and requirements to reduce overall leverage;

¢ future increases in interest rates;

* our ability to raise capital in the future by issuing additional equity or debt securities, selling our
assets or otherwise;

* impairment charges;

* our ability to retain our executive officers and other key personnel of our advisor, our property
manager and their affiliates;

* conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with our advisor and its affiliates;

* unfavorable changes in laws or regulations impacting our business or our assets; and

* factors that could affect our ability to qualify as a real estate investment trust.

Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our management’s view
only as of the date of this Report, and may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. We undertake no
obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the
occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results. We intend for these forward-
looking statements to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions created by Section 27A of the
Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act.



Cautionary Note

" The representations, warranties, and covenants made by us in any agreement filed as an exhibit to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K are made solely for the benefit of the parties to the agreement, .
including, in some cases, for the purpose of allocating risk among the parties to the agreement, and
should not be deemed to be representations, warranties, or covenants to or with any other parties.
Moreover, these representations, warranties, or covenants should not be relied upon as accurately
describing or reflecting the current state of our affairs.



PART 1
Item 1.  Business
Organization

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc. was organized as a Maryland corporation on
January 9, 2007 and has elected to be taxed, and currently qualifies, as a real estate investment trust
(“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes.

We acquire and operate commercial real estate and real estate-related assets. In particular, we
focus generally on acquiring commercial properties with significant possibilities for short-term capital
appreciation, such as those requiring development, redevelopment, or repositioning, those located in
markets and submarkets with high growth potential, and those available from sellers who are distressed
or face time-sensitive deadlines. In addition, given economic conditions as of December 31, 2009, our .
opportunistic investment strategy also includes investments in real estate-related assets that present
opportunities for higher current income. Such investments may have capital gain characteristics,
whether as a result of a discount purchase or related equity participations. We may acquire a wide
variety of commercial properties, including office, industrial, retail, hospitality, recreation and leisure,
single-tenant, multifamily, and other real properties. These properties may be existing, income-
producing properties, newly constructed properties, or properties under development or construction
and may include multifamily properties purchased for conversion into condominiums and single-tenant
properties that may be converted for multi-tenant use. Further, we may invest in real estate-related
securities, including securities issued by other real estate companies, either for investment or in change
of control transactions completed on a negotiated basis or otherwise. We also may originate or invest in
collateralized mortgage-backed securities, mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans, and Section 1031
tenant-in-common interests (including those issued by affiliates of our advisor), or in entities that make
investments similar to the foregoing. We expect to make our investments in or in respect of real estate
assets located in the United States and other countries based on our view of existing market conditions.
We completed our first property acquisition, an office building located in Denver, Colorado, on
October 28, 2008, and, as of December 31, 2009, we have invested in four real estate and real estate- °
related assets.

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II LP, a
limited partnership organized in Delaware on January 12, 2007 (“Behringer Harvard Opportunity |
OP II”). As of December 31, 2009, our wholly-owned subsidiary, BHO II, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
was the sole general partner of Behringer Harvard Opportumty OP II and owned a 0.1% partnership
interest in Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II. As of December 31, 2009, our wholly-owned
subsidiary, BHO Business Trust II, a Maryland business trust, was the sole limited partner of Behringer
Harvard Opportunity OP II and owned the remamlng 99.9% interest in Behrmger Harvard Opportunity
OPII. - Ch :

We are externally managed and advised by Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors II, LLC, a
Texas limited liability company that was formed on March 16, 2010 (“Behringer Opportunity
Advisors I17). Behringer Opportunity Advisors II is responsible for managing our day-to-day affairs and
for identifying and making acquisitions and investments on our behalf. Prior to March 16, 2010, we
were advised by Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors II LP, which was converted into Behringer
Harvard Opportunity Advisors II solely to reorganize the entity as a limited liability company.

Our office is located at 15601 Dallas Parkway, Suite 600, Addison, Texas 75001, and our toll-free
telephone number is (866) 655-3600: The name Behringer Harvard is the property of Behrmger
Harvard Holdings, LLC (“Behringer Harvard Holdings”) and is used by permission.



Public Offering of Common Stock

On February 26, 2007, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-11 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) to offer up to 125,000,000 shares of common stock for sale to the
public (the “Offering”), of which 25,000,000 shares are being offered pursuant to our distribution
reinvestment plan (the “DRP”). We reserve the right to reallocate the shares we are offering between
our primary offering and the DRP. The SEC declared our Registration Statement effective on '

January 4, 2008, and we commenced our ongoing initial public offering on January 21, 2008.

In connection with:our initial capitalization, on January 19, 2007, we issued 22,471 shares of our
common stock and 1,000 shares of our convertible stock to Behringer Harvard Holdings. As of
December 31, 2009, we had 14,648,698 shares of common stock outstanding, which includes the 22,471
shares issued to Behringer Harvard Holdings. As of December 31, 2009, we had 1,000 shares of --
convertible stock issued and outstanding to Behringer Harvard Holdmgs o v

We commenced operations on April 1, 2008 upon satlsfactlon of the conditions of our escrow
agreement and our acceptance of initial subscriptions of common stock. Upon admission of new
stockholders, subscription proceeds are used for payment of dealer manager fees and selling ,
commissions and may be utilized' as consideration for investments and the payment or reimbursement
of offering expenses and operating expenses. Until requlred for such purposes, net offer1ng proceeds .
are held in short-term, liquid investments. We use the net proceeds from the Offering pr1mar11y to =’
acquire real estate and real estate-related assets consistent with our opportunistic investment strategy.
As of December 31, 2009, we had issued 14,732,825 shares of our common stock, including 22, 471
shares owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings, and 377,408 shares “through the DRP. As of
December 31 2009, we had redeemed 84 127 shares of our common stock

Our common stock is not currently hsted on-a natlonal securities exchange Dependmg upon the
prevailing market conditions, it is our intention to consider beginning the process of liquidating our
assets and distributing the net proceeds to our stockholders within three to-six years. after the
termination of our primary offering. If we do not begin an orderly liquidation within that penod we .
may seek to have our shares listed on a national securities exchange. ‘ :

2009 nghllghts
During 2009, we completed the following key transactions:

* we issued apprommately 7.4 million shares of our common stock (1nclus1ve of dlstrlbutlon
reinvestments and without regard to redempt1ons) resultlng in gross proceeds to us ‘of
 $73.8 m11110n '

-+ we entered into an agreement to provide up to $25 million of second hen f1nancmg for the
privatization of and improvements to, approximately 3,200 hotel lodging units located on ten
U.S. Army installations;

* we purchased through.a ]omt venture, at a discount, a 90% interest in a promissory note secured
- by a first lien mortgage for $25.4 million plus closing costs from the Federal Deposit Insurance -
_ Corporation as Receiver for Corus Bank, N.A. The borrower is currently in default under the
-+ _promissory note ‘and the principal balance and accrued interest owed at the date of purchase was
$65.8 million. The collateral for the promissory note is a 408-unit multi-family complex, Palms of
.. Monterrey, on a 28-acre site located in Fort Myers, Florlda and

* we purchased a 9.99% limited partnership interest in a multlfamlly property, Stone Creek, in -
Killeen, Texas for.$0.5 million. ,



Investment Objectives
Our primary investment objectives are:

s to realize growth in the value of our investments within three to six  years of the termination of
the primary offering;

* to preserve, protect and return our investors’ capital contribution;

* to grow net cash from operations such that more cash is available for distributions to investors;
and

* to enable our investors to realize a return of their investment by beginning the process of : |
liquidating and distributing cash to investors or by-listing our shares for trading on a national
securities exchange within three to six years after termination of the primary offering.

Acquisition and Investment Policies

We seek to acquire and operate real estate and real estate-related assets on an opportunistic basis.
We may acquire a wide variety of commercial properties, including office, industrial, retail, hospitality,
recreation and leisure, single-tenant, and multifamily properties, as well as property for development or
redevelopment. We may also invest in real estate-related assets such as collateralized mortgage-backed
securities, mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans, Section 1031 tenant-in-common interests, and real
estate-related securities. In each case, we will target assets that have been identified as opportunistic
investments with significant possibilities for short-term capital appreciation. These assets will be
identified as such because. of their property-specific characteristics or their market characteristics. For
instance, properties that may benefit from unique repositioning opportunities, for development or
redevelopment, .or that are located in markets with high growth potential or that-are available from
distressed sellers may present appropriate investments for us. In addition, current economic conditions
present opportunities to invest in loans secured by or related to real estate at more attractive rates of
current return than have been available for some time.: Such loan investments may also have capital
gain characteristics, whether as a result of a discount purchase or related equity participatiors. Because
our intended approach to acquiring and operating real estate-related assets involves more risk than
comparable real estate programs that have a targeted holding period for investments longer than ours,
utilize leverage to a lesser degree, or employ more conservative investment strategies, we beheve that
we have a potential for a higher rate of return than other real estate programs.

We intend to hold our assets for a period of three to six years from the termination of the primary
offering. We believe that holding our assets for this period will enable us to capitalize on the potential
for increased income and capital -appreciation of assets while also providing a level of liquidity .
consistent with our investment strategy and fund life. Though we will evaluate each of our assets for.
capital appreciation generally within a targeted holding period of three to six years from the
termination of the primary offering, we may consider investing in properties and other assets with a
different holding period in the event such investments provide an opportunity for an attractive return in
a period that is consistent with the life of this fund. Further, economic or market conditions may
influence us to hold our investments for different periods of time.

We typically make our real estate investments in fee title or a long-term leasehold estate through
Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II or indirectly through limited liability companies or through
investments in joint ventures, partnerships, co-tenancies, or other co-ownership arrangements with the
developers of the properties, affiliates of Behringer Opportunity Advisors II, or other persons.



Borrowing Policies

There is no limitation on the amount we may invest in any single property or other asset or on the
amount we can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment. Under our
charter, the maximum amount of our indebtedness cannot exceed 300% of our “net assets” (as defined
by the Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts adopted by the North American
Securities Administrators Association on May 7, 2007 (the “NASAA REIT Guidelines™)) as of the date
of any borrowing; however, we may exceed that limit if approved by a majority of our independent
directors. In addition to our charter limitation, our board of directors has adopted a policy to generally
limit our aggregate borrowings to approximately 75% of the aggregate value of our assets unless
substantial justification exists that borrowing a greater amount is in our best interests. Our policy
limitation, however, does not apply to individual real estate assets and only will apply once we have
ceased raising capital under the Offering or any subsequent offering and invested substantially all of
our capital. As a result, we expect to borrow more than 75% of the contract purchase price of each
real estate asset we acquire to the extent our board of directors determines that borrowing these
amounts is prudent. Our board of directors must review our aggregate borrowings at least quarterly. As
of December 31, 2009, we had an aggregate debt leverage ratio of 13% of the aggregate value of our
assets. '

Distribution Policy

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT
taxable income to our stockholders. Until we generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fully fund
the payment of distributions, some or all of our distributions will be paid from other sources. For the
year ended December 31, 2009, our distributions were partially funded from operating cash flow and
the remainder from other financing activities, such as our offering proceeds. To the extent our
investments are in development or redevelopment projects or in properties that have significant capital
requirements, our ability to make distributions may be negatively impacted, especially during our early
periods of operation. As development projects are completed and begin to generate income, we expect
to have additional funds available to pay distributions. We can provide no assurances as to when we
will begin to generate sufficient cash flow solely from operations to fully fund distributions.

Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors based on its analysis of our
performance over the previous period, expectations of performance for future periods, including actual
and anticipated operating cash flow, changes in market capitalization rates for investments suitable for
our portfolio, capital expenditure needs, general financial condition, and other factors that our board
deems relevant. The board’s decision will be influenced, in substantial part, by its obligation to ensure
that we maintain our status as a REIT. In light of the pervasive and fundamental disruptions in the
global financial and real estate markets, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to achieve - -
expected cash flows necessary to continue to pay distributions at any particular level, or at all. If the
current economic conditions. continue, our board could determine to reduce our current distribution
rate or cease paying distributions in order to conserve cash.

Until proceeds from the Offering are fully invested and generating sufficient operating cash flow to
fully fund the payment of distributions to our stockholders, we have and will continue to pay some or
all of our distributions from sources other than operating cash flow. We may, for example, generate
cash to pay distributions from financing activities, components of which may include proceeds from the
Offering and borrowings (including borrowings secured by our assets) in anticipation of future
operating cash flow. In addition, from time to time, our advisor and its affiliates may agree to waive or
defer all, or a portion, of the acquisition, asset management or other fees or incentives due to them,
pay general administrative expenses or otherwise supplement investor returns in order to increase the
amount of cash that we have available to pay distributions to our stockholders.



Many of the factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders
are beyond our control, and a change in any one factor could adversely affect our ability to pay future
distributions. Since we began operations in April 2008, our board of directors has declared distributions
as summarized below: .

Annualized Percentage Return

. Approximate Amount Assuming $10.00 Per Share
Period ) ’ (Rounded) Purchase Price”
19Qtr. 2010 . ... ... oo L $0.1232877 per share 5%
4% Qtr.2009. ... ... $0.1260274 per share 5%
34Qtr. 2009. .. ..ol $0.1260274 per share 5%
24 Qtr. 2009 .......... ... $0.0912329 per share 4%
1 Qtr.2009..........:.... $0.0739726 per share 3%
4 Qtr. 2008. ... ... ... ... $0.0756148 per share 3%
34 Qtr.2008. .. .. ... $0.0756148 per share _ 3%
24 Qtr. 2008 ......... ... $0.0501359 per share 3%

M The average weighted share price may be lower than $10.00 per share, and the individual
percentage return may be greater than the stated percentage, as a result of shares
purchased through our distribution reinvestment plan at $9.50 per share and shares issued
at discounted purchase prices, such as volume discounts, pursuant to the terms of the
Offermg :

Competition

We are subject to significant competition in seeking real estate investments and tenants. We
compete with many third partles engaged in real estate investment activities, including other REITs,
specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance
companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking firms, lenders, hedge funds,
governmental bodies, and other entities. We also face competition from other real estate investment
programs, including other Behringer Harvard programs, for investments that may be suitable for us.
Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have and may
have substantially more operating experience than either us or Behringer Opportunity Advisors II. They
also may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of
capital.

Reguiatiohs

‘Our investments are subject to various federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, and regulations
(including those of foreign jurisdictions), including, among other things, zoning regulations, land use
controls, environmental controls relating to air and water quality, noise pollution, and indirect
environmental impacts such as increased motor vehicle activity. We believe that we have all permits and
approvals necessary under current law to operate our investments.

Environmental

As an owner of real estate, we are subject to various environmental laws of federal, state, and local
governments. Compliance with existing laws has not had a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations, and management does not believe it will have such an impact in the
future. However, we cannot predict the impact of unforeseen environmental contingencies or new or
changed laws or regulations on properties in which we hold an interest, or on properties that may be
acquired directly or indirectly in the future.



Significant Tenants

" As of December 31, 2009 one of our tenants accounted for 10% or more of our aggregate annual
revenues from our consolidated property. Policy Studies, Inc., a tenant in the healthcare consulting
services industry, accounted for rental revenue of $0.8 mllhon or approximately 15%, of our total
rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009. Policy Studies, Inc. has exercised its termination
option and plans to'vacate the building on or before “August 31, 2010.

Employees

We have no employees. Behringer Opportunity Advisors IT and affiliates of Behringer'Harvard
Holdings perform a full range of real estate services for us, including acquisitions, property
management, accounting, legal, asset management, wholesale brokerage, and investor relations services.

We are dependent on affiliates of Behringer Harvard Holdings for services that are essential to us,
including the sale of shares of our common stock, asset acquisition decisions, property mahagement,
and other general administrative responsibilities. In the event that these companies were unable to
prov1de these services to us, we would be requlred to prov1de such servxces ourselves or obtaln such
services from other sources :

Financial Information About Industry Segments

Our current business consists of owning, managing, ‘operating, leasing, acquiring, developing,
investing in, and disposing of real estate assets. We internally evaluate all of our real estate assets as
one industry segment, and, accordingly, we do not report segment information.

Available Information

We electromcally file annual reports on Form 10- K, quarterly reports on. Form 10- Q current
reports on Form 8K and any amendments to those reports with the SEC. We also have filed with the .
SEC registration statements in connection with the Offering. Copres of our filings with the SEC may be
obtained from our website at www behringerharvard.com or at the SEC’s website at www. SEC.gOV.. ..
Access to these filings is free of charge. We are not incorporating our website or. any information from
the website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K..

Item 1A>. liisk’ Factors.

The factors described below represent the principal risks of an investment in our shares in our
ongoing public offering. Other factors may exist that we do not consider to be significant based-on”
information that is currently available or that we are not currently. able to anticipate. Our stockholders
or potential investors may be referred to as “you” or “your” in this Item 1A, “Risk Factors” section.

Risks Related to an Investment in Behringer Harvard. Opportumty REIT Il

There is no public trading market for your shares; therefore, it will be difficult for you ‘to sell your shares. If
you are able to sell your shares, you may have to sell them at a substantial discount from the pubhc oﬂermg
price.

There is no public market for the shares. In addition, thé price you receive for the sale of any
shares of our common stock is likely to be less than the proportionate value of ‘our investments.
Therefore, you should purchase the shares orly as a long-term investment. The minimum purchase
requirements and suitability standards imposed on prospective investors in‘the Offering also apply to
subsequent purchasers of our shares. If you are able to find a buyer for your shares, you may not sell
your shares to such buyer unless the buyer meets the suitability standards applicable to him, which may
inhibit your ability to sell your shares. Our board of directors may reject any request for redemption of



shares or amend, suspend or terminate -our share redemption program at any time. Therefore, it will be
difficult for you to sell your shares promptly or at all. You may not be able to sell your shares in the
event of an emergency, and, if you are able to sell your shares, you may have to sell them at a
substantial discount from the public offermg price. It is also hkely that your shares would not be
accepted as the prlmary collateral for a loan. '

We may suffer from delays in locatmg smtable mvestments, whtch could adversely affect the return on your
investment.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to. make distributions to our stockholders is
dependent upon the performance of our advisor in the acquisition of our investments and the
determination of any financing arrangements as well as the performance of our property manager in
the selection of tenants and the negotiation of leases. The current market for properties that meet our-
investment objectives is highly competitive, as is the leasing market for such properties. The more
shares we sell in the Offering, the greater our challenge will be to invest all of the net offering
proceeds on attractive terms. Except for the investments described in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, you will have no opportunity to evaluate the terms of transactions or other economic or -
financial data concerning our investments. You must rely entirely on the oversight of our board of
directors, the management. ability of our-advisor-and the :performance of the property manager. We
cannot be sure that our advisor: will be successful.in obtaining suitable investments on financially
attractive terms

We could: suffer from delays in locating sultable mvestments as'a result of our rehance on out
advisor at times when-management of our advisor is'simultaneously seeking:to locate suitable
investments for. other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, some of which have investment
objectives and employ investment strategies that are similar to-ours. Although our sponsor generally
seeks to avoid simultaneous.public offerings of funds that have a substantially similar mix of fund
characteristics, including targeted investment types, investment objectives and criteria, and anticipated
fund terms, there may be periods during Wthh one or more Behrmger Harvard sponsored programs
are seeking to invest.in similar properties.: - D ;.

Additionally, as a public company, we are subject to the ongoing reporting requirements under the
Securities. Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Pursuant to the Exchange Act, we
may be required to file with the SEC financial statements of properties we acquire or, in certain cases,
financial statements of the tenants. of the acquired properties. To: the extent any required financial
statements are not available or cannot be obtained, weiwill not be -able to:acquire the property. As a.
result, we: may not be able to acquire certain properties:that otherwise:would be a suitable investment.
We could suffer delays in our property acqulsrtrons due to these reporting: requirements. - :

Furthermore where we acquire propertles prlor to the start ‘of constructlon or during the early
stages of construction, it will typically take several ‘months to complete construction and rent avallable _
space. Therefore you could suffer delays in the recerpt ‘of d1str1but10ns attrlbutable to those partrcular .
propertles

-. Delays we encounter in the selectlon acqu1s1t10n and development of propertles could adversely
affect your returns. In addition, if we are unable to invest.our offering proceeds in real properties in a
timely manner, we will hold the proceeds of the Offering in an interest-bearing account, invest the
proceeds in short-term, investment-grade investments or, ultimately, liquidate. In such an event, our
ability to pay distributions to our stockholders and the returns to our stockholders would be adversely ..
affected.



Investors who invest in us at-the begmnmg of the Oﬁermg may realize a lower rate of return than later
investors. »

Because we have made only four investments in real estate and real estate-related assets and have
not identified any other investments as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, there can be
no assurances as to when we will begin to generate sufficient cash flow to fully fund the payment of
distributions. As a result, investors who invest in us before we commence significant real estate
operations and generate significant cash flow may realize a lower rate of return than later investors. ‘We
expect to have little cash flow from operations available for distribution until we make substantial
investments. In addition, to the extent our investments are in development or redevelopment projects
or in properties that have significant capital requirements, our ability to make  distributions may be
negatively impacted, especially during our early periods of operation. Therefore, until such time as we:
have sufficient cash flow from operations to fund fully the payment of distributions therefrom, some or
all of our distributions will be paid from other sources, such as from the proceeds of ‘the Offering or
future offerings, cash advances to us by our advisor, cash resultin‘g from a waiver of asset management.
fees, and borrowings, including borrowings secured by our assets, in anticipation.of future operatmg
cash flow. ‘ : ,

Investors who invest later in the Offering may realize a lower rate of return than investors who invest earlier
in the Offering to the extent we fund distributions out of sources other than operating cash flow.

To the extent we incur debt to fund distributions earlier in the Offering, the amount of cash
available for distributions in future periods will be decreased by the repayment of such debt. Similarly,
if we use offering proceeds to fund distributions, later investors may experience immediate dilution in
their investment because a portion of our net assets would have been used to fund distributions instead
of retained in our company and used to make real estate investments. Earlier investors. will benefit
from the investments made with funds raised later in the Offering, while later investors may not share
in all of the net offermg proceeds raised from- earher 1nvestors ,

We may have to make decisions on whether to invest in certain properties, without detailed information on the.
property.

To effectively compete for the acquisition of properties and other investments, our advisor-and
board of directors may be required to make decisions or post substantial non-refundable. deposits prior
to the completion of our analysis and due diligence on property acquisitions. In such cases, the -

* information available to our advisor and board of directors’at the time of making any particular
investment decision, including thedecision to pay any non-refundable deposit and the decision to
consummate any particular acquisition, may be limited, and our advisor and board of directors may not
have access to detailed information regardlng any particular investment property, such as physical .
characterlstlcs env1r0nmental matters, zoning regulations or other local conditions affecting the
investment property. Therefore, no assurance can be given that our advisor and board of directors w1ll
have knowledge of all circumstances that may adversely affect an investment. In addition, our advisor
and board of directors expect to rely upon 1ndependent consultants in connection with their evaluation
of proposed investment properties, and no assurance can be given as to the accuracy or completeness
of the information provided by such mdependent consultants. ;

This is a blind pool offering, so you will not have the opportumty to evaluate our investments ‘before we make
them." : :

Because we have made only four investments in real estate and real estate-related assets and have
not yet identified any other investments for which to apply proceeds from the Offering as of the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not able to provide you with information to evaluate our
investments prior to acquisition. We will seek to invest substantially all of our offering proceeds



available for investment, after the payment of fees and expenses, in the acquisition of real estate and
real estate-related assets. We have established policies relating to the creditworthiness.of tenants and
managers, but our board of directors will have wide discretion in 1mp1ement1ng these policies, and you
will not have the opportunity to evaluate potential tenants or managers. In light of our desire to
purchase properties that-we believe present an opportunity for enhanced future value, the
creditworthiness of existing tenants may not be a significant factor in determining whether to acquire
the property. We anticipate that we will invest in properties that we believe may be repositioned for
greater value due, in whole or inpart; to the presence of tenants that do.not have strong credit. In
such cases, our strategy will include repositioning the property to attract new, more creditworthy
tenants.

If we are unable to raise substantial Junds, we will be limited in the number and type of investménts we may
make, and the return on your mvestment in us will ﬂuctuate wzth the performance of the specific investments ;
we make.

The Offering is being made on a “best efforts” basis, meaning that our dealer manager is only
required to use its best efforts to sell our shares and has no firm commitment or obligation to purchase
any of the shares. As a result, we cannot -assure you of the amount of proceeds that will be raised in
the Offering. If we are unable to raise substantial funds in the Offering, we will make fewer
investments resulting in less diversification in terms of the number of investments owned, the
geographic regions in which our investments are. located and ‘the types-of investments that we acquire.
In such event, the likelihood of our profitability. being affected by the performance of any one of our
investments will increase. In the event we are not able to raise a substantial amount of offering
proceeds, we will most likely make our investments through one or more joint ventures with third
parties -and may only be able to make:one investment. Additionally, we are not limited iri. the number
or size of our investments or the percentage of net proceeds we may dedicate to a single investment.
Your investment in our shares will be subject to greater risk to. the extent that-we lack a diversified ;-
portfolio of investments. In addition, if we are unable to raise substantial funds, our fixed operating:
expenses, as a percentage of gross income, would be: hlgher and our financial condition and ability to
pay distributions could be adversely affected. ' : '

We and our advisor have a limited opemting history, we have no established ﬁrzancing sources, and the prior
performance of real estate investment programs sponsored by aﬂ‘iltates of our advisor may not be indicative of
our future results. : :

We and our advisor have only limited operating histories. You should not rely upon the past
performance of other real estate investment programs sponsored by affiliates of -our advisor to predict
our future results. We were incorporated in January 2007, commenced operations in April 2008, and,.as
of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have made four investments. in real estate and. .
real estate-related assets. Accordingly, the prior performance of real estate investment programs
sponsored by affiliates of Mr. Behringer and our advisor may not be indicative of our future results. -

Moreevef we have nt)'e'stablishe"d finaneing sources other than our offering proceeds. If our ,
capltal resources are insufficient to support our operatlons we w111 not be successful '

You should consider our prospects in light of the risks, uncertalntles and dlfflcultles frequently - -
encountered by companies that are, like us, in their .early stage of development. To be successful in this.
market; we must, among other things: : ‘ ,

* identify and acquire investmerits that further our investment strategies;
. malntaln our ‘network of licensed securltles brokers and other agents

* attract, 1ntegrate rnotxvate and retain qualified personnel to manage our day-to-day operations;



* .respond to competition for our targeted real estate propertles and other investments as well as
for potential investors in-us; and !

* continue to bulld and expand our operatrons structure to support our busmess

We cannot guarantee:that we will succeed in achieving these: goals and our failure to do S0 could
cause you to’ lose allora portlon of your 1nvestment

If we lose or are unable to obtain key personnel our abtllty to zmplememf our investment strategies could be
delayed or hindered. . :

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our chairman,
certain executive officers and other key personnel, of us, our advisor and its affiliates, including
Robert M. Behringer and Robert S. Aisner, each of whom would be difficult to replace. We do not
have employment agreements with our chairman and executive officers, and we cannot guarantee that
they will remain affiliated with us. Although our chairman, several of our executive officers and other
key personnel, including Mr. Behringer and Mr. Aisner, have entered into employment agreements with
affiliates of our advisor, including Harvard Property Trust, these agreements are terminable at will, and-
we cannot guarantee that such persons will remain affiliated with our advisor. If any of our key
personnel were to cease their affiliation with us, our advisor or its affiliates, our operating results could
suffer. Further, although Behringer Harvard Holdings has-key person insurance on the lives of
Robert M. Behringer; Gerald J. Reihsen, III, M. Jason Mattox, Robert S. Aisner and Gary S. Bresky,
we do not intend to separately maintain key person life insurance on these individuals, or any other
person. We believe that our future success depends, in large part, upon our advisor’s and its affiliates” -
ability to hire and retain highly skilled' managerial, operational and marketing personnel. Competition
for persons with- these skills is intense, and we cannot assure you that our advisor will be successful in -,
attracting and retaining such skilled personnel. Further, we have established, and intend in the future to
establish, strategic relationships with firms that have special expertise in certain services or as to assets -
both nationally and in certain geographic regions. Maintaining these relationships will be important for:
us to effectively compete for assets. We cannot- assure you that we will be successful in attracting-and
retaining such strategic relationships. If we lose or are unable to obtain the services of key personnel or
do not establish or maintain appropriate strategic relatlonshlps our ab111ty to 1mplement our investment
strateg1es could be delayed or hlndered ‘

If we mternahze our management ﬁmctwns, your inferest in us could be diluted, and we could-incur other. -
significant costs associated with being self-managed

Our strategy may involve internalizing our management functions. If we 1nternal1ze our
management functions, we may: elect to.negotiate to acquire our advisor’s and property manager’s
assets and personnel. Under our advisory management agreement, we are restricted from hiring or -
soliciting any employee of our advisor or its affiliates for one year from the termination of the -
agreement. We are similarly. restricted under our property management agreement with respect to the
employees of our property manager or its affiliates. These restrictions could make it difficult to
internalize our management functions without acqulrlng assets and personnel from our advisor and its
affiliates for consideration that would be negotiated at that time. At this time, we cannot be sure of the
form or amount of consideration or other terms relating to any such acquisition. Such consideration
could take many forms, including cash payments, promissory notes and shares of our stock. The
payment of such consideration could result in dilution of your interests as a stockholder and could -
reduce the net income per share and funds from operations per share attributable to your investment

In addition, while we would no longer bear the costs of the various fees and expenses we. expect to
pay to our advisor under the advisory management agreement, our direct expenses would include
general and administrative costs, including legal, accounting, and other expenses related to corporate
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governance, SEC reporting and compliance. We would-also incur-the compensation and benefits costs
of our officers and other employees and consultants that we now expect will be paid by our advisor or
its affiliates. Tn add1t1on we may issue equity awards to officers, employees and consultants which
awards would decrease net income and funds from operations and may further dilute your investment.
We cannot reasonably estimate the amount of fees to our advisor we would save and the costs we ~
would incur if we became self- managed If the expenses we assume as a result of an internalization are
higher than the expenses we avoid paymg to our advisor, our net income per share and funds from
operations per share would be lower as a result of the internalization than it otherwise would have’ ‘
been, potentially decreasing the amount of funds available to distribute to our stockholders and the
value of our shares. , :

As currently orgamzed we will not directly employ any employees If'we elect to internalize our
operations, we would employ personnel and would be subject to potential liabilities commonly faced by
employers, such as workers d1sab1hty and compensation claims, potentlal labor dlsputes and other
employee-related liabilities and grievances. :

If we . internalize our management functions, we could have difficulty integrating these functions as
a stand-alone entity. Currently, our advisor and its affiliates perform property management, asset
management, and general and administrative functions, including accounting and financial reporting, for
multiple entities. They have a great deal of know-how and can experience economies of scale. We may
fail to properly identify the appropriate mix of personnel and capital needs to operate as a.stand-alone
entity. An inability to manage an internalization transaction effectively could thus result in-our ..
incurring excess costs and/or suffering deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal control over financial réporting. Such deficiencies could cause us to incur additional costs, and
our management’s attenition could be diverted from most effectlvely managmg our properties.

If we contmue to pay a portwn of dtsmbutlons ﬁ'om sources. other than our cash Sflow from operations, we
will have less funds available for the acquzsztwn of propemes, and your overall return may be reduced.

Our orgamzatlonal documents permit us to make distributions. from any source; such as from the
proceeds of the Offering or other offerings, cash advances to us by our advisor, cash resulting from a
waiver of asset management fees, and borrowings, including borrowings secured by our assets, in
anticipation of future operating cash flow. If we continue to fund-a portion of distributions from
financings or the net proceeds from the Offering, we will have less funds available for acquiring
properties and other investments, and your overall return may be reduced. Further, to the extent
distributions have or continue to exceed cash flow from operations, a stockholder’s basis in our stock
will be reduced and, to the extent d1str1but1ons exceed a stockholder’s basis,. the stockholder may
recognize capital gain. o :

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover claims against our independent directors are limited,
which could reduce your and our recovery against them if they negligently cause us to inctr losses.

Maryland law provides that a director has no liability in that capacity if he performs his duties in
good faith, in a manner he reasonably believes to be in our best interests and with the care that an
ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. Our charter
provides that o 1ndependent ditector shall be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages
and that we will generally indemnify them for losses unless they are grossly negligent or engage in
willful ‘misconduct.” As-a result, you and we may have more limited rights against our independent’
directors than might otherwise exist.under common law, which could reduce your and our recovery
from these persons if:they:act.in:a negligent-manner. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the
defense costs incurred by our independent.directors (as well as by our other directors; officers,
employees and agents) in: some cases, which would decrease the cash otherwise available: for
distributions:to you. : : '
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Your .investment may be subject to additional risks if we make international investments.

We expect to purchaée real estate assets located outside the United States and may make or
purchase mortgage, bridge, mezzanine or other loans or participations in mortgage, bridge, mezzanine
or other loans made by a borrower located outside the United States or secured by property located
outside the United States. These investments may be affected by factors peculiar to the laws of the
jurisdiction in which the borrower or the property is located. These laws may expose us to risks that are
different from and in addition to those commonly found in the United States. Foreign investments
could be subject to the following risks:

* governmental laws, rules and policies including laws relating to the foreign ownership of real
property or mortgages and laws relating to the ability of foreign persons or corporations to
remove profits earned from activities within the country to the person’s or corporation’s country
of origin;

* variations in currency exchange rates;

* adverse market conditions caused by inflation or other changes in natlonal or local economlc
conditions; :

* changes in relative interest rates;

* changes in the availability, cost and terms of mortgage funds resulting from Varylng natlonal
economic policies;

* changes in real estate and other tax rates, the tax treatment of transaction structnres and other
changes in operating expenses in a particular country where we have an investment;

 our REIT tax status is not respected in foreign countries. Any income or gains from foreign
sources will be subject to foreign taxes, withholding taxes, transfer taxes, and value added taxes;

* lack of uniform accounting standards (including ava11ab111ty of information in accordance w1th
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles); -

* changes in land use and zoning laws;
* more stringent environmental laws or changes in such laws;

« changes in the social stability or other political, economic or diplomatic developments in or
affecting a country where we have an investment;

* we, our sponsor and its affiliates have relatively less experience w1th respect to investing in real
property or other investments outside the United States as compared to domestic investments;
and

. legal and logistical barriers to enforcing our contractual rights."

Any of these risks could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and ability to
pay distributions to our stockholders.

If our sponsor, our advisor or its affiliates waive certain fees due to them, our results of operations and
distributions may be artificially high.

From time to time, our sponsor, our advisor or its affiliates may agree to waive or defer all or a
portion of the acquisition, asset management or other fees, compensation or incentives due to them,
pay general administrative expenses or otherwise supplement stockholder returns in order to increase
the amount of cash available to make distributions to stockholders. If our sponsor, our advisor or its
affiliates choose 'to no longer waive or defer such fees and incentives, our results of operations will be
lower than in previous periods and your return on your investment could be negatively affected.
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Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

We will be subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with our advisor and its
affiliates, including the material conflicts discussed below.

Because a number of Behringer Harvard real estate programs use investment strategies that are similar to
ours, our advisor and its and our executive officers will face conflicts of interest relating to the purchase and
leasing of properties and other investments, and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favor.

Although our sponsor generally seeks to avoid simultaneous public offerings of funds that have a
substantially similar mix of fund characteristics, including targeted investment types, investment
objectives and criteria, and anticipated fund terms, there may be periods during which one or more
Behringer Harvard sponsored programs are seeking to invest in similar properties and other real estate-
related investments. As a result, we may be buying properties and other real estate-related investments
at the same time as one or more of the other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs managed by
officers and employees of our advisor and/or its affiliates, and these other Behringer Harvard
sponsored programs may use investment strategies that are similar to ours. Our executive officers and
the executive officers of our advisor are also the executive officers of other Behringer Harvard
sponsored REITs and their advisors, the general partners of Behringer Harvard sponsored partnerships
and/or the advisors or fiduciaries of other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, and these entities
are and will be under common control. There is a risk that our advisor will choose a property:that
provides lower returns to us than a property purchased by another Behringer Harvard sponsored
program. In the event these conflicts arise, we cannot assure you that our best interests will be met
when officers and employees acting on behalf of our advisor and on behalf of advisors and managers of
other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs decide whether to allocate any particular property to us
or to another Behringer Harvard sponsored program or affiliate of our advisor, which may have an
investment strategy that is similar to ours. In addition, we may acquire properties in geographic areas
where other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs own properties. If one_of the other Behringer
Harvard sponsored programs attracts a tenant that we are competing for, we could suffer a loss of
revenue due to delays in locating another suitable tenant. Similar conflicts of interest may apply if our -
advisor determines to make or purchase mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans or participations in
mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans on our behalf because other Behringer Harvard sponsored
programs may be competing with us for such investments. You will not have the opportunity to
evaluate the manner in which these conflicts of interest are resolved before or after making your
investment.

Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors II and its affiliates, including all of our executive officers and some
of our directors, will face conflicts of interest caused by their compensation arrangements with us, whwh could
result in actions that are not in the long-term best interests of our stockholders.

Our advisor, Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors II and its affiliates, including our dealer
manager and our property manager, are entitied to substantial fees from us under the terms of the:: .
advisory management agreement, dealer manager agreement and property management agreement.
These fees could influence our advisor’s advice to us as well as the judgment of affiliates of our advisor
performing services for us. Among other matters, these compensation arrangements could affect their
judgment with respect to: : ,

« the continuation, renewal or enforcement of our agreements with our advisor and its affiliates, -
including the advisory management agreement, the dealer manager agreement and the property
management agreement;

* public offerings of equity by us, which entitle Behringer Securities to dealer manager fees and
will likely entitle our advisor to increased acquisition and asset management fees;
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* property sales, which may result in the issuance to Behringer Harvard Holdings, an affiliate of -
our advisor, of shares of our common stock through the conversion of our convertible stock;

* property acquisitions from other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, which might entitle -
affiliates of our advisor to real estate commissions and possnble success-based sale fees in
connection with: its services for the seller; :

* property acquisitions from third parties, which entitle our advisor to acquisition fees and asset
management fees; '

. borrowmgs to acquire properties, which borrowings will i increase the acqulsltlon and asset
management fees payable to our advisor;

* determining the compensation paid to employees for services provided to us, which could be '
influenced in' part by whether or not the adv1sor is-reimbursed by us for the related salaries and
benefits; ‘

. whether we seek to internalize our management functions, which internalization could result in
our retaining some of our advisor’s key officers and employees for compensation that is greater .
than that which they currently earn or which could require additional payments to affiliates of
our advisor to purchase the assets and operations of our advisor;

* whether and when we seek to list our common stock on a national securities exchange, which
listing could entitle Behringer Harvard Holdings, an affiliate of our advisor, to the issuance of -
shares of our common stock through the conversion of our convertible stock; and ’

* whether and when we seek to sell the company or its assets, Wthh sale may result in the
issuance of shares of our common stock to Behringer Harvard Holdings through the conversion
of our convertible stock. '

The fees our advisor receives in connection with transactions involving the purchase and
management of an asset are based on the cost of the investment, including the amount budgeted for
the :development, construction, and improvement of each asset, and not based on the quality-of the’
investment or'the quality of the services rendered to us. This may influence our advisor to recommend-
riskier transactions to us. Furthermore, the advisor will refund these fees to the extent they are based
on budgeted amounts that prove too high once development, construction, or improvements are :
completed, but the fact that these fees are initially calculated in’part based on budgeted amounts could
influence our advisor to overstate the estimated costs of development, construction, or improvements in
order to accelerate the cash flow it receives.

‘In addition, the conversion feature of our convertible stock could cause us to make different
investment or disposition decisions than we would otherwise make, in order to avoid the stock
conversion. Moreover, our advisor has the right to terminate the advisory management agreement for
any reason upon 60 days’ notice and thereby trigger the conversion of the convertible stock, which
could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control that might otherwise be -
in our stockholders’ best interests. :

Our advisor will face conflicts of interest relating to joint ventures, tenant-in-common investments or other -
co-ownership arrangements that we enter with other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, which could
result in a disproportionate benefit to another Behringer Harvard sponsored program.

We are likely to enter into joint ventures, tenant-in-common investments or other co-ownership
arrangements with other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs, for the acquisition, development or
improvement of properties as well as the acquisition of real estate-related investments. The executive
officers of our advisor are also the executive officers of other Behringer Harvard sponsored REITs and
their advisors, the general partners of other Behringer Harvard sponsored partnerships and/or the
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advisors or fiduciaries of other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs. These executive officers will
face conflicts of interest in determining which Behringer Harvard sponsored program-should enter into
any particular joint venture, tenant-in-common or co-ownership arrangement. These persons may also
have a conflict in structuring the terms of the relatlonshlp between our interests and the interests of
the Behringer Harvard sponsored co-venturer, co- tenant or partner as well as conﬂlcts of 1nterest in
managing the joint venture.,

In the event that we enter into a joint venture, tenant-in-common 1nvestment or other
co-ownership arrangements with another Behringer Harvard. sponsored program or joint venture, our
advisor and its affiliates may have:a conflict of interest when determining when and whether to buy or
sell a particular real -estate property, and you may. face certain additional risks. For example, it is
anticipated that Behringer Harvard Short-Term Fund I will never have an active trading market.
Therefore, if we become listed for trading on a national securities exchange, we may develop more
divergent goals and objectives from such joint venturer with respect to the sale of properties in the
future. In addition, in the event we enter into a joint venture with a Behringer Harvard sponsored
program that has a term shorter than ours, the joint venture may be required to sell its properties at
the time of the.other Behringer Harvard sponsored program’s liquidation. We may not desire to sell
the properties at such time. Even if the terms of any joint venture agreement between us and another -
Behringer Harvard sponsored program grant us a right of first refusal to buy such properties, we may
not have sufficient funds to exercise our right of first refusal under these circumstances. :

Because Mr. Behringer and his affiliates control us and other Behringer Harvard  sponsored: =
programs, agreements and transactions among the parties with respect to any joint venture, -
tenant-in-common investment or other co-ownership arrangement between or among such parties will
not have the benefit of arm’s-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between unrelated
co-venturers. Under these joint ventures, neither co-venturer-may have the power to control the
venture, and under certain circumstances, an impasse could be reached regarding matters pertaining to
the co-ownership arrangement, which might have a negative influence on the joint .venture and
decrease potential returns to you. In the event that a co-venturer has a right of first refusal to buy out
the other co-venturer, it may be unable to finance such buy-out at that time.:If our interest is subject to
a buy/sell right, we may not have sufficient cash, available borrowing: capacity or other capital resources
to allow us to elect to purchase-an interest of a co-venturer subject to the buy/sell right, in which case -
we may be forced to sell our-interest:as the result of the:exercise -of such right when we would
otherwise prefer to keep our interest. Furthermore, we may not be able to sell our interest in a joint
venture if we desire to exit the venture for any reason or if our interest is likewise :subject to a:right of
first refusal of our co-venturer or.partner, our ab111ty to sell such interest may be adversely 1mpacted by.
such right. : . :

Our -advisor’s executive officers and key personnel and the executive officers and key personnel of Behringer -
Harvard-affiliated entities that conduct our day-to-day operations and the Offering will face competmg
demands on-their time, and this may cause our mvestment returns -to suffer. ;

" We rely upon the executlve officers of our advisor and the executlve officers and employees of
Behrlnger Harvard-affiliated entities to conduct. our day-to- day operations and the Offenng These
persons also conduct the day-to-day operatlons of other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs and
may have other business interests as well. Because these persons have competlng interests on their time
and resources, they may have conflicts of ‘interest in allocating their time between our business and
these other activities. During times of intense activity in other ; programs and ventures, they may devote '
less time and resources to our business than is necessary or appropnate If this occurs, the returns on
our investments may suffer. - T S : - :
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Our officers face conflicts of interest related to the positions they hold with entities affiliated with our advisor,
which could diminish the value of the services they provide to us.

Each of our executive officers, including Mr. Aisner who serves as our President, Chief Executive
Officer and a director, is also an officer of our advisor, our property manager, our dealer manager and
other entities affiliated with our advisor, including the advisors and fiduciaries to other Behringer
Harvard sponsored programs. As a result, these individuals owe fiduciary duties to these other entities
and their investors, which may conflict with the fiduciary duties that they owe to us and our
stockholders. Their loyalties to these other entities and. investors could result in action or inaction that .
is detrimental to our business, which could harm the implementation of our business strategy and our
investment and leasing opportunities. Conflicts with our business and interests are most likely to arise
from involvement in activities related to (1) allocation of new investments and management time and
services between us and the other entities, (2) the timing and terms of the investment in or sale of an
asset, (3) development of our properties by affiliates of our advisor, (4) investments with affiliates of
our advisor, (5) compensation to our advisor, and (6) our relationship with -our dealer manager and
property manager. If we do not successfully implement our business strategy, we may be unable to
generate the cash needed to make dlstrlbutlons to you and to maintain or increase the value of our
assets.’

Your investment will be diluted upon conversion of the convertible stock.

Behringer Harvard Holdings, an affiliate of our advisor, purchased 1,000 shares of our convertible
stock for an aggregate purchase price of $1,000. Under limited circumstances, these shares may be
converted into shares of our common stock, resulting in dilution of our stockholders’ interest in us. Our
convertible stock will convert into shares of common stock on one of two events. First, it will convert if
we have paid distributions to common stockholders such that aggregate distributions are equal to 100%
of the price at which we sold our outstanding shares of common stock plus an amount sufficient to
produce a 10% cumulative, non-compounded, annual return at that price. Alternatively, the convertible
stock will convert if we list our shares of common stock on a national securities exchange and, on the
31st trading day after listing, the value of our company based on the average trading price of our
shares of common stock since the listing, plus prior distributions, combine to meet the same 10%
return threshold for our.common stoekholders. Each of these two events.is a “Triggering Event.” Upon
a Triggering Event, our convertible stock will, unless our advisory management agreement with our
advisor has been terminated or not renewed on account of a-material breach by our advisor, generally
convert into shares of common stock with a value equal to the lesser of (A) 20% of the excess of our
enterprise value plus the aggregate value of distributions paid to date on then outstanding shares of our
common stock over the aggregate issue price of those outstanding shares plus a 10% cumulative,
non-compounded, annual return on the issue price of those outstanding shares or (B) 15% of the
excess of our enterprise value plus the aggregate value of distributions paid-to date on then outstanding
shares of our common stock over the aggregate issue price of those outstanding shares plus a 6%
cumulative, non-compounded, annual return on the issue price of those outstanding shares. However, if
our advisory management agreement with our advisor expires without renewal or is terminated (other
than because of a material breach by our advisor) prior to a Triggering Event, then upon a Triggering
Event the holder of the convertible stock will be entitled to a prorated portion of the number of shares
of common stock determined by the foregoing calculation, where such proration is based on the
percentage of time we were advised by our advisor. As a result, following conversion, the holder of the
convertible stock will be entitled to a portion of amounts distributable to our stockholders, which such
amounts distributable to the holder could be significant,

Our advisor and Mr. Behringer can influence whether we terminate the advisory management
agreement or allow it to expire without renewal, or whether our common stock is listed for trading on
a national securities exchange. Accordingly, our advisor can influence both the conversion of the
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convertible stock issued to Behringer Harvard Holdings, its affiliate, and the resulting dilution of other
stockholders’ interests. t ; -

Because we rely on affiliates of Behringer Harvard Holdings for the provzswn of advisory, property
management and dealer manager services, if Behringer Harvard Holdings is unable to meet its obligations we
may be required to find alternative providers of these services, which could result in a significant and costly
disruption of our business.

Behringer Harvard Holdings, through one or more of its subsidiaries, owns and controls our
advisor, our property manager and our dealer manager. The operations of our advisor, our property
manager and our dealer manager rely substantially on Behringer Harvard Holdings. Behringer Harvard
Holdings is largely dependent on fee income from its sponsored real estate programs. The current real
estate market disruptions could adversely affect the amount of such fee income. In the event that
Behringer Harvard Holdings becomes unable to meet its obligations as they become. due, we might be
required to find alternative service providers, which could result in a s1gmf1cant dlsruptlon of our
business and would likely adversely affect the value of your investment in us. Further, given the
non-compete agreements in place with Behrlnger Harvard Holdings’ employees and the non-solicitation
agreements we have with our advisor and property manager, it would be difficult for us to utlhze any
current employees that provide services to us.

Risks Related to Our Business in General
A limit on the number. of shares a person may own may discourage a takeover.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary
and desirable to preserve our qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted by our board of directors, no
person may own more than 9.8% of our outstanding shares of common or preferred stock. This
restriction may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including -
an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our
assets) that might otherwis€ provide stockholders with the opportunity to receive a control premlum for
their shares. :

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue stock w:th terms that may subordinate the rights of the
holders of our.current common stock or discourage a third party from acquiring us. ‘

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue up to 400,001,000 shares of capital stock. Our
board of directors, without any action by our stockholders, may (1) increase or decrease the aggregate
number of shares, (2) increase or decrease the number of shares of any class or series we have -
authority to issue or (3) classify or reclassify any unissued common stock or preferred stock and
establish the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to
distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions-of redemption of any such stock. Thus, our board of
directors could authorize the issuance of such stock with terms and conditions that could subordinate
the rights of the holders of our current common stock or have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender
offer .or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premlum prlce for holders of
our common stock.

Matyland law prohibits certam busmess combmatwns, which may make it more dzﬂicult Jor us to be
acquired.

Under Maryland law, “business combmatlons” between a Maryland corporation and an mterested
stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most
recent date on which the interested stockholder_ becomes an 1nterest¢d stockholder. These business
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combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances'specified in the .
statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder .is
defined as:

* any person who beneflclally owns 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstandlng
votmg stock of the corporation; or

* an afflhate or associate of the corporation who, at any tlme within the two-year period prior to. -
the date in questlon was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the Votmg power of the then
outstandmg Votlng stock of the corporatron

A person is not an mterested stockholder under the statute if the board of directors approved in
advance the transaction by which he otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However,
in approving a transaction, the -board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to " -
compliance, at or. after the time of approval with any terms and conditions determined by the board.

After the exp1rat1on of the five-year penod descrrbed above, any business comb1nat10n between the
Maryland corporatlon and an interested stockholder must generally be recommended by the board of
directors of the corporatlon and approved by the affrrmatlve vote of at'least:

* 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of the then outstandmg shares of votmg st0ck of
the corporation; and

* two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other
than shares held by the interested stockholder.with whom or with whose- affiliate the business
combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote ‘requirements: do not apply if the:corporation’s common stockholders
receive a minimum price; as defined under Maryland law, for their shares:in the form of cash or other :
consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its-shares. Maryland
law also: permits various exemptions from these provisions, including business combinations that are
exempted by the board of directors before: the timé that the. interested stockholder: becomes an :
interested stockholder. The business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire -
control of us and increase the drffrculty of consummatmg any offer

Maiyland law also limits the abtlzty of a thlrd pan;y to buy a large stake in us and exercise votmg power in.
electing directors.

Maryland law provides a.second anti-takeover statute, the Control Share Acquisition Act, which
provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in a “control share acquisition” have
no voting rights except.to the extent approved by the corporation’s disinterested stockholders by -a vote::
of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares of stock owned by interested..
stockholders, that is, by the acquirer, by officers or by directors who are employees of the corporation, -
are excluded from the vote on whether to accord voting rights to the control shares. “Control shares”
are voting shares -of stock that would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing diréctors--
within specified ranges-of voting power. Control shares do not include shares-the acquiring person is
then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A “control share
acquisition” means the acquisition of control shares. The control share acquisition statute doesnot .
apply (1) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party
to the transaction or (2) to acquisitions approved or exempted by a corporation’s charter or bylaws.
Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the Control Share Acquisition Act any and all
acquisitions by any person of shares of our stock. We can offer no assurance that this provision will not
be amended or eliminated at any time in the future. This statute could have the effect of drscouragmg
offers from third parties to acqurre us and increasing the drfflculty of successfully completmg this type
of offer by anyone other than our affiliates or any of their affiliates. '
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Our charter includes an antt-takeover provision that may discourage a stockkolder from launchmg a tender
offer for our shares. i .

Our charter provides that any tender offer made by a stockholder 1nclud1ng any “mini-tender”
offer, must comply with most provisions of Regulation 14D of the Exchange Act. The offenng
stockholdér must provide our company notice of such tender offer at least ten business days before
initiating the tender offer. If the offering stockholder does not comply with these requ1rements our
company will have the right to redeem that stockholder’s shares and any shares acqu1red in such tender
offer. In addition, the non-complying stockholder shall be respons1ble for all of our company’s expenses
in connection with that stockholder’s noncompliance. This provision of our charter may discourage a
stockholder from 1n1tlat1ng a tender offer for our shares and prevent you from receiving a premium
price for your shares in such a transaction.

Your investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act; if we or our subsidiaries become an unregzstered investment company, we could not
continue our business. -

Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries intend to reglster as investment compames 'under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”). If we or any of our
subsidiaries were obligated to register as investment companies, we would have to comply with a Var1ety
of substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act that impose, among other things:

« limitations on capital structure;
- restrictions on specified investments;
. prohlbltrons on transact1ons with aff111ates and

* compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy dlsclosure and other rules and
regulations that would significantly increase our operating expenses. .

Under the relevant prov1srons of Section 3(a)(1). of the Investment. Company Act we w111 not be
deemed to be an “investment company” if: .

* we are not engaged pr1mar11y, nor do we hold ourselves out as bemg engaged prlmarlly, nor
propose to engage primarily, in the business of investing, remvestlng or trading in securities (the
“Primarily Engaged Test”); and

* we are not engaged and do not propose to engage in the business of investing, reinvesting,
owning, holding or trading in securities and do not own or propose.to acquire “investment -
securities” having a value exceeding 40% of the value of our total assets on an unconsolidated
basis (the “40% Test”). “Investment securities” excludes U.S. government securities and
securities of majority owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and are
not relying on the exception from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or.
Section 3(c)(7) (relating to prlvate investment compames)

We believe that we and our operating partnership satisfy both tests above. W1th respect to the 40%
Test, most: of the entities through which we and our operating partnership own our assets-are majority -
owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and arenot relying on the exceptions
from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7).

With respect to the Prirnarily Engaged Test, we and our operating partnership are hOIding
companies and do not intend to invest or trade in securities ourselves. Rather, through the ma]onty

owned subsidiaries of our operating’ partnersh1p, we and our operating partnership are prrmarlly
engaged in the non- 1nvestment company busmesses of these. subsidiaries.
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- We believe that most of the subsidiaries of our operating partnership may rely on
Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act for an exception from the definition of an
investment company. (Any other subsidiaries of our operating partnership should be able to rely on the
exceptions for private investment companies pursuant to Section 3(c)(1) and Section 3(c)(7) of the
Investment Company Act.) The SEC staff’s posrtlon on Section 3(c)(5)(C) generally requlres that an
issuer maintain at least 55% of its assets in mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate”
(“Quahfylng Assets”); at least 80% of its assets in Qualifying Assets plus real estate-related assets
(“Real Estate-Related Assets”); and no more than 20% of the value of its assets in other than
Qualifying Asséts and Real Estate- Related Assets (“Miscellaneous Assets”) To constitute a Qualifying
Asset under this 55% requirement, a real estate interest must meet various criteria; therefore, certain
of our subsidiaries are limited with respect to the value and nature of the assets that they may own at
any given time.

If, however, the value of the subsidiaries of our operating partnership that must rely on
Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) is greater. than 40% of the value of the assets of our operating
partnership, then we and operating partnership may seek to rely on the exception from registration -
under Section 3(c)(6) if we and our operating partnership are “primarily engaged,” through majority
owned subsidiaries, in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other interests
in real estate. Although the SEC staff has issued little 1nterpret1ve guidance with respect to
Section 3(c)(6), we believe that we and our operating partnership may rely on ‘Section 3(c)(6) if 55% of
the assets of our operating partnership consist of, and at least 55% of the income of our operating
partnership is derived from, majority owned subsidiaries that rely on- Section: 3(c)(5)(C).

To maintain compliance with the Investment Company Act, our subsidiaries may be unable to sell
assets we would otherwise want them to sell and may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish them
to retain. In addition, our subsidiaries may have to acquire additional assets that they might not
otherwise have acquired or may have to forego opportunities to make investments that we would
otherwise want them to make and would be important to our investment strategy. Moreover, SEC staff
interpretations with respect to various types of assets are subject to change, which increases the risk of
non-compliance and the risk that we may be forced to make adverse changes to our portfolio.

If we were required to register as an investment company but farled to do so, we would be
prohrblted from ‘engaging in our business and criminal and civil ‘actions could be brought against us. In
addition, our contracts would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement and a court could
appoint a receiver to take control of us and 11qu1date our business.

Rapid changes in the values of. potentlal mvestments in CMBS or other real estate-related investments may
make. it more difficult for us to maintain our qualtﬁcatton as a REIT or exception from the Investment
Company Act. o

If the market value or income potential of our real estate-related investments, including potential
investments in CMBS, declines as a result of increased interest rates, prepayment rates ot other factors,
we may need to increase our real estate investments and income and/or liquidate our non-qualifying
assets in order to maintain our REIT qualification or our exception from registration under the
Investment Company Act. If the decline in real estate asset values and/or income occurs quickly, this
may. be especially-difficult to-accomplish. This difficulty may be exacerbated by the illiquid nature of
any non-real estate assets that we may own. We may have to make investment decisions that we:
otherwise would not make absent REIT and Investment Company Act considerations.,

Stockholders have ltmlted control over changes in our poltczes and operatwns

Our board of directors determines our major policies, 1nclud1ng our policies regardmg frnancmg,
growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification and distributions. Our board of directors may amend or
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revise these and other policies without a vote of the stockholders. Our charter sets forth the
stockholder voting rights required to be set forth therein under the NASAA REIT Guidelines. Under.
our charter and the Maryland General Corporation Law, our stockholders currently have a right to
vote only on the following matters: '

» the election or removal of directors;

 any amendment of our charter, except that our board of dlrectors may amend our charter
~without stockholder approval to:

¢ change our name;
* increase or decrease the aggregate number of our shares

* increase or dectease the number of our shares of any.class or series that we have the
authority to issue;

* classify or reclassify any unissued shares by setting or changmg the preferences, convers1on
or other rights, restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications or terms and
condltlons of redemptlon of such. shares

* effect reverse stock splits; and

e after the listing of our shares of common stock on a national secur1t1es exchange opting
into any of the prov1srons of Subt1t1e 8 of Title 3 of the Maryland General Corporat1on
Law; .

¢ our hquldatlon and d1ssolut10n and

* our being a party to any merger, consolidation, sale or other dlspos1t1on of substantlally all of
our assets (notwithstanding that Maryland law may not require stockholder approval).

" All otheér matters are subject to the discretion of our board of directors.

Our board of directors may change our investment policies and objectives generally and at the individual
investment level without stockholder approval, which could alter the nature of your investment

Our charter requires that our 1ndependent directors review our 1nvestment pohcles at least
annually to determine that the policies we are following are in the best mterest of the stockholders. In
addition to our investment policies and ob]ectlves we may also change our stated strategy for any
investment in an individual property. These policies may change over time. The methods of
implementing our investment policies may also vary, as new investment techmques are developed Our
investment policies, the methods for their implementation, and our other objectives, policies and
procedures may be altéred by our board of directors without the approval of our stockholders. As a
result, the nature of your investment could change without your consent

You may not be able to sell your shares under the share redemptwn program and, if you are ‘able to sell your
shares under the program, Yyou may not be able to recover the amount of your tnvestment m our shares.

Our board of directors approved ;the share redempt1on program, butmay amend, suspend or
terminate our share redemption program at any time. Our board of directors may reject any request
for redemption of shares. Further, there are many limitations on your ability to sell your shares
pursuant to the share redemption program. Any stockholder requesting repurchase of their shares
pursuant to our share redemption program will be required to certify to us thatsuch stockholder either
(1) acquired the shares requested to be repurchased directly from us or (2) acquired the shares from
the original investor by way of a bona fide gift not for value to, or for the benefit of, a member of the
stockholder’s immediate or extended family, or through a transfer to a custodian, trustee or other
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fiduciary for the account of the'stockholder or his or her immediate or extended family in connection -
with an estate planning.transaction, including by bequest or inheritance upon' death or operation of law-

In addition, our share redemptlon program contains ‘other restrictions and 11m1tatlons ‘We cannot
guarantee that we will accommodate all redemption requests made in any particular redemption period.
If we do not redeem all shares presented for redemption during any period in which we are redeeming
shares, then all shares will be redeemed on a pro rata basis during the relevant period. You must hold
your shares for at least one year prior to seekmg redemption under the share redemptlon program,
except that our board of directors will waive this one-year holding requirement with respect to
redemptions sought upon the death or qualifying disability of a stockholder or redemptions sought
upon a stockholder’s confinement to a long-term care facility. Our board of directors may also waive
this one-year holding requirement for other exigent circumstances affecting a stockholder such as
bankruptcy or a mandatory distribution requirement under a stockholder’s IRA, or with respect to
shares purchased through our distribution reinvestment plan. We will not redeem, during any twelve-
month period, more than 5% of the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the twelve-
month period 1mmed1ate1y prior to the date of redemption. Generally, the cash available for
redemption on any particular date will be limited to the proceeds from our d1str1but10n reinvestment
plan during the period consisting of the preceding four fiscal quarters for which financial statements
are available, less any cash already used for redemptions during the same period, plus, if we had
positive operating cash flow during such preceding four fiscal quarters, 1% of all operating cash flow
during such precedmg four fiscal quarters.

Further, our board of directors reserves the right to reject any request for redemption or to
terminate, suspend, or amend the share redemption program at any time. Therefore, in making a
decision to purchase shares of our common stock, you should not assume that you will be able to sell
any of your shares back to us pursuant to our share redempt1on program. :

If you are able to resell your shares to us pursuant to our share redemptwn program, you wzll hkely receive
substantially less than the amount paid to acquire the shares from us or the fair market value of your shares,
depending upon how long you, owned the shares

Except for redemptions sought upon a stockholder s death or quahfylng d1sab111ty or redemptlons
sought upon a stockholder’s confinement to a long-term care facility, the purchase price per share
redeemed under our share redemption program will equal 90% of (i) the most recently disclosed
estimated value per share as determined in accordance with our valuatlon “policy, less' (ii) the aggregate
distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or more of our assets, or other
special dlstrlbutlons so designated by our board of directors, distributed to stockholders after the '
valuation was determined; provided, however, that the purchase price per share shall not exceed
(1) prior to the first valuation conducted by our board of directors, or a committee thereof (the “Imtlal'
Board Valuation™), under the valuation policy, 90% of (1) the average price per share the original
purchaser or purchasers of shares paid to us for all of his or her shares (as adjusted for any stock
dividends, combinations, splits, recapitalizations and the like with respect to our common stock) less
(ii) the aggregate distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or more of our .
assets, or other special distributions so designated by our board of directors, distributed to stockholders
prior to the redemption date (the “Special Distributions”); or (2).on or after the Initial Board -
Valuation, the average price per share the original purchaser or purchasers of shares paid to us for? all-
of his or her shares (as adjusted for any stock dividends, combinations, splits, recapitalizations and the
like with respect to our common stock) less any Special Distributions. Accordingly, you may receive less
by selling your shares back to us than you would receive if our investments were sold for thelr
estimated Values and such proceeds were dlstrlbuted m our liquidation. :
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We may not successfully implement our exit strategy, in which case you may have to hold your investment for
an indefinite period.

" Depending upon then prevailing market conditions, it-is our intention to consider beginning the
process.of liquidating our assets and distributing -the net proceeds to our stockholders within three to
six years after the termination of the Offering. If we do not begin an orderly liquidation within that
period, we may seek to have our shares listed on a national securities-exchange. If we do not begin the
process of liquidating or listing our shares within this time period, our charter requires that we hold a :
stockholders meeting to vote on a proposal for our orderly liquidation unless a majority of our board
of directors and a majority of our independent directors vote to.defer such a meeting beyond the s1xth ‘
anniversary of the termination of the Offering. R

Market conditions and other factors could cause us to delay the commencement of our liquidation
or to delay the listing of our shares on a national securities exchange beyond six years from the
termination of the Offering. If so, our board of directors and our independent directors may conclude
that it is not in our best interest to hold a stockholders meeting for the purpose of voting on a
proposal for our orderly liquidation: Our charter permits our board of directors, with the concurrence
of a majority..of our independent directors, to defer such a stockholder vote indefinitely. Therefore, if.
we are not'successful in implementing our exit strategy, your shares will continue to: be illiquid and you
may, for an indefinite period of time, be unable to convert your investment into cash easﬂy with
minimum loss. :

We established the offering price for the shares on an arbztrary basis; as a result the oﬁermg price of the
shares is not related to any mdependent valuation.

Our board of directors arbitrarily set the offering price of our shares of common stock for this
offering, and this price bears no relationship to the book or net value of our assets or to our expected
operating income. We adopted a valuation policy in respect of estlmatlng the per share value of our
common stock. Until 18 months have passed without a sale in an offermg of our common stock (or
other securities from which our board of directors beheves the value of a share of common stock can
be estimated), not including any offering related to a distribution reinvestment plan, employee'beneﬁt
plan or the redemption of interests in our operating partnershlp, we generally will use the gross
offering price of a share of the common stock in our most recent offering as the per share estlmated
value thereof or, with respect to an offering of other securities from which the value of a share of
common stock can be estimated, the value derived from the gross offering price of the other security as
the per share estimated value of the common stock. This estimated value is not likely to reflect the
proceeds you would receive upon our 11qu1dat10n or upon the sale of your shares. In addition, this per_
share valuation method is not designed to arrive at a valuation that i is related to any individual or
aggregated value estimates or appraisals of the value of our assets.

Because the dealer manager is an affiliate of our advi&ofj investors will not have the benefit of an independent'_
review of us, which is customarily performed in underwritten offerings.

" The dealer manager, Behringer Securities, is an affiliate of our advisor and will not make an
mdependent review of us or the Offering. Accordingly, you do not have the benefit of an independent
review of the terms of the Offering. Further, the due dlhgence investigation of us by the dealer
manager cannot be considered to be an independent review and, therefore, may not be as meaningful
as a review conducted by an unaffiliated broker-dealer or investment banker.
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We may incur costs associated with changing our name if we are no longer permitted to use “Behringer
Harvard” in our name. -

-We have entered into a license agreement with Behringer Harvard Holdings for use of the name
“Behringer Harvard.” Pursuant to the agreement, when an-affiliate of Behringer Harvard Holdings:no -
longer serves as one of our officers or directors, Behringer Harvard Holdings may terminate our license
agreement and may require us to change our name to eliminate the use of the words “Behringer
Harvard.” We will be required to pay any costs associated with changing our name.

Your interest in Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II will be dtluted zf we-or Behringer Harvard
Opportunity OP II issues additional securities.

Stockholders do not have preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future. Our charter
currently has authorized 400,001,000 shares of capital stock; of which 350,000,000 shares are designated
as common stock, 1,000 sharés are designated as convertible. stock and 50,000,000 are designated as
preferred stock. Subject to any limitations set forth under Maryland law, our board of directors may
amend our charter to increase the number of authorized shares of capital stock, increase or decrease -
the number of shares of any class or series of stock designated, and may classify or reclassify any
unissued shares without the necessity of obtaining stockholder approval. Shares will be issued in the
discretion of our board of directors. Stockholders will likely experience dilution of their equity:
investment in us in the event that we: (1) sell shares in the Offering or sell additional shares in the
future, including those issued pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan, (2) sell securities that are
convertible into shares of our common stock, (3) issue shares of our.common stock in a private offering
of securities to institutional investors, (4) issue shares of common stock upon the conversion of our
convertible stock, (5) issue shares of common stock upon the exercise of any options granted to our
independent directors or employees of our advisor and BHO II Management, our management
company and an affiliate of our advisor, or their affiliates, (6) issue shares to our advisor, its SuCCessors
or assigns, in payment of an outstanding fee obligation as set forth under our adv1sory management
agreement, or (7) issue shares of our common stock to sellers of properties acquired by us in '
connection with an exchange of limited partnership interests of Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP IL
In addition, the partnership agreement for Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II contains provisions
that allow, under certain circumstances, other entities, including other Behringer Harvard sponsored
programs, to merge into or cause the exchange or conversion of their interest for interests of Behringer
Harvard Opportunity OP II. Because the limited partnership interests of Behringer Harvard
Opportunity OP IT may be exchanged for shares of our common stock, any merger, exchange or
conversion between Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II and another entity ultimately could result in
the issuance of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, thereby diluting the percentage
ownership interest of other stockholders.

Payment of fees to our advisor and its affiliates will reduce cash available for investment and payment of
distributions. ' - '

Our advisor and its affiliates will perform services for us in connection with, among other things,
the offer and sale of our shares the selection and acquisition of our investments, and the management
and leasing of our properties, the servicing of our mortgage, bridge, mezzanine or other loans, the
administration of our other investments and the disposition of our assets. They will be paid substantlal
fees for these services. These fees will reduce the amount of cash available for 1nvestment or.
distributions to stockholders.

We may be restricted in our ability to replace our property manager under certain circumstances.

Under the terms of our property management agreement, we may terminate the agreement upon
30 days’ notice in the event of, and only in the event of, a showing of misconduct, negligence, or
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malfeasance by the property manager in performing its duties. Our board of directors may find the
performance of our property manager to be unsatisfactory. However, unsatisfactory performance by the
property manager may not constitute “misconduct, negligence, or malfeasance.” As a result, we may be
unable to terminate the property management agreement at the desired time, which may have an
adverse effect on the management and profitability of our properties.

Distributions may be paid from capital and there can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve expected
cash flows necessary to continue to pay initially established distributions or maintain distributions at any
particular level, or that distributions will increase over time.

There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to
stockholders. Distributions generally will be based upon such factors as the amount of cash available or
anticipated to be available, real estate securities, mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans and other
investments, current and projected cash requirements and tax considerations. Because we may receive
income from interest or rents at various times during our fiscal year, distributions paid may not reflect
our income earned in that particular distribution period. The amount of cash available for distributions
will be affected by many factors, such as our ability to buy properties as offering proceeds become
available, the income from those properties and mortgages and yields on securities of other real estate
programs that we invest in, and our operating expense levels, as well as many other variables. Actual
cash available for distributions may vary substantially from estimates. We can give no assurance that we
will be able to achieve our anticipated cash flow or that distributions will increase over time. Nor can
we give any assurance that rents from the properties will increase, that the securities we buy will
increase in value or provide constant or increased distributions over time, that loans we make will be
repaid or paid on time, or that future acquisitions of real properties, mortgage, bridge or mezzanine
loans or our investments in securities will increase our cash- available for distributions to stockholders.
Our actual results may differ significantly from the assumptions used by our board of directors in
establishing the distribution rates to stockholders.

Many of the factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders
are beyond our control, and a change in any one factor could adversely affect our ability to pay future
distributions. For instance:

* If one or more tenants defaults or terminates its lease, there could be a decrease or cessation of
rental payments, which would mean less cash available for distributions.

* Any failure by a borrower under our mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans to repay the loans or
interest on the loans will reduce our income and distributions to stockholders.

* Cash available for distributions may be reduced if we are required to spend money to correct
defects or to make improvements to properties.

¢ Cash available to make distributions may decrease if the assets we acquire have lower yields
than expected. ‘

~* There may be a delay between the sale of the common stock and our purchase of real
- properties. During that time, we may invest in lower yielding short-term instruments, which
could result in a lower yield on your investment. '

* If we lend money to others, such funds may not be repaid in accordance with the loan terms or
at all, which could reduce cash available for distributions.

¢ Federal income tax laws require REITS to distribute at least 90% of their taxable income to

_ stockholders to maintain REIT status, and 100% of taxable income and net capital gain to avoid
federal income tax. This limits the earnings that we may retain for corporate growth, such as
property acquisition, development or expansion and makes us more dependent upon additional
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debt or equity financing than corporations that are not REIT. If we borrow:more funds in:the. -
~future;. more :of our operating cash will be needed to make debt -payments and cash available for
distributions may therefore decrease. ; ; :

« In connection with future property acquisitions, we may issue additional shares of common
stock, operating partnership units or interests in other entities that own our properties. We
cannot predict the number of shares of common stock, units or interests which we may issue, or.
the effect that these additional shares might have on cash available for distributions to you. If
we issue additional shares, they could reduce the cash available for dlstrlbutlons to you. )

* We make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the dlstrlbutlon requirements of the
Code and to eliminate, or at least minimize, exposure to federal income taxes and the
nondeductible REIT excise tax. Differences in timing between the receipt of income and the
payment of expenses, and the effect of requlred debt payments, could require us to borrow
funds on a short-term basis to meet the distribution requirements that are necessary to achleve
'the tax benefits associated with qualifying as a REIT.

In addltlon our board of directors, in its discretion, may retain any portion of our cash on hand
for working capital. We cannot assure you that sufficient cash will be available to make distributions to
you., - ~ . ,

Until proceeds from the Offering are invested and generating operating cash flow sufficient to. make -
distributions to our stockholders, we have and may continue to make some or all of our distributions from.
sources -other than cash flow from operations, including the proceeds of the Offering, cash advanced to us by
our advisor, cash resulting from a deferral of asset management fees and/or. from borrowings (including .
borrowings secured by our assets) in anticipation of future operating cash flow, which may reduce the amount
of capital we ultimately invest and negatively impact the value of your investment. ;

We expect that cash distributions to our stockholders generally will be paid from cash available or
anticipated from the cash flow from our investments in properties, real estate securities; mortgage;,
bridge or mezzanine loans and other real estate-related assets. However, until proceeds from the -
Offering are invested and generating operating cash flow sufficient to make distributions.to our:: .-
stockholders, we have and may continue to make some or all of our distributions from the proceeds of
the Offering, cash advanced to us by our advisor, cash resulting from a waiver or deferral of asset
management fees and/or from borrowmgs (including borrowings secured by our assets) in anticipation
of future cash flow. In addition, to the extent our investments are in development or redevelopment
projects, or in properties that have significant capital requirements, our ability to make distributions
may be negatively impacted, especially during our early period of operation. Once our development
projects are completed and begin to generate income, we intend to use such increased income to make
distributions to our stockholders. Accordingly, the amount of distributions paid at any time may not
reflect current cash flow from our operations. To the extent distributions are paid from the proceeds of
the Offering (including distributions funded through the issuance of shares pursuant to our distribution
reimbursement program), cash advanced to us by our advisor, cash resulting from a deferral of asset
management fees and/or from borrowings (including borrow1ngs secured by our assets) in anticipation
of future cash flow, we will have less capital available to invest in properties and other real estate-
related assets, which may negatively impact our ability to make investments and substantially reduce
current returns and capital appreciation..In that event, we may not be able to use 91.1% of the gross
proceeds raised in the Offering (89.0% with respect to gross proceeds from our .primary offering and
100% with respect to gross proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan) for investment in real
estate, loans and other investments, paying acquisition fees and expenses incurred in making such
investments and for any capltal reserves we may establish until such tlme as we have sufficient cash
flows from operatlons to fund fully our dlStI‘lbuthIlS
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Development projects in which we invest may not be completed successfully or on time, and guarantors of the
pmJects may not have the financial resources to perform their obltgatwns under the guaranties they provide.

We may make equity 1nvestments in, acqulre options to purchase mterests in or make mezzanine
loans to the owners of real estate development projects. Our return on these investments is dependent
upon the projects being completed successfully, on budget and on time. To help ensure performance by.
the developers of properties that are under construction, completion of these properties is generally
guaranteed either by a completion bond or performance bond. Our advisor may rely upon the
substantial net worth of the contractor or developer or a personal guarantee accompanied by financial -
statements showing a substantial net worth provided by an affiliate of the entity entering into the
construction or development contract as an alternative to a completion bond or performance bond. For
a particular investment, we may obtain guaranties that the project will be completed on'time, on budget
and in -accordance with the plans and specifications- and that the mezzanine loan will be repaid.
However, we may not obtain such guaranties and cannot énsure that the guarantors will have the
financial resources to perform their obligations under the guaranties they provide. We intend to -
manage these risks by ensuring, to the best of our ability, that we invest in projects with reputable;’
experienced and resourceful developers. If we are unable to manage these risks effectively, our results
of operations, financial condition and ability to-make distributions to-you will be adversely affected.

The public programs sponsored by afﬁlzates of our advzsor have expenenced losses in the past and we may
experience similar losses. . ' :

Historically; the public programs sponsored by affiliates of our advisor have experienced losses
during the early periods of their operation. Many of these losses can be attributed to the initial start-up'
costs and operating expenses incurred prior to purchasing properties or making other investments that
generate revenue: In addition, depreciation and amortization expense substantially reduce income. It 'is
likely that we will experience similar losses during the early periods of our operation. As a result, we
cannot assure you that we w111 be profltable or that we will reahze growth in the value of our feal
estate 1nvestments : :

We are uncertain of our sources for ﬁmdmg of future capttal needs, which could adversely ajfect the value of
our investments. :

: Substantlally all of the gross proceeds of the Offermg will be used to make investments in real
estate and real estate-related assets and to pay various fees and expenses related to the Offering. We
will establish capital reserves on a property-by- property basis, as we deem appropriate. In addition to
any reserves we establish, a lender may require escrow of capital reserves in excess of our established
reserves. If these reserves are insufficient to mieet our cash needs, we may have to obtain financing
from either affiliated or unaffiliated sources to fund our cash requirements. Accordingly, in the event
that we develop a need for additional capital in the future for the improvement of our properties or for
any other reason, wé have not identified any sources for such funding, and we cannot assure you that
such sources of funding will be available to us for potential capital needs in the future.

We may suffer adverse conséquences dde,to the ﬁnancial dijﬁculties, bankruptcy or insolnency of .our tenants.

The current economic conditions may cause the tenants in any properties we own to experience
financial d1ff1cu1t1es including bankruptcy, insolvency or a general downturn in their business. We
cannot assure you that any tenant that files for bankruptcy protectlon will continue to pay us rent. A
bankruptcy filing by, or relating to, one of our tenants or a lease guarantor would bar efforts by us to
collect pre-bankruptcy debts from that ‘tenant or lease guarantor, or its property, unless we receive an
order permitting us to do so from the bankruptcy court. In addition; we cannot evict a tenant solely
because of bankruptcy. The bankruptcy of a tenant or lease guarantor could delay our efforts to collect
past due balances under the relevant leases, and could ultimately preclude collection of these sums. If a
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lease is assumed by the tenant in bankruptcy, all pre-bankruptcy balances due under the lease must be
paid to us in full. If, however, a lease is rejected by a tenant in bankruptcy, we would have only a
general, unsecured claim for damages. An unsecured claim would only be paid to the extent that funds
are available and only in the same percentage as is paid to all other holders of general, unsecured
claims. Restrictions under the bankruptcy laws further limit the amount of any other claims that we can
make if a lease is rejected. As a result, it is likely that we would recover substantially less than the full
value of the remaining rent during the term.

The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have avatlable to
pay distributions and make additional investments.

We have diversified our cash and cash equivalents between several banking institutions in an
attempt to minimize exposure to any one of these entities. However, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, or “FDIC,” only insures limited amounts per depositor per insured bank. At
December 31, 2009, we had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial
institutions in excess of federally insured levels. If any of the banking institutions in which we have
deposited funds. ultimately fails, we may lose our deposits over the federally insured levels. The loss of
our deposits could reduce the amount of cash we have available to distribute or invest and could result
in a decline in the value of your investment.

Recent market disruptions may adversely impact aspects of our operating results and operating condition.

The global financial markets have undergone pervasive and fundamental disruptions. The
disruption has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on the availability of credit to
businesses, generally, and has resulted in and could lead to further weakening of the U.S. and global
economies. Our business may be affected by market and economic challenges experienced by the U.S.
economy or real estate industry as a whole or by the local economic conditions in the markets.in which
our properties are focated, including the current dislocations in the credit markets and general global
economic recession. Availability of debt financing secured by commercial real estate has declined, as a
result of tightened underwriting standards. These conditions have and may continue to materially affect
the value of our investment properties, and may affect our ability to pay distributions, the availability or
the terms of financing that we have or may anticipate utilizing, and our ability to make principal and
interest payments on, or refinance, any outstanding debt when due. These challenging economic
conditions may also impact the ability of certain of our tenants to enter into new leasing transactions or
satisfy rental payments under existing leases. Specifically, the current conditions, or similar condltlons
existing in the future, may have the following consequences:

« the financial condition of our tenants may be adversely affected, which result in us having to
increase concessions, reduce rental rates or make cap1ta1 improvements beyond those
contemplated at the time we acquired the properties in order to maintain occupancy levels or to
negotiate for reduced space needs, which results in a decrease -in our occupancy levels; :

« an increase in the number of bankruptcies or insolvency proceedings of our tenants and lease
guarantors, which could delay our efforts to collect rent and any past due balances under the
relevant leases and ultimately could preclude collection of these sums;

~* significant job losses in the financial and professional services industries have occurred and may
continue to occur, which may decrease demand for our office space and result in lower
occupancy levels, which will result in decreased revenues and which could diminish the value of
our properties, which depend in part, upon the cash flow generated by our properties;

* credit spreads for major sources of capital may continue to widen as stockholders demand higher
risk premiums, resulting in lenders increasing the cost for debt financing;
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* our ability to borrow on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, or at all, may be limited,
which could result in our investment operations generating lower overall economic returns and a
reduced level of cash flow, which could potentially impact our ability to make distributions to -
our stockholders at current levels, reduce our ability to pursue acquisition opportunities if any,
and increase our interest expense;

* a further reduction in the amount of capital that is available to finance real estate, which, in
turn, could lead to a decline in real estate values generally, slow real estate transaction activity,
reduce the loan to value ratio upon which lenders are willing to lend, and result in difficulty
refinancing our debt; '

» the value of certain of our properties have likely decreased below the amounts we paid for them,
which may limit our ability to dispose of assets at attractive prices or to obtain debt financing
secured by our properties and may reduce the availability of unsecured loans;

* the value and liquidity of our short-term investments could be reduced as a result of the
dislocation of the-markets for our short-term investments and increased volatlhty in market rates
for such investments or other factors; and

« one or more countéerparties to our derivative financial instruments could default on their
obligations to us, or could fail, increasing the risk that we may not realize the benefits of these
instruments. '

Further, in light of the current economic conditions, we cannot provide assurance that we will be
able to sustain the current level of our distributions. If the conditions continue, our board may reduce
or cease our distributions-in order to conserve cash.

To hedge against exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations, we may use derivative financial instruments that
may be costly and ineffective and may reduce the overall returns on your investinent and affect cash avatlable
for distribution to our stockholders. : :

We may use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in exchange rates and
interest rates on loans secured by our assets and investments in collateralized mortgage-backed
securities. Derivative instruments may include interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap or floor
contracts, futures or forward contracts, options or repurchase agreements. Our actual hedging decisions
will be determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of the hedge and may
differ from time to time. Our hedging may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because, among
other things:

_* interest rate hedging can be expensiVe, parﬁcuiarly during periods of rising and volatile interest
rates;

* available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for Wh1ch
protection is sought;

‘« the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability or asset;

* the amount of income that a REIT may earn from hedging transactions to offset interest rate
losses is limited by federal tax provisions governing REITS;

* the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be dewngraded to such an extent
that it impairs our ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transaction; ‘

» the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay; and

 we may purchase a hedge that turns out not to be necessary, i.e., a hedge that is out of the
money. »
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Any hedging activity we engage in may adversely affect our earnings, which could adversely affect
cash available for distribution to our stockholders. Therefore, while we may enter into such transactions
to seek to reduce interest rate risks, unanticipated changes. in interest rates may result in poorer overall
investment performance than if we had not engaged in any such hedging transactions. In addition, the
degree of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in a hedging strategy and price
movements in the portfolio positions being hedged or liabilities being hedged may vary materially.
Moreover, for a variety of reasons, we may not seek to establish a perfect correlation between such
hedging instruments and the portfolio holdings being hedged. Any such imperfect correlation may
prevent us from achieving the intended accounting treatment and may expose us to risk of loss;

To the extent that we use derivative financial instruments to hedge against exchange rate and
interest rate fluctuations, we will be exposed to credit risk, basis risk and legal enforceability risks. In
this context, credit risk is the failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative
contract. If the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes us, which creates
credit risk for us. We intend to manage credit risk by dealing only with major financial institutions that
have high credit ratings. Basis risk occurs when the index upon which. the contract is based is more or
less variable than the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based, thereby making the hedge
less effective. We intend to manage basis risk by matching, to a reasonable extent, the contract index to
the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based. Finally, legal enforceability risks encompass
general contractual risks, including the risk that the counterparty will breach the terms of, or fail to
perform its obligations under, the derivative contract. We intend to manage legal enforceability risks by
ensuring, to the best of our ability, that we contract with reputable counterparties and that each -
counterparty complies with the terms and conditions of the derivative contract. If we are unable to.
manage these risks effectively, our results of operations, financial condition and ability to make -
distributions to you will be adversely affected.

Hedging instruments often are not traded on regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or ltS clearmg
house, or regulated by any U.S. or foreign governmental authorities and involve risks and costs. .-

The cost of using hedging instruments increases as the period covered by the instrument increases
and during periods of rising and volatile interest rates. We may increase our hedging activity and thus -
increase our hedging costs during.periods when interest rates are volatile or rising and hedging costs
have increased. In addition, hedging instruments involve risk since they often are not traded on
regulated exchanges, guaranteed by an exchange or its clearing house, or regulated by any U.S. or
foreign governmental authorities. Consequently, there are no requirements with respect to record
keeping, financial responsibility or segregation of customer funds and positions. Furthermore, the
enforceability of agreements underlying derivative transactions may depend on compliance with
applicable statutory, commodity and other regulatory requirements and, depending on the identity of
the counterparty, applicable international requirements. The business failure of a hedging counterparty
with-whom we enter into a hedging transaction will most likely result in a default. Default by a party
with whom we enter into a hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and force us
to cover our resale commitments, if any, at the then current market price. Although generally we will
seek to reserve the right to terminate our hedging positions, it may not always be possible to dispose of
or close out a hedging position without the consent of the hedging counterparty, and we may not be
able to enter into an offsetting contract in order to cover our risk. We cannot be certain that a liquid
secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold, and we may be requlred to
maintain a position until exercise or expiration, which could result in losses.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively.

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations. Under
these provisions, any income that we generate from transactions intended to hedge our interest rate,
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inflation and/or currency risks will be excluded from gross income for:purposes of the REIT 75.0% and
95.0% gross income tests if the instrument hedges (1) interest rate risk on liabilities incurred to carry -
or acquire real estate or (2) risk of currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain
that would be qualifying income under the REIT 75.0% or 95.0% gross income tests, and such
instrument is properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulatlons Income from hedging
transactions that do not meet these requirements will generally constitute nonqualifying income for
purposes of both the REIT 75.0% and 95.0% gross inicome tests: As a‘result of these rules, we may
have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous, which could result

in greater risks associated with interest rate or other changes than we would otherw1se incur.

4

General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Our opportunistic property-acquisition strategy involves a higher risk of loss -than more conservative
investment strategies.

Our strategy for acquiring properties may involve the acquisition of properties in markets that are
depressed or overbuilt, and/or have high growth potential in real estate lease rates and sale prices. As a
result-of our investment ih these types of markets, we will face.increased risks relating to changes in
local market conditions and increased competition for similar properties in the same market, as well as
increased risks that these markets will not recover and the value of our properties in these markets will
not increase, or will decrease, over time. For these and other reasons, we ‘cannot- assure you that we
will be profitable or that we will realize growth in the value of our real estate properties, and as a
result, our ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be affected. Our intended approach
to acquiring and operating 1ncome-producmg properties involves more risk than comparable real estate
programs that have a targeted holding period for investments that is longer than ours, utilize leverage
to a lesser degree and/or employ more conservatlve 1nvestment strategles

Our revenue and net income may vary szgmﬁcantly from one penod to another due to mvestments in
opponumty-orzented properties and Dportfolio acquisitions, whtch could increase the varlablltty of our cash
available for dtstnbuttons

Our opportunistic property-acqursrtron strategy w111 include investments in propertles in various
phases of development, redevelopment or repositioning and portfolio acquisitions, which may cause our
revenues and net income to fluctuate significantly from one period to another. Projects do not produce
revenue while in development or redevelopinent. During any: period when our projects in development
or redevelopment or those with significant capital requirements increase without a corresponding -
increase in stable revenue-producing properties, our revenues and net income will likely decrease. Many
factors ~may have a negative impact on the level of revenues or net’ mcome produced by our portfolio of
properties and projects, including hlgher than expected construction costs, failure to complete projects
on a timely basis, failure of the properties to perform at expected levels upon completion of
development or redevelopment, and increased borrowings necessary to fund higher than expected
construction or other costs related to the project. Further, our net income and shareholders equity
could be negatively affected durmg periods with large portfolio acquisitions, which generally require
large cash outlays and may require the incurrence of additional financing. Any such reduction in our
revenues and net income during such periods could cause a resultlng decrease in our cash available for
distributions during the same perlods : ; ; , :
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Our operating results will be affected by economic and regulatory changes that have an adverse impact on the
real estate market in general; and we cannot assure you that we will be proﬁtable or that we will realize
growth in the value of our real estate properties. :

Our operating results will be subject to risks generally incident to the ownership of teal estate,
including:

* changes in general economic or local conditions;
* changes i in supply of or demand for similar or competing propert1es in an area;

* changes in interest rates and availability of permanent mortgage funds that may render the sale
of a property difficult or unattractive;

* the illiquidity of real estate investments generally;
. changes in tax, real estate, environmental and zoning laws; and
. perlods of hlgh interest rates and tlght money supply.

For. these and other reasons, we cannot assure you that we e will be proﬁtable Or: that we will reallze
growth in the value of our real estate propertles : :

If we have limited diversification of the geographw locations of our properties, our operating results will be
affected by economic changes that have an adverse impact on the real estate market in those areas.

The properties acquired by certain other Behringer Harvard sponsored programs that have
investment objectrves similar to ours generally have been located in the southwest United States, and
more specifically, in the Dallas, Texas metropohtan area. Based upon the anticipated holding period of
our propertres the current real estate market in the Dallas, Texas metropohtan area, and the
experience of our advisor and its affiliates with the real estate market in this geographic area, we
anticipate that a number of our future property acquisitions may be located i in this geographic area. In
the event that most of our properties are located in a single geographlc area, our operating results and
ability to make distributions are likely to be impacted by economic changes affecting the real estate
markets.in that area. Your investment will be subject to greater risk to the extent that we lack a
geographically diversified portfolio of properties.

Properttes that have Stgmﬁczmt vacancies could be difficult to sell, which could diminish the return on yaur
investment.

A property may incur vacancies either by the continued default of tenants under their leases or the
expiration of tenant leases. If vacancies continue for a long period of time, we may suffer reduced
revenues resulting in decreased distributions to stockholders. In addition, the value of the property
could be diminished because the market value of a particular property will depend principally upon the
value of the leases of such property

Many of our mvestments will be depemient on tenants for revenue, and lease terminations could reduce our
ability to make dtstrzbutzons to stockholders

The success of our real property investments often will be materially dependent on the financial
stability of our tenants. Lease payment defaults by tenants could cause us to reduce the amount of
distributions to stockholders. A default by a significant tenant on its lease payments to us would cause
us to lose the revenue associated with such lease and cause us to have to find an alternative source of
revenue to meet mortgage payments and prevent a foreclosure if the property is subject to a mortgage.
In the event of a tenant default, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may
incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-letting our property. If significant leases are
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terminated, we cannot assure you that we will be able to lease the property for the rent previously-
received or sell the property without incurring a loss. Additionally, loans that we make generally will
relate to real estate. As a result, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan may be dependent on the
financial stability of the tenants leasing the related real estate.

We may be unable to secure funds for future tenant improvements, which could adversely impact our ability to
make cash distributions to our stockholders.

When tenants do not renew their leases or otherwise vacate their space, in order to attract
replacement tenants; we will be required to expend substantial funds for tenant improvements and
tenant refurbishments to the vacated space. If we have insufficient capital reserves, we will have to
obtain financing from other sources. We intend to establish capital reserves on a property-by- property
basis, as we deem necessary. In addition to any reserves we establish, a lender may require escrow of
capital reserves in excess of our established reserves. If these reserves or any reserves otherwise
established are designated for other uses or are insufficient to meet our cash needs, we may have to
obtain financing from either affiliated or unaffiliated sources to:fund our cash requirements. We cannot
assure you that sufficient financing will be available or, if available, will be available on economically
feasible terms or on terms acceptable to us. Moreover, certain reserves requrred by lenders may be
designated for specific uses and may not be available for capital purposes suchas future tenant
improvements. Additional borrowing for capital purposes will increase our interest expense, and
therefore our financial condition and our ability to make cash distributions to our stockholders may be
adversely affected.
We may be unable to sell a property if or when we decide to do so, whtch could adversely impact our ability to
make cash distributions to our stockholders. ; ,

We intend to hold the various real properties in which we invest until such time as our advisor
determines that a sale or other disposition appears to be advantageous to achieve our investment .
objectives or until it appears that such ob]ectrves will not be met. Otherwrse our advisor, subject to’
approval of our board of directors, may exercise its discretion as to whether and when to sell a
property, and we will have no obligation to sell properties at any partlcular time, except upon our
liquidation. If we do not begm the process of liquidating our assets or llstmg our shares within six years
of the termination of this primary offering, our charter requires that we hold a stockholders meeting to
vote on a proposal for our orderly liquidation unless a majority of our board of directors and a
majority of our independent directors vote to defer such a meeting beyond the sixth anniversary of the
termination of the Offering. The real estate market is affected, as d1scussed above, by many factors,
such as general economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other factors, including
supply and demand, that are beyond our control. We cannot pred1ct whether we will be able to sell any
asset for the price or on the terms set by us, or whether any price or other terms offered by a
prospective purchaser would be acceptable to us. We cannot predict the length of time needed to find a
willing purchaser and to close the sale of an asset. If we are unable to sell an asset when we determme
to do so, 1t could have a significant adverse effect on our cash flow and results of operations. .

Our co-venture partners, co-tenants or other partners in co-ownershlp arrangements could take actions that
decrease the value of an investment to us and lower your overall return.

We may enter into joint ventures, tenant-in-common 1nvestments or other co- ownersh1p
arrangements with other Behringer Harvard programs or third parties having investment objectives
similar to ours for the acquisition, development or improvement of properties as well as the acquisition
of real estate-related investments. We may also purchase and develop properties in joint ventures or in
partnerships, co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements with the sellers of the properties,
affiliates of the sellers developers or other persons.
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Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present with other forms of real estate
investment, including, for example: g - '

« the possibility that our co-venturer, co-tenant or partner in an investment might become
bankrupt; 7 ' ‘ N

« the possibility that a co-venturer, co-tenant or partner in an.investment might breach a loan
agreement or other agreement or otherwise, by action or inaction, act in a way detrimental to us.
or the investment;

« that such co-venturer, co-tenant or partner may at any time have economic or business interests: .
or goals that are or that become inconsistent with our business interests or goals; -

* the possi_bi‘l”itybvt.hat we may incur liabilities as the result of the action taken by our par'gﬁer or
co-investor; or , o o ’

« that such co-venturer, co-tenant.or partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our

~ instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives, including our policy with
respect to qualifying and' maintaining our qualification as a REIT.

Any of the above might subject a property to. 'ﬁébilit‘ies’ in excess of those contemplated and thus
reduce our returns on that investment. B ' '

Uninsured losses relating to real property or excessively expensive premiums for insurance coverage may
adversely affect your returns.

Our advisor will attempt to ensure that all of our properties are adequately insured to. cover
casualty losses. The nature of the activities at certain properties we may acquire will expose us. and our,
operators to potential liability for personal injuries and, in certain instances, such as with marinas,
property damage claims. For instance, marina business activities are customarily subject to various
hazards, including gasoline or other fuel spills, fires, d'roWn‘ing‘s and other water-related accidents, V'boat‘
storage rack collapses and other dangers relatively common in the marina industry. In addition, there
are types of losses, generally catastrophic in nature, stich as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism,
earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, ‘pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not
economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or
co-payments. Insurance risks associated with potential terrorist acts could sharply increase the
premiums we pay for coverage agaiﬁs_t property and casualty claims. Mortgage lenders generally insist
that specific coverage against'terr_orism"_be purchased by commercial property owners as a condition for
providing mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans. It is uncertain whether such insurance policies will be -
available, or available at reasori_able cost, which ‘c;b‘uld‘,’inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our
properties. In such instances, we ‘may be required to provide other financial support, either through '
financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential losses. We cannot assure you that we will have
adequate coverage for such losses. In the event that any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is
not fully covered by insurance, the value of our assets will be reduced by the amount of any such
uninsured loss. In addition, other than the ‘capital reserve or other reserves we may establish, we have
no source of funding to repair or reconstruct any uninsured damaged property, and we cannot assure
you that any such sources of funding will be available to us for such purposes in the future. Also, to the
extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for insurance, we could suffer reduced earnings that
would result in decreased distributions to.stockholders. :

Our operating results may be negatively affected by potential development and construction delays and result
in increased costs and risks, which could diminish the return on your investment. ‘

We may invest some or all of the "pr‘oceeds available for investment in the acquisition, development
and/or redevelopment of properties upon which we will develop and construct improvements. We could
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incur substantial capital obligations in connection with these types of investments. We will be subject to
risks relating to uncertainties associated with rezoning for development and environmental concerns of
governmental entities and/or community groups and our builder’s ability to control construction costs or
to build in conformity with plans, specifications and timetables. The builder’s failure to perform may
necessitate legal action by us to rescind the purchase or the construction contract or to compel
performance. Performance may also be affected or delayed by conditions beyond the builder’s control.
Delays in completion of construction could also give tenants the right to terminate preconstruction
leases for space at a newly developed project. We may incur additional risks when we make periodic
progress payments or other advances to such builders prior to completion of construction. These and
other such factors can result in increased costs of a project or loss of our investment. Substantial
capital obligations could delay our ability to make distributions. In addition, we will be subject to
normal lease-up risks relating to newly constructed projects. Furthermore, we must rely upon
projections of rental income and expenses and estimates of the fair market value of property upon
completion of construction when agreeing upon a price to be paid for the property at the time of
acquisition of the property. If our projections are inaccurate, we may pay too much for a property, and
the return on our investment could suffer.

In addition, we may invest in unimproved real property. Returns from development of unimproved
properties are also subject to risks and uncertainties associated with rezoning the land for development
and environmental concerns of governmental entities and/or community groups. Although our intention
is to limit any investment in unimproved property to property we intend to develop, your investment
nevertheless is sub]ect to the risks associated with investments in unimproved real property.

If we contract with Behringer Development Company LP or its affiliates for newly developed property, we
cannot guarantee that any earnest money depos:t we make to Behrmger Development Company LP or its
affiliates will be fully refunded.

We may enter into one or more contracts, either directly or indirectly through joint ventures,
tenant-in-common investments or other co-ownership arrangements with affiliates of our advisor or
others, to acquire real property from Behringer Development Company LP (Behringer Development),
an affiliate of our advisor. Properties acquired from Behringer Development or its affiliates may be
existing income- producmg properties, properties to be developed or properties under development. We
anticipate that we will be oobligated to pay a substantial earnest money deposit at the time of
contracting to acquire such properties. In the case of properties to be developed by Behringer
Development or its affiliates, we anticipate that we will be required to close the purchase of the
property upon completion of the development of the property by Behringer Development or its
affiliates. At the time of contracting and the payment of the earnest money deposit by us, Behringer
Development or its affiliates typlcally will not have acquired title to any real property. Typically,
Behringer Development or its affiliates will only have a contract to acquire land a development
agreement to develop a building on the land and an agreement with one or more tenants to lease all or
part of the property upon its completion. We may enter into such a contract with Behringer
Development or its affiliates even if at the time of contracting we have not yet raised sufficient
proceeds in the Offering to enable us to close the purchase of such property. However, we will not be
required to close a purchase from Behringer Development or its affiliates, and will be entitled to a
refund of our earnest money, in the following circumstances:

. Behringer Development or its affiliates fails ‘to develop the property;'

¢ all or a specified portion of the pre- leased tenants fail to take possessmn under their leases for
' any reason; or- v

* we are unable to raise sufficient proceeds from the vOffering, to pay the purchase price at closing.
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The obligation of Behringer Development or its affiliates to refund our earnest money will be -
unsecured, and no -assurance can be made that we would be able to obtain a refund. of such earnest -
money deposit from it under these circumstances since Behringer Development is an entity without
substantial assets or operations.

Competition with third parties in acquiring properties and other assets may reduce our profitability and the
return on your investment.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including
individuals, corporations, bank and insurance company investment accounts, other REITS, real estate
limited partnerships, and other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, many of which have
greater resources than we will. Larger real estate programs may enjoy significant competitive
advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating
efficiencies. In addition, the number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable
properties may increase. Any such increase would result in increased demand for these assets and
therefore increased prices paid for them. If we pay hlgher prices for properties and other mvestments,
our profitability will be reduced and you may experience a lowet return on your investment.

A concentration of our investments in any one property class may leave our proﬁtabzhty vulnerable to a
downturn in such sector.

At any one time, a significant portion of our investments could be in one property class. As a
result, we will be subject to risks inherent in investments in a single type of property. If our investments
are substantially in one property class, then the potential effects on our revenues, and as a result, on
cash available for distribution to our stockholders, resulting from a downturn in the businesses
conducted in those types of properties could be more pronounced than if we had more fully d1ver51f1ed
our investments.

Failure to succeed in new markets or in new property classes may have adverse consequences on our
performance. - '

We may from time to time commence development activity or make acquisitions outside of our
existing market areas or the property classes of our primary focus if appropriate opportunities arise.
Our historical experience in our existing markets in developing, owning and operating certain classes of
property does not ensure that we will be able to operate successfully in new markets, should we choose.
to enter them, or that we will be successful in new property classes. We may be exposed to a variety of
risks if we choose to enter new markets, including an inability to evaluate accurately local market
conditions, to obtain land for development or to identify appropriate acquisition opportunities, to hire
and retain key personnel, and a lack of familiarity with local governmental and permitting procedures.
In addition, we may abandon opportunities to enter new markets or acquire new classes of property
that we have begun to explore for any reason and may, as a result, fail to recover expenses already
incurred.

Acquiring or attempting to acquire multiple properttes in a single transaction may adversely affect our :
operations.

From time to time, we may attempt to acquire multiple properties in a single transaction. Portfolio
acquisitions are more complex and expensive than single property acquisitions, and the risk that a
multiple-property acquisition does not close may be greater than in a single-property acquisition.
Portfolio acquisitions may also result in us owning investments in geographically dispersed markets,
placing additional demands on our ability to. manage the properties in the portfolio. In addition, a
seller may require that a group of properties be purchased as a package even though we may not want
to purchase one or more properties in the portfolio. In these situations, if we are unable to identify
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another person or entity to acquire the unwanted properties, we may be required to operate or attempt
to dispose of these properties. To acquire multiple properties in a single transaction we may be
required to accumulate a large amount of cash. We would expect the returns that we earn on such cash
to be less than the ultimate returns in real property and therefore, accumulating such cash could
reduce the funds available for distributions. Any of the foregoing events may have an adverse effect on
our operations. ' ’ -

If we set aside insufficient capital reserves, we may be required to defer necessary capital improvements.

If we do not have enough reserves for capital to supply needed funds for capital improvements *
throughout the life of the investment in a property and there is insufficient cash available from our
operations, we may be required to defer necessary improvements to the property, which may cause the
property to suffer from a greater risk of obsolescence or a decline in value, or a greater risk of
decreased cash flow as a result of fewer potential tenants being attracted to the property. If this
happens, we may not be able to maintain projected rental rates for affected properties, and our results
of operations may be negatively impacted.

Any student-housing properties that we acquire will be subject to an annual leasing cycle, short lease-up
period, seasonal cash flows, changing university admission and housing policies, and other risks inherent in
the student-housing industry, any of which could have a negative impact on your investment.

Student-housing properties generally have short-term leases of 12 months, ten months, nine
months, or shorter. As a result, we may experience significantly reduced cash flows during the summer
months from student-housing properties while most students are on vacation. Furthermore, student-
housing properties must be almost entirely re-leased each year, exposing us to increased leasing risk.
Student-housing properties are also typically leased during a limited leasing season that usually begins
in January and ends in August of each year. We would, therefore, be highly dependent on the
effectiveness of our marketing and leasing efforts and personnel during this season.

Changes in university admission policies could also adversely affect us. For example, if a university
reduces the number of student admissions or requires that a certain class of students, such as freshman,
live in a university-owned facility, the demand for units at our student-housing properties may be -
reduced and our occupancy rates may decline. We rely on our relationships with colleges and
universities for referrals of prospective student residents or for mailing lists of prospective student
residents and their parents. Many of these colleges and universities own and operate their own .
competing on-campus facilities. Any failure to maintain good relationships with these colleges and
universities could therefore have a material adverse effect on our ability to market our properties to
students and their families. ' '

- Federal and state laws require colleges to publish and distribute reports of on-campus crime
statistics, which may result in negative publicity and media coverage associated with crimes ocetirring on
or in the vicinity of any student-housing properties. Reports of crime or other negative publicity
regarding the safety of the students residing on, or near, our student-housing properties may have an
adverse effect on our business.

We may face significant competition from university-owned student housing and Jfrom other residential
properties that are in close proximity to any student-housing properties we may acquire, which could haye a
negative impact on our results of operations.

On-campus student housing has certain inherent advantages over off-campus student housing in
terms of physical proximity to the university campus and integration of on-campus facilities into the
academic community. Colleges and universities can generally avoid real estate taxes and borrow funds
at lower interest rates than us.

37



We. may invest in apartment communities and short-term apartment leases which may expose us to the effects.
of declining market rent, which could adversely impact our ability to make cash distributions to our . :
stockholders. ) ‘ . \

We expect that substantially all of our apartment leases will be for a term of one year or less.
Because these leases generally permit the residents to leave at the end of the lease term without
penalty, our rental revenues may be impacted by declines in market rents more quickly than if our
leases were for longer terms.

To the extent we invest in apartment communities, we will face competition from other apartment communities
and the increased affordability of single-family homes, which may limit our profitability and returns to our .
stockholders. : — : :

Any apartment communities we may acquire will most likely compete with numerous housing -
alternatives in attracting residents, including other apartment communities and single-family homes, as
well as owner-occupied single- and multifamily homes available to rent. Competitive housing ina
particular area and the increasing affordability of owner occupied single- and multifamily homes -
available to rent or buy caused by declining mortgage interest rates and government programs to
promote home ownership could adversely affect our ability to retain our residents, lease apartment
units and increase or maintain rental rates. - " s " '

Moreover, the residential apartment community industry is highly competitive. This competition
could reduce occupancy levels and revenues at our apartment communities, which would adversely
affect our operations. We expect to face competition from many sources, including from other o
apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and the broader geographic market where our
apartment communities will be located. Overbuilding of apartment communities may occur. If so, this
will increase the number of apartment units available and may decrease occupancy and apartment
rental rates. In addition, increases in operating costs due to inflation may not be offset by increased
apartment rental rates. We may be required to expend substantial sums to attract new residents.

In connection with the recent and ongoing global economic concerns, to the extent we invest in apartinent - -
communities, we may face increased competition from single-family homes and condominiums for rent, which
could limit our- ability to retain residents, lease apartment units or increase or maintain rents.

Any apartment communities we may invest in may compete with numerous housing alternatives in
attracting residents, including single-family homes and condominiums available for rent. Such "
competitive housing alternatives may become more prevalent in a particular area because of the
tightening of mortgage lending underwriting criteria, homeowner foreclosures, the decline in single-
family home and condominium sales and the lack of available credit. The number of ‘single-family -
homes and condominiums for rent in a particular area could limit our ability to retain residents, lease
apartment units or increase or maintain rents. : St

Our failure to integrate acquired communities and new personnel could create inefficiencies and reduce:the -,
return of your investment. ,

To grow successfully, we must be able to apply our experience in managing real estate to a larger
number of properties. In addition, we must be able to integrate new management and operations T
personnel as our organization grows in size and complexity. Failures in either area will result in
inefficiencies that could adversely affect our expected return on our investments and our overall
profitability. ' ~ e :
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BHO II Management’s failure to integrate its subcontractors into BHO IT Management’s operatzons in an
efficient manner could reduce the return on your investment. -

BHO II Management may rely on multiple subcontractors for on-site property management of our
properties. If BHO II Management is unable to integrate these subcontractors into its operations in an
efficient manner, BHO II Management may have to expend substantial time and money coordinating
with. these subcontractors which could be a negatlve impact on the revenues generated from such
propertles '

If we acqulre lodging facrltttes, we will be dependent on the thtrd-party managers of those faczlzttes

In order to qualify as a REIT, we will not be able to operate any hotel properties that we acquire
or participate in the decisions affecting the daily operations of our hotels. We will lease any hotels we
acquire to a TRS in which we may own up to-a 100% interest. Our TRS will enter into management
agreements with eligible independent contractors that are not our subsidiaries or otherwise controlled
by us to manage the.hotels. Thus, independent hotel operators, under, management agreements with
our TRS, w1ll control the dally operations of our hotels. .

‘We w1ll depend on these:independent: management companies to adequately operate our hotels:as
provided in the management agreements. We will not have the authority to require-any hotel to be . -
operated in a particular manner or to govern any particular aspect of the daily operations of any hotel
(for instance, setting room rates). Thus, even if we believe our hotels ‘are being operated inefficiently or
in a manner that does not result in satisfactory occupancy rates, revenue per available room and .-
average daily rates, we may not be able to force the management company to change its method of
operation of our hotels. We can only seek redress if a management company violates the terms of the
applicable management agreement with the TRS, and then only to the extent of the remedies provided.:
for under the terms of the management agreement. In the event that we need to replace any of our
management companies, we may be required by the terms of the management agreement-to pay
substantial termination fees and may experience significant disruptions at the-affected hotels: -

If we acquire lodging properties, we may have to make significant capital expenditures to maintain them..

Hotels have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements; including
replacements of furniture, fixtures and equipment. Generally, we will be responsrble for the costs of
these caprtal improvements, which gives rise: to the following risks: »

. cost overruns and delays

+ o renovations can-be dlsruptrve to ‘operations and can drsplace revenue at- the hotels 1nclud1ng
“revenue lost while rooms under renovation are out.of service;

« the cost of funding renovations and the possibility that financing for these renovatlons may not
be available on attractive terms; and

* the risk that the return on our investment in these caprtal 1mprovements will.not be what we
expect, - Voo FIR fan . . L

If we have insufficient cash flow from operations to fund needed caprtal expendrtures then we will
need to borrow to fund future caprtal 1mprovements <
General economic condltwns and discretionary consumer spendmg may ajfect certain of the properttes we

acquire and lower the return on'your investment.

The operatlons of certaln propertres in whrch we may invest, such as. hotels and recreation and
leisure properties, will depend upon a number of factors relating to drscretxonary consumer spendrng
Unfavorable local, regional or national economic developments or uncertainties regarding future
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economic prospects as a result of terrorist attacks, military activity or natural disasters could reduce
consumer spending in the markets in which we own properties and adversely affect the operation of
those properties. Consumer spending on luxury goods, travel and other leisure activities such as
boating, skiing and health and spa activities may decline as a result of lower consumer confidence
levels, even if prevailing economic conditions are favorable. In an economic downturn, consumer
discretionary spending levels generally decline, at times resulting in disproportionately large reductions
in expenditures on luxury goods, travel and other leisure activities. Certain of the classes of propertles
that we may acquire may be unable to maintain their profitability during periods of adverse economic
conditions or low consumer confidence, which could in turn affect the ability of operators to make
scheduled rent payments to us. ’

Seasonal revenue variations in certain asset classes will require the operators of such assets to manage cash
flow properly over time to meet their non-seasonal scheduled rent payments to us.

Certain of the properties in which we may invest, including some hotels and resorts and recreation
and leisure properties, are generally seasonal in nature. For example, the typical ski season begins. in
early November and runs through April, during which time ski resorts generate the vast majority of
their annual revenues. Revenues and profits at ski resorts and their related properties are substantially
lower and historically result in losses during the summer months due to the closure of ski operations.
As a result of the seasonal nature of certain industries that may be conducted on properties we
acquire, these businesses will experience seasonal variations in revenues that may require our operators
to supplement revenue at their properties in order to be able to make scheduled rent payments to- us.
The failure of an operator or a tenant to manage its cash flow properly may result in such operator or
tenant having insufficient cash on hand to make its scheduled payments to us during seasonally slow
periods, which may adversely affect our cash available for distribution to stockholders.

Adverse weather conditions may affect operations of certain of the properties we acquire or reduce our
operators’ ability to make scheduled rent payments to us, which could reduce our cash flow from such
investments.

Adverse weather conditions may influence revenues at certain types of properties we acquire, such
as some hotels, resorts and recreation and leisure properties. These adverse weather conditions include
heavy snowfall (or lack thereof), hurricanes, tropical storms, high winds, heat waves, frosts, drought (or
merely reduced rainfall levels), excessive rain and floods. For example, adverse weather could reduce - -
the number of people that visit properties we acquire. Certain properties may be susceptible to damage
from weather conditions such as hurricanes, which damage (including but not limited to property
damage and loss of revenue) is not generally insurable at commercially reasonable rates. Poor weather
conditions could also disrupt operations at properties we acquire and may adversely affect both the
value of our investment in a property and the ability of our tenants and operators to make their
scheduled rent payments to us.

Marinas, ski resorts and other types of properties in which we may invest may not be readily adaptable to
other uses, and if these properties become unpraofitable, we may not be able to recoup the value of our
investment.

Ski resorts and related properties, marinas, and other types of recreation and leisure properties in
which we may invest are specific-use properties that have limited alternative uses. Therefore, if the
operations of any of our properties in these sectors become unprofitable due to industry competition, a
general deterioration of the applicable industry or otherwise, we may have great difficulty selling the
property or we may have to sell the property for substantially less than the amount we paid for it.
Should any of these events occur, our income and cash available for distribution could be reduced
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Governmental regulation of marinas with respect to dredging could negatively lmpact marinas we acqutre and
the value of our investment. : :

Marinas that we may acquire must be dredged from time to time to remove the silt and mud -that
collect in harbor-areas as a result of, among other factors, heavy boat traffic, tidal flow, water flow and
storm runoff, in order to assure that boat traffic can safely enter the harbor. Dredging and disposing of
the dredged material can be very costly and may require permits from various governmental authorities.
If we acquire marinas and 'we or:our marina tenants, or operators engaged by our marina tenants,
cannot timely obtain the permits necessary to dredge marinas or dispose of the dredged material, or if
dredging is not practical or is exceedingly expensive, the operations of the marina would be materially
and adversely affected, which would in turn have a negative impact on our financial condition.

We may not control the land beneath marinas we acquire, and this land may be subject to governmental
taking.

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Coast Guard control much of the land located beneath
and surrounding most marinas. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Coast Guard lease such
land to marina owners and operators under leases for wetlands that typically range from five to
50 years, and leases for upland that typically -are initially for 25 years. As a result, many marinas cannot
obtain title.to land on or near the marinas that they are interested in developing or obtain permission
to develop on the land that they lease. Furthermore, control of such land by the U.S. Army Corps of-
Engineers and the Coast Guard increases the possibility that such land, including the marina buiit on
such land, may be condemned and taken by the local state or federal government in an eminent
domain proceeding. . ‘ :

Governmental regulation with respect to the operation of ski resorts could negatlvely impact ski resorts we
acquire and reduce the return on your mvestment

<- Ski resort mountain and lodging operations often require permits and approvals from certain
federal, state and local authorities. Many ski resorts that we may consider acquiring have been granted-
the right to use federal land as the site for ski lifts and trails and related activities; under the terms of
permits with the USDA Forest Service. The USDA Forest Service has the right to review and approve
the location, design and construction of improvements in the permit area and many operational ‘
matters. Where development in or around wetlands is involved, permits must be obtained from: the:
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Further, ski resort operations are subject to environmental laws and
regulations, and compliance with these laws and regulations may require expenditures or modifications
of development plans and operations in a manner that could have a detrimental effect on the ski
resort. In addition, the rights of ski resorts and related properties that we may acquire or develop to
use various water sources on or about their properties may also be subject to significant restrictions or
the rights of other riparian users and the public generally. Certain ski resorts and related properties we
may acquire or develop and the municipalities in which they are located may be dependent upon a
single source of water, and in ‘some cases the volume of water contained in such water sources could be
historically low or inconsistent. This may lead to disputes and litigation over, and restrictions placed on,
water use. There can be no assurance that new apphcatlons of laws, regulations, and policies, or
changes in such laws, regulations, and policies, will not occur in a manner that could have a detrimental
effect on a ski resort that we may acquire, or that material permlts licenses, or approvals will not be
terminated, non-renewed or renewed on terms or 1nterpreted in ways that are materially less favorable
to the resorts we purchase. No assurance can be given that any particular permit or approval will be
obtained or upheld on judicial review.
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The- costs of compliance with.environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations may adversely
affect our income and the cash available for any distributions.

~ All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state ahd
local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety. These
laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and removal -
of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and
disposal of solid and hazardous materials, and the remediation of contamination associated with .
disposals. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on ‘tenants, owners
or operators for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties, regardless of fault
or the legality of the original disposal. In addition, the presence of these substances, or the failure to. -
properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent such property or to
use the property as collateral for future borrowing. - s

Comphance with new or more stringent laws or regulatrons or stricter interpretation of existing
laws may require material expenditures by us. For example, various federal, regional and state laws and
regulations have been implemented or are under consideration to mitigate the effects of climate change
caused by greenhouse gas emissions. Among other things, “green” building codes may seek to reduce .
emissions. through the imposition of standards for design, construction materials, water and energy
usage and efficiency, and waste management. We are not aware of any such existing requirements that
we believe will have a material impact on our current operations. However, future requirements could
increase the costs of maintaining or improving our existing properties. or developing new properties.

Discovery of previously undetected énvironmentally hazardous conditions may adversely affect our operating
results.

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations (1nclud1ng
those of foreign jurisdictions), a current or previous owner or operator of real property may be liable
for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such property.
The costs of removal or remediation could be substantial. Such laws often impose liability whether or
not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible. for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic
substances. Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on' the manner in which property may be
used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial. expenditures.
Environmental laws provide for sanctions in the event of noncompliance and'may be enforced by ..
governmental agencies or,.in certain circumstances, by private parties. Certain environmental laws and
common law principles could be used to impose liability for release of and exposure to-hazardous -
substances, including asbestos-containing materials into the air, and third parties may seck recovery -
from owners or operators of real properties for personal i 1n]ury or property damage associated with :
exposure to released hazardous substances. . , : ‘

Tn addrtron when excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on bulldmg materlals mold
growth may occur, partrcularly if the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a
period of time. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants. Concern about indoor exposure

to mold has been increasing, as exposure to mold may cause a variety of adverse health effects and -
symptoms, including allergrc or other reactions. As a result, the presence of srgnlflcant mold at any of
our projects could require us to undertake a costly remedratlon program to contain or remove the mold
from the affected property or development pro;ect which would reduce our operatlng results

The cost of defending against claims of liability, of complrance with environmental regulatory
requirements, of remediating any contaminated property, or of paying personal-injury claims could
materially adversely affect our business, assets or results of operations and, consequently, amounts
available for distribution to you.
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Our costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act may affect cash available for
distributions. - :

Our properties are generally expected to be subject to the Ameéricans with Disabilities Act of 1990,
as amended (Disabilities Act), or similar laws of foreign jurisdictions. Under the Disabilities Act, all
places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and
use by disabled persons. The Disabilities- Act has separate compliance requirements for “public
accommodations” and “commercial facilities” that generally require that buildings and services be made
accessible ‘and avallable to people with disabilities. The Disabilities Act’s requirements could require
removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary penalties or
in some cases, an award of damages. We will attempt to acquire properties that comply with the
Dlsablhtles Act or similar laws of foreign jurisdictions or place the burden on the seller or other third
party, such as a tenant, to ensure compliance with such laws. However, we cannot assure you that we
will be able to acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this manner. If we cannot, our funds’
used for compliance with these laws may affect cash available for dlStl‘lbuthIlS and the amount of
distributions to you.

Any apartment communltles we acquire must comply with Title III of the Disabilities Act, to the
extent that such propertxes are “public accommodations” and/or “commercial facilities” as defined by
the Disabilities Act. Compliance with the Disabilities Act could require removal of structural barriers to
handicapped access in certain public areas of our apartment communities where such removal is ‘readily
achievable. The Disabilities Act does not, however, consider residential properties, such as apartment
commuriities to be public accommodations or commercial facilities, except to the extent portions of
such fac111t1es such as the leasmg office, are open to the pubhc -

If we mvest in apartment commumtzes, we:must comply with the Fair Housmg Amendment Act, which may
decrease our cash flow from operations.

We also must’ comply with the Fair Housmg Amendment Act of 1988 (FHAA), which requires that
apartment communities first occupied after March 13, 1991 be accessible to handicapped residents and
visitors. Compliance with the FHAA could require removal of structural bartiers to handicapped access
in a community, including the interiors of apartment units covered under the FHAA. Recently there
has been heighitened scrutiny of multifamily housing communities for compliance with the requirements
of the FHAA and an increasing number of substantial enforcement actions and private lawsuits have
been brought against apartment communities to ensure compliance with these requirements.
Noncompliance with the FHAA could result in the imposition of fines, awards of damages to private
litigants, payment of attorneys’ fees and other costs to plaintiffs, substantial 11t1gat10n costs and -
substantial-costs: of remedlatlon ; : P ;

If we sell properttes by provldmg ﬁnancmg ito purchasers, we will bear the rzsk of default by the purchaser

If we decxde to sell any of our propert1es we intend to use commermally reasonable efforts to sell
them for cash or in exchange for other property. However, in'some instances we may sell our
properties by providing financing to purchasers. If we provide financing to purchasers, we will bear the
risk of default by the purchaser and will be subject to remedies provided by law, which could negatively
1mpact distributions to our stockholders. There are no limitations or restrictions on our ability to take
purchase money obhgatlons We may, therefore, take a purchase money obligation secured by a
mortgage as partial payment for the purchase price of a property. The terms of payment to us generally
will be affected by custom in the area where thé property being sold is located aind the then-prevailing
economlc conditions. If we receive promissory notes or other property in lieu of cash from property
sales, the distribution of the proceeds of sales to our stockholders, or their reinvestment in other assets
will be delayed until the promlssory ‘notes or other property are actually paid, sold, refinanced or
otherwise disposed of. In some cases, we may receive initial down payments in cash and other property
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in the year of sale in an amount less than the selling price and subsequent payments will be spread
over a number of years. If any purchaser defaults under a financing arrangement with us, it could.
negatively impact our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Risks Associated with Debt Financing
We incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which increases our business risks.

We have and ant1c1pate that we will contmue to acquire real properties and other real estate—
related investments by using either emstmg financing or borrowing new funds. In addition, we may
incur or increase our mortgage debt by obtaining loans secured by some or all of our real properties to
obtain funds to acquire additional properties and other investments and for payment of distributions to.
stockholders. We also may borrow funds for payment of distributions to stockholders, in particular if
necessary to satisfy the requlrement that we distribute to stockholders at least 90% of our annual REIT
taxable income, or otherwise as is necessary or advisable to assure that we maintain our quahflcatlon as
a REIT for federal income tax purposes and/or avoid federal income tax.

There is no limitation on the amount we may invest in any single property or other asset or on the
amount we can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment. Under our
charter, the maximum amount of our indebtedness shall not exceed 300% of our “net assets” (as .
defined by the NASAA REIT Guidelines) as of the date of any borrowing; however, we ‘may exceed
that limit if approved by a majority of our independent directors.

In addition to our charter limitation, our board-of directors has adopted a policy to generally hmlt
our aggregate borrowings to approximately 75% of the aggregate value of our assets unless substantial
justification exists that borrowing a greater amount is in our best interests. Our policy limitation,
however, does not apply to individual real estate assets and only will apply once we have ceased raising
capital under this or any subsequent offering and invested substantlally all of our capital. As a-result,
we expect to borrow more than 75% of the contract purchase price of each real estate asset we acquire

to the extent our board of directors determines. that borrowing these amounts is prudent For these
purposes, the value of our assets is based on methodologies and policies, determined by the board of
directors and may include, but do not require, independent appralsals

We do not intend to incur mortgage debt on a particular real property unless we believe the
property’s projected cash flow is sufficient to service the mortgage debt. However, if there is a shortfall
in cash flow, then the amount available for distributions to stockholders may be affected: In addition, .
incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss because (1) loss in investment value is generally
borne entirely by the borrower until such time as the investment value declines below the pr1nc1pal
balance of the associated debt and (2) defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in
foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and our loss of the property securing the loan that is in default.
For tax purposes, a.foreclosure. of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property fora
purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the
outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we
would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but would not receive any cash proceeds from the
foreclosure. We may give full or partlal guarantees to lenders of mortgage debt to the entities that own
our properties. When we give a guaranty on behalf of an entity that owns one of our propertles we will
be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by such entity. If any mortgages
contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, there is a risk that more than one real
property may be affected by a default. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default,
our ability to make distributions to our stockholders will be adversely affected. In addition, because our
goal is to be in a posmon to, hquldate our assets within three to six years after the termination of the
Offering, our approach to investing in propertles utilizing leverage in order to accomplish our
mvestment ob]ectlves over this period of time may present more risks to investors than comparable real
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estate programs that have a longer intended duration and that do not utilize borrowing to the same
degree.

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable rates, we niay not be able to 'reﬁnance_ our properties, which
could reduce the amount of cash dtstrtbutwns we can make.

When we place mortgage-debt on properties, we run the risk of being unable to refinance the
properties when the loans come due, or of being unable to refinance on favorable terms. If interest
rates are higher when the properties are refinanced, we may not be able to finance the properties at
reasonable rates and our income. could be reduced. If this occurs, it would reduce cash available for
distribution to our stockholders, and it may prevent us from borrowing more money.

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

In connection with obtaining financing, a lender could impose restrictions on us that affect our
ability to incur additional debt and our distribution and operating policies. In general, we expect our
loan agreements to restrict our ability to encumber or otherwise transfer our interest in the respective
property without the prior consent of the lender. Loan documents we enter may contain other
customary negative covenants that ‘may limit our ability to further mortgage the property, discontinue
insurance.coverage, replace Behringer: Harvard Opportunity Advisors II as our advisor or impose other
limitations. Any such restriction or limitation may have an adverse effect on our operat1ons and our
ability to make distributions to you. :

Interest-only indebtedness may increase our risk of default and ulttmately may reduce our funds available for
distribution to our stockholders. Co -

We may finance our property acquisitions using interest-only mortgage indebtedness. During the
interest-only period, the amount of each scheduled payment will be less than that of a traditional
amortizing mortgage loan. The principal balance of the mortgage loan will not be reduced (except in
the case of prepayments) because there are no scheduled monthly payments of principal during this
period. After the interest-only period, we will be required either to make scheduled payments of
amortized principal and interest or to make a lump-sum.or “balloon” payment at maturity. These
requlred principal or balloon payments will increase the amount of our scheduled payments and may
increase our risk of default under the related mortgage loan. If the mortgage loan has an ad]ustable
interest rate, the amount of our scheduled payments also may increase at a time of rising interest rates.
Increased payments and substantial principal or balloon maturity payments will reduce the funds
available for distribution to our stockholders because cash otherwise available for distribution w111 be
required to pay prmc1pa1 and interest assomated with these mortgage loans.

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our. abzlzty to
make. distributions to our stockholders. : . ;

We may incur indebtedness that bears interest at a variable rate. In addltlon from time to time we
may pay mortgage loans or finance and refinance our properties in a rising interest rate environment.
Accordingly, increases in interest rates could increase our interest costs, which could have an adverse
effect on our operating cash flow and our ability to make distributions to you. In addition, if rising
interest rates cause us to need addmonal capital to repay indebtedness in accordance with its terms or
otherwise, we may need to liquidate one or more of our mvestments at times that may not permit
realization of the maximum return on such investments.
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If we enter into financing arrangements involving balloon payment obligations, it may adversely affect our
ability to make distributions.

Some of our financing arrangements may require us to make a lump-sum or “balloon” payment at
maturity. Our ability to make a balloon payment at maturity is uncertain and may depend upon our
ability to obtain additional financing or our ab111ty to sell the property. At the time the balloon
payment is due, we may or may not be able to refinance the balloon payment on terms as favorable as
the original loan or sell the property at a-price sufficient to make the balloon payment. The effect of a
refinancing or sale could affect the rate of return to stockholders and the projected time of disposition
of our assets. In addition, payments of principal and interest made to service our debts may leave us
with insufficient cash to pay the distributions that we are required to pay to maintain our qualification
as a REIT and/or avoid federal income tax. Any of these results would have a 51gn1flcant negative
impact on your. investment. - : :

We have broad authority to incur debt, and high debt levels could hmder our abtltty to make dtstrtbutwns and
could decrease the value of your investment.

Our board of directors has adopted a policy to generally limit our aggregate borrowmgs to
approximately 75% of the aggregate value of our assets, but we may exceed this limit under some
circumstances. Such debt may be at a level that is higher than real estate investment trusts with similar .
investment objectives or criteria. High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges,
would result in higher debt:service payments, and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. These
factors could limit the amount of cash we have available to distribute and could result in a decline in
the value of your investment.

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate-Related Securities

Investments in"real estate-related securities will be subject to specific risks relating to the particular issuer of
the securities and may be subject to the general rtsks of investing. in subordinated real estate secuntzes, which
may result in losses to us. i :

We may invest in real estate-related securities of both publicly traded and private real estate
companies. Our investments in real estate-related securities will involve special risks relating to the
particular issuer of the secuirities, 1nclud1ng the financial condition and business outlook of the issuer.
Issuers of real estate-related securities generally invest in real estate or real estate-related assets and
are subJect to the inherent risks associated with real estate-related 1nvestments drscussed in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, 1nc1ud1ng risks relatlng to rrslng interest rates

Real estate-related securities are often unsecured and also may be subordinated:to other
obligations of the issuer. As a result, investments in real estate-related securities are subject to risks of
(1) limited liquidity in the secondary trading market in the case of unlisted or thinly traded securities,
(2) substantial market ;price volatility resulting from changes in prevailing interest rates in the case of
traded equity securities, (3) subordination to the prior claims of banks and other senior lenders to the
issuer, (4) the operation of mandatory sinking fund or call/redemption provisions during periods of
declining interest rates that could cause the issuer to reinvest redemption proceeds in lower yielding
assets, (5) the possibility that earnings of the issuer may be insufficient to meet its debt service and
distribution obligations and (6) the declining creditworthiness and potential for insolvency of the i issuer
during periods of rising interest rates and economic slowdown or downturn. These risks may adversely
affect the value of outstanding real estate-related securities and the abrlrty of the i issuers thereof to
repay principal and interest or make distribution payments
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The types of structured debt securities in which we may invest have caused large financial losses for many
investors.over the past two years and we can give no assurances that our investments in such securities will be
successful. ,

We may invest in commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS), collateralized debt obligations
and other structured debt securities. Many of these types of investments have become illiquid and
considerably less valuable over the past two years. This reduced liquidity and decrease in value caused
financial hardship for many investors in these securities. Many investors did not fully appreciate the
risks of such investments. We can give you no assurances that our investments in these. securltles will be
sucoessful ~ : i

Investments in real estate-related preferred equtty securities involve a greater risk of loss than tradtttonal debt
financing. . - :

We may invest in real estate-related preferred equlty securltles which may mvolve a h1gher degree
of risk than traditional debt financing due to a variety of factors, including that such investments are
subordinate to traditional loans and are not secured by property underlying the investment.
Furthermore, should the issuer default on our investment, we would be able to proceed only against
the entity in which we have an interest, and not the property owned by such entity and underlymg our
investment. As a result we may not recover some or all of our investment. :

We may make investments in non-U.S. dollar denominated securities, which will be subject to currency rates -
exposure and the uncertamty of foreign laws and markets

We may purchase real estate- related securities denomrnated in foreign currencies. A change in
foreign currency exchange rates may have an adverse impact.on returns on our-non-U.S. dollar
denominated investments. Although we may hedge our foreign.currency risk subject to the REIT
income qualification tests, we may not be able to do so successfully and may incur losses on these
investments as a-result of exchange rate ﬂuctuatlons ;

We expect that a portwn of any real estate-related securities lnvestments we make wzll be llllquld and. we may
not be able to adjust our portfolw in response to changes in economic and other condttwns

Certam of the real estate- related securities that we: may purchase in connection with prlvately
negot1ated transactions will not be registered under the applicable securities laws, resulting in a-
prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or other disposition except in a transaction that is exempt
from the registration requirements of, or is otherwise in accordance with, those laws. As a result, our
ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions ‘may.be relatively-
limited. The mezzanine and bridge loans we may purchase will be particularly illiquid investments due
to their short life, their unsu1tab1hty for securltrzatlon and the greater dlfflculty of recoupment in the
event of a borrower s default.

Interest rate and related risks may cause the value of our real estate-related securttzes znvestments to be
reduced. ‘ : ‘

Interest rate r1sk is the r1sk that preva111ng market interest rates change relatlve to the current
yield on fixed-income securities such-as preferred and debt securities, and to ‘a lesser extent dividend-
paying common stock. Generally, when: market interest ratés rise, the market value of these securities
declines, and'vice versa. In.addition; wheninterest rates.fall; issuers are more likely to repurchase their
existing preferred and-debt securities to take advantage of the lower cost of financing.: As repurchases
occur, principal is returned. to the holders of the securities sooner than expected, thereby lowering the
effective yield on:-the investment. On the other hand, when interest rates rise, issuers are more likely to
maintain their existing preferred and debt securities. As a result, repurchases decrease, thereby
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extending the average maturity of the securities. We intend to manage interest rate risk by purchasing
preferred and debt securities with maturities and repurchase provisions that are designed to match .our
investment objectives. If we are unable to manage these risks effectively, our results of operations,
financial condition and ability to pay, distributions to you will be adversely affected.

We may acqutre real estate-related securities through tender offers, which may require us to spend significant
amounts of tzme and money that otherwzse could be allocated to our operations.

We 'may acqu1re real estate-related securities through tender offers, negotiated or otherwrse in
which we solicit a target company’s stockholders to purchase their securities. The acquisition of these
securities could require us to spend significant amounts of money that otherwise could be allocated to
our-operations.. Additionally, in order to acquire the securities, the employees of our advisor likely will
need to devote a substantial portion of their time to pursuing the tender offer—time that otherwise
could be allocated to managing our business. These consequences could adversely affect our operations
and reduce the cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

The CMBS in which we may invest are subject to all of the nsks of the underlying mortgage loans and the
risks of the securtttzatton process.

CMBS are securities that evidence interests in, or are secured by, a smgle commercial mortgage
loan or a pool of commercial mortgage loans. Accordlngly, these securities are subject to all of the risks
of the underlying mortgage loans. :

In a rising interest rate environment, the value of CMBS may be adversely affected when payments
on underlying mortgages:do not occur as anticipated, resulting in the extension of the security’s
effective maturity and the related increase. in interest rate sensitivity of a longer-term instrument. The
value of CMBS may also change due:to shifts in the market’s perception of issuers and regulatory or:
tax changes adversely affecting the mortgage securities market as a whole. In addition, CMBS are -
subject to the credit risk associated with the performance of the underlying mortgage properties. In
certain instances, third-party guarantees or other forms of credit support can reduce the credit risk.

CMBS are also subject to several risks created through the securitization process. Subordinate
CMBS are paid interest only to the extent that there are funds available to make payments. To the
extent the collateral pool includes delinquent loans, there is a:-risk that interest payment on subordinate
CMBS will not be fully paid. Subordinate CMBS are also subject to greater credit risk than those
CMBS that-are more hlghly rated

If we use leverage in connection with our investment in CMBS, the nsk of loss associated with this type of
investment will increase.

We may use leverage in connection with our investment in CMBS. Although the use of leverage
may enhance returns and increase the number of investments that can be made, it may also
substantially increase the risk of loss. There can be no assurance that leveraged financing will be
available to us on favorable terms or that, among other factors, the terms of such financing will parallel
the maturities of the underlying securities acquired. Therefore, such financing may mature prior to the
maturity of the CMBS acquired by us. If alternative financing is not available, we may have to liquidate
assets at unfavorable prices to pay off such.financing. We may utilize repurchase agreements as a
component of our financing strategy. Repurchase agreements economically resemble short-term,
variable-rate financing and usually require the maintenance of specific loan-to-collateral value ratios. If
the market value of the CMBS subject:to a repurchase agreement decline, we may be required to
provide additional collateral or make cash payments to maintain the loan to collateral value:ratio. If we
are unable to provide such collateral or cash repayments we - may lose our economic interest in the
underlying CMBS. v
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Our dependence on the management of other entities in which we invest may adversely affect our business.

We may not control the management, investment decisions or operations of the companies in
which we may invest. Management of those enterprises may decide:to change the nature of their assets,
or management may otherwise change in a manner that is not satisfactory to us. We will have no ability
to affect these management decisions and we may have only 11m1ted ability to dispose of our :
investments. ‘

Our due dlhgence may not reveal all of a borrower’s ltabzlztzes and may not reveal other weaknesses in its
business. '

Before making a loan to a borrower or acquiring debt or equlty securltles of a company, we w111
assess the strength and skills of such entity’s management and other factors that we believe are
material to the performance of the investment. In making the assessment and otherwise conducting
customary due diligence, we will rely on the resources available to us and, in some cases, an
investigation by third parties. This process is particularly important and subjective with respect to newly
organized or private entities because there may be little or no information publicly available about the
entities. There can be no assurance that our due d111gence processes will uncover-all relevant facts or
that any 1nvestment will be successful. : :

We will depend on: debtors Jor our revenue, and, accordingly; our revenue and our ability to make dlstrtbuttons
to you will be dependent upon the success.and economic viability of such debtors.

The success of our investments in real estate-related loans, real estate-related debt securities and
other real estate-related investments will materially depend on the financial stability of the debtors
underlying such investments. The inability of a single major debtor or a number of smaller debtors to
meet their payment obhgatlons could result in reduced revenue or losses:

Risks Associated with Investments in Mortgage, Bridge and Mezzamne Loans

We have relatwely less experience investing in mortgage, bridge, mezzanme or other loans as compared to
investing directly in real property, which could adversely affect our return on loan znvestments

The experience of our advisor and its affiliates with respect to investing in mortgage, brldge
mezzanine or other loans is not as extensive as it is:with respect to investments directly in real
properties. However, we may continue make such loan investments to the extent our advisor
determines that it is advantageous to us due to the state of the real estate: market or in order to
dlver51fy our investment portfolio. Our less extensive experience.-with respect to mortgage, brldge
mezzanine or other loans- could adversely affect our return on loan 1nvestments

Our mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans may be impacted by unfavorable real estate market conditions, -
which could decrease the value of those loans and the return on your investment.

If we make or invest in mortgage, bridge or fezzanine loans, we Wlll be at risk of defaults on
those loans caused by many conditions beyond our control, including local and other economic
conditions affecting real estate values and interest rate levels. We do not know whether the values of
the property securing the loans will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of the
loans. If the values of the underlying properties drop, our risk will increase because of the lower value
of the security associated with such loans.
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Our mortgage,.bridge or mezzanine loans will be subject to interest rate fluctuations, which could reduce our- -
retums as compared to market interest rates and reduce the value of the loans in the event we sell them

If we invest in fixed-rate, long term mortgage,; bridge or mezzanine loans and interest rates rise, -
the loans:could yield a return lower than then-current market rates. If interest rates decrease, we will .-
be adversely affected to-the extent that mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans are prepaid, because we
may not be able to make new loans at the previously higher interest rate. If we invest in variable-rate -
loans and interest rates decrease, our revenues will also decrease. Finally, if we invest in variable-rate
loans and interest rates:increase, the value of the loans we own at such time would:decrease, which:
would lower the proceeds we would receive in the event we sell such assets. For these reasons, if we:
invest in mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans, our returns on those loans and the Value of your
1nvestment will be subject to ﬂuctuatlons in 1nterest rates.

Delays in ltqutdatmg defaulted mortgage, mezzanme or brzdge loans could reduce our mvestment returns.

If there are defaults under our loans, we may not. be able to repossess and sell’ qulckly any
properties securing such loans. The resulting time delay: could reduce the value of our investment in
the defaulted loans. An-action to foreclose:on a property securing a loan is regulated by state statutes
and regulations and is subject to many of the delays and expenses of any lawsuit brought in.connection
with the foreclosure if the defendant raises defenses or counterclaims. In the event of default by a
mortgagor; these restrictions; among other: things,» may impede our ability to foreclose on: or'sell the:
mortgaged property or to obtain proceeds sufficient to repay all-amounts due to:us on the loan. -

The mezzamne loans in whtch we may invest would mvolve greater risks of loss than semor loans secured lry
mcome-produang real propertzes.

We may invest in mezzanine loans that take the form of subordmated loans secured by second
mortgages on the underlying real property or loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests of
either the entity owning the real property or:the entity that.owns 'the interest in the entity:owning the
real property. These types of investments involve a higher degree of risk than long- -term senior
mortgage lendlng secured by income producing real property because the investment may become o
unsecured as a résult of foreclosure by the senior lender. If boirowers of these loans are real estate
developers, our investments may involve additional risks, including dependence for repayment on . -
successful completion and ‘operation’ of the project, difficultiesin estimating construction or.
rehabilitation costs and loan terms that often require little or no amortization. In the event of a -
bankruptcy.of the entity providing the pledge of its:ownership interests as security, we may not have
full recourse to the assets of the entity, or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy our -
mezzanine loan. If a borrower -defaults:on our loan or on debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a
borrower bankruptcy, our loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. Where debt
senior to our:loan exists, the presence of intercreditar. arrangements may limit:our ability to-amend our
loan documents, assign our loans, accept prepayments, exercise our remedies (through “standstill
periods”), and control decisions made in bankruptcy proceedlngs relating to borrowers. As a result, we
may not recover some or all of our 1nvestment

Returns on our mortgage, brldge or mezzamne loans may be lzmzted by regulattons

The mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans in which we invest, or that we may make, may be sub]ect
to regulatlon by federal, state and local authorities and/or regulation by.foreign jurisdictions and subject
to various laws and judicial and administrative decisions. We may determine not to make mortgage,
bridge or mezzanine loans in any jurisdiction in which we believe we have not complied in all material
respects with applicable requirements. If we decide not to make mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans
in several jurisdictions, it could reduce the amount of income we would otherwise receive.
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Foreclosures create additional ownership risks that could adversely impact our returns on morigage
investments. : : ‘

If we acquire property by foreclosure following defaults under our mortgage, brldge oI mezzanine
loans, we will have the economic and liability risks as the owner.

The liquidation of our assets may be delayed as a result of our mvestment m mortgage, bridge or mezzamne
loans, which could delay distributions to our stockholders

The mezzanine and bridge loans we may purchase will be partlcularly 1lhqu1d investments due. to -
their short life, their unsuitability .for securitization and the greater difficulty of recoupment in the -
event of a borrower’s default. If our advisor determines that it is in our best interest to make or invest
in mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans, any intended liquidation of us may be delayed beyond the time
of the sale of all of our properties until all mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans expire or are sold,
because we may enter into mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans with terms that expire after the date
we intend to have sold all of our properties. o :

Investments that are not United States government msured involve risk of loss

We may originate and acquire uninsured loans and assets as part of our investment strategy Such
loans and assets may include mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and bridge loans. While holding such .
interests, we are subject to risks of borrower defaults, bankruptcies, fraud, losses and special hazard
losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance. In the event of any default under loans, we:
bear: the risk of loss of principal and nonpayment of interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency
between the value of the collateral and the principal amount of the loan. To the extent we suffer such
losses with respect to our investments in such loans, the value of our company and the price of our
common stock may be adversely affected. , :

Risks Associated with Section 1031 Tenént-in-Corﬁmon Transactions

We may have increased exposure to liabilities from lltzgatlon as a result of any pamctpatzon by us in
Sectwn 1031 Tenant-m-Common transacttons

Behnnger Development, an affiliate of our adv1sor or-its afflhates (Behrlnger Harvard Exchange
Entities) regularly enter into transactions that qualify for like-kind exchange treatment under .
Section 1031 .of the Internal Revenue Code. Section 1031 tenant-in-common transactions (Section 1031
TIC Transactions) are structured as the acquisition of real estate owned in co-tenancy arrangements
with parties seeking to defer taxes under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code (1031
Participants). We may provide accommodation in support of or otherwise be-involved in such
Section 1031 TIC Transactions. Specifically, at the closing of certain properties acquired by a Behrmger;
Harvard Exchange Entity, we may enter into a contractual arrangement with such entity prov1d1ng
(1) in the event that the Behringer Harvard Exchange Entity is unable to sell all of the co-tenancy
interests in that property to 1031 Participants, we will purchase, at the Behringer Harvard Exchange
Entity’s cost, any co-tenancy interests remaining unsold; (2) we will guarantee certain bridge loans
associated with the purchase of the property in which tenant-in-common interests are to be sold; and/or
(3) we will provide security for the guarantee of such bridge loans. Although our participation in
Section 1031 TIC Transactions may have certain benefits to our business, including enabling us to invest
capital more readily and over a more diversified portfolio and allowing us to acquire interests in
properties that we would be unable to acquire using our own capital resources, there are significant tax
and securities disclosure risks associated with the related offermgs of co-tenancy interests to 1031 '
Participants. Changes in tax laws may negatively impact the tax benefits of like-kind exchanges or cause
such transactions not to achieve their intended value. In certain Section 1031 TIC Transactions it is
anticipated that we would receive fees in connection with our provision of accommodation in support

51



of the transaction and, as such, even though we do not sponsor these Section 1031 TIC Transactions,
we may be named in or otherwise required to defend against any lawsuits brought by 1031 Participants
because of our affiliation with sponsors of such transactions. Furthermore, in the event that the
Internal Revenue Service conducts an audit of the purchasers of co-tenancy interests and successfully
challenges the qualification of the transaction as a like-kind exchange, purchasers of co-tenancy
interests may file a lawsuit against the entity offering the co-tenancy interests, its Sponsors, and/or. us.
We may be involved in one or more such offerings and could therefore be named in or otherwise
required to defend against lawsuits brought by 1031 Participants. Any amounts we are required to
expend defending any such claims will reduce the amount of funds available for investment by us in
properties or other investinents and may reduce the amount of funds available for distribution to our
stockholders. In addition, disclosure of any such litigation may adversely affect our abrhty to raise
additional caprtal in the future through the sale* of stock.

We may have increased busmess ‘and litigation rtsks as a result of any dlrect sales by us of tenant-in-common
interests in Section 1031 Tenant-in-Common transactions. :

We may directly sell tenant-in-common interests in our properties to 1031 Participants, which may
expose us to significant tax and securities disclosure risks. Changes in tax laws may negatively impact
the tax benefits of like-kind exchanges or cause such transactions not to achieve their intended value.
Furthermore, the Internal Revenue Service may determine that the sale of tenant-in-common interests
is a “prohibited transaction” under the Internal Revenue' Code, which would cause all of the gain we
realize from any such sale to be payable as a tax to the Internal Revenue Service, with none of such
gain available for distribution to our stockholders. The Internal Revenue Service may conduct- an audit
of the purchasers of tenant-in-common interests and successfully challenge the qualification of the
transaction as a like-kind exchange. We may be named in'or otherwise required to defend against any
lawsuits brought by stockholders or 1031 Participants in connection with Section 1031 TIC Transactions
in which we directly sell tenant-in-common interests. In addition, as a seller of tenant-in-common
interests, we will be required to comply with applicable federal and ‘state securities laws -and to provide
fair and adequate disclosure to 1031 Participants relating to the respective Section 1031 TIC
Transaction. Any alleged failure by us to comply with these requirements could expose us to risks of
litigation. Any amounts we are required to expend defending claims brought against us will reduce the
amount of funds available for us to invest in properties or other investments and may reduce the
amount of funds available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, disclosure of any such
litigation may adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital in the future through the sale of
stock. : Sk - :

A portion of the properties we acquire may be in the form of tenant-in-common or other co-tenancy’
arrangements. We will be subject to risks associated with such co-tenamy arrangements: that otherwise may
not be present in non-co-tenancy real estate investments.

We may enter into tenant—m -common or other co-tenancy arrangements with respect to a portion
of the properties we acquite. Whether acqurred as a planned co-tenancy or as the result of an
accommodation or other arrangement disclosed above, ownershlp of co-tenancy interests involves risks
generally not otherwrse present with an investment in real estate, 1nc1ud1ng the following:

* the'risk that a co-tenant may at any time have .economic or business interests or goals that are
or become inconsistent with our business interests or goals;

* the risk that a co-tenant may be in a position to take. action contrary to our instructions or
requests Qr contrary to our policies or ob_]ectlves

* the possibility that an individual co-tenant might become msolvent or bankrupt or otherwise
‘default under the applicable mortgage loan financing documents, which may constitute an event
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. of default under all of the applicable mortgage loan financing documents or allow the
_bankruptcy court to reject the tenants-in-common agreement or management agreement entered
into by the co-tenants owning interests in the property; o R

* the possibility that a co-tenant might not have adequate liquid assets to make cash advances that

" may be required in order to fund operations, maintenance and other expenses related to the
“property, which could result in the loss of current or prospective tenants and may otherwise
adversely affect the operation and maintenance of the property, and could cause a default under
the mortgage loan financing documents applicable to the property and may result in late
charges, penalties and interest, and may lead to the exercise of foreclosure and other remedies
by the lender;

o the risk that a co-tenant could breach agreements related to the property, which may cause a
default under, or result in personal liability for, the applicable mortgage loan financing.
documents, violate applicable securities law and otherwise adversely affect the property and the
co-tenancy arrangement; or . . S o : ‘

« the risk that a default by any co-tenant would constitute a default under the applicable mortgage
loan financing documents that could result in a foreclosure and the loss of all or a substantial
portion of the investment made by the co-tenants. ' '

Actions by a co-tenant might have the result of subjecting the property to liabilities in excess of those
contemplated and may have the effect of reducing your returns. ' :

In the event that our interests become adverse to those of the other co-tenants in a Section 1031
TIC Transaction, we may not have the contractual right to purchase the co-tenancy interests from the
other co-tenants. Even if we are given the opportunity to purchase such co-tenancy interests in the
future, we cannot guarantee that we will have sufficient funds available at the time to purchase such
co-tenancy interests. In addition, we may desire to sell our co-tenancy interests in a given property ata
time when the other co-tenants in'such property do not desire to sell their interests. Therefore, we may
not be able to sell our interest in a property at the time we would like to sell. Finally, it is anticipated
that it will be much more difficult to find a willing buyer for our co-tenancy interests in a property than
it would be to find a buyer for a property we owned outright. c ‘ o

Our participation in Section 1031 TIC Transactions may limit our ability to borrow funds in the future,
which could adversely affect the value of our investments. '

Section 1031 TIC Transaction agreements we may enter that contain obligations to acquire unsold
co-tenancy interests in properties may be viewed by institutional lenders as a contingent liability against
our cash or other assets, which may limit our ability to borrow funds in the future. Furthermore, such .
obligationis may be viewed by our lenders in such a manner as to limit our ability to borrow funds =
based on regulatory restrictions on lenders limiting the amount of loans they can make to any one
borrower. : SR .,;

Our operating results will be negatively affected if our investments, including investments in. tenant-in-common
interests promoted by affiliates of our advisor, do not meet projected distribution levels. : :

Behringer Harvard Holdings and its affiliates have promoted a number of tenant-in-common real
estate projects. Some of these projects have not met the distribution levels anticipated in the '
projections produced by Behringer Harvard Holdings and its affiliates. In addition, certain other
projects have not achieved the leasing and operational thresholds projectéd by Behringer Harvard
Holdings and its affiliates. If projections related to our investments, ir)éluding any tenant-in-common
interests in which we invest, are inaccurate, we may pay too much for an investment and our return on

our investment could suffer.
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Specifically; several tenant-in-common: investment programs have not benefited from expected
leasing improvements. Behringer Harvard Holdings:has. provided support for some of these programs in
the form of leases for vacant space and other payments. In addition, the Beau Terre Office Park
tenant-in-common program is currently underperforming relative to projections that were based on
seller representations that Behringer Harvard Holdings now believes to be false. With respect to this
program, Behringer Harvard Holdings has completed a settlement with the investors to support their
returns and is pursuing a claim against the seller and others on behalf of the investors and itself.

Federal Income Tax Risks , N |
Failure to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions.

In order for us to’ qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy certain requirements set forth in the Code
and Treasury Regulations and various factual matters and circumstances that are not entirely within our
control. We intend to structure our activities in a manner designed to satisfy all of these requirements.
However, if certain of our operations were to be recharacterized by the Internal Revenue Service, such
recharacterization could jeopardize our ability to satisfy all of the requirements for qualification as a
REIT and may affect our ability to qualify, or continue to qualify, as a REIT, In addition, new
legislation, new regulations, administrativé"interp,re'ta,tion‘s or court decisions could significantly change
the tax laws with respect to qualifying as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of qualifying.

Our qualification as a REIT depends upon our ability to meet, through investments, actual-
operating results, distributions and satisfaction of specific stockholder: rules, the various tests imposed
by the Code. We cannot assure you that we will satisfy the REIT requirements in the future. If we fail
to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable
income for that year at corporate rates. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment
as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year of losing our REIT status. Losing our REIT
status would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of
the additional tax liability. In addition, distributions to stockholders would no longer 'qualify for the
distributions-paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to make distributions. If this occurs,
we might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax.
Our failure to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect the retirn on your investment. '

Qualification as a REIT is subject to the satisfaction of tax requirements and various factual
matters and circumstances that are not entirely within our control. New legislation, regulations,
administrative interpretations or court decisions could change the tax laws with respect to qualification
as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of being a REIT. Our failure to qualify as a REIT
would adversely affect your return on your investment.

Our investment strategy m_a_}; cause us to incur penalty taxes, lose our REIT status, or own and sell properties

through taxable REIT subsidia(‘iék, each of which would diminish the return to our stockholders.

In light of our opportunistic investment strategy, it is possible that one or more sales of our -
properties may be considered “prohibited transactions” under the Internal Revenue Code. Any
subdivision of property, such as the sale of condominjums, would almest certainly: be considered such a
prohibited transaction. If we are deemed to have engaged in a “prohibited transaction” (i.e., we sell a-.
property held by us primarily for sale in the ordinary course of our trade or business) all income that
we derive from such sale would be subject to a 100% penalty tax. The Internal Revenue Code sets
forth a safe harbor for REITs that wish to sell property without risking the imposition of the 100%
penalty tax. A principal requirement of the safe harbor is that the REIT must hold the applicable
property for not less than two years prior to its sale. Given our opportunistic investment strategy, the
sale of one or more of our propérties may not fall within the prohibited transaction safe harbor.
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If we desire to sell a property pursuant to a transaction that does not fall within the safe harbor,
we may be able to avoid the 100% penalty tax if we acquired the property through a TRS or acquired
the property and transferred it to a TRS for a non-tax business purpose prior to the sale (i.e., for a
reason other than the avoidance of taxes). However, there may be circumstances that prevent us from
using a TRS in a transaction that does not qualify for the safe harbor. Addrtronally, even if it is
possible to effect a property disposition through a TRS, we may decide to forgo the use of a TRS in a
transaction that does not meet the safe harbor based on our own 1nternal analysis, the opinion of
counsel or the opinion of other tax advisors that the disposition will not be subject to the 100% penalty
tax. In cases where a property disposition is not effected through a TRS, the Internal Revenue Service
could successfully assert that the disposition constitutes a prohibited transaction, in which event all of
the net income from the sale of such property will be payableé as a tax and none of the proceeds from
such sale will be distributable by us to our stockholders or avallable for mvestment by us.

If we acquire a property that we anticipate will not fall w1th1n the safe harbor from the 100%. .
penalty tax upon disposition, then we may acquire such property through a TRS in order to avoid the.
possibility that the sale of such property will be a prohibited transaction and subject to the 100%
penalty tax. If we already own such a property directly or indirectly through an entity other than a -
TRS, we may contribute the property to a TRS if there is another, non-tax related business purpose for
the contribution of such property to the TRS. Following the transfer:of the property to a TRS, the:
TRS will operate the property and may sell such property-and distribute. the net proceeds from such -
sale to us, and we may distribute the net proceeds distributed to us by the TRS to our stockholders.
Though a sale of the property by a TRS likely would eliminate the danger of the application of the
100% penalty tax, the TRS itself would be sub]ect to a'tax at the’ federal level, and potentially at the
state and local levels, on the gain realized by it from the sale of the property as well as on the income
earned while the property is opérated by the TRS. This tax obhgatlon would diminish the amount of -
the proceeds from the sale of such property that would be distributable to our stockholders. As a
result, the amount available for distribution to’ our stockholders would be substantlally less than if the”
REIT had not operated and sold such property through the TRS and such transaction was not
successfully characterized as a prohibited transaction. The maximum federal corporate income tax rate
currently is 35%. Federal, state and local corporate income tax rates may be increased in the future,
and any such increase would reduce the amount ‘of the net proceeds available for distribution by us to
our stockholders from the sale of property through -a TRS after the effective. date of any increase in
such tax rates. Coy :

‘As a REIT, the value of the non- mortgage securities we hold in all of our TRSs may not exceed
20% (25% for our 2009 taxable year and beyond) of the value of all of our assets at the end of any
calendar quarter. If the Internal Revenue Service were to. determlne that thé value of our interests in ;
all of our TRSs exceeded this limit at the end of any calendar quarter, then we would fail to qualify as
a REIT. If we determine it to be in our best interests to own a substantial number of our properties
through one or more TRSs then it is possible that the Internal Revenue Service may conclude that the
value of our interests in our TRSs exceeds 20% (25% for our 2009 taxable year and beyond) of the
value of our total assets at the end of any calendar quarter and therefore cause us to fail to qualify as
a REIT Additionally, as a REIT, no more than 25% of our gross income with respect to. any year may
be from sources other than real estate. Distributions paid to-us from a TRS are considered to be
non-real estate income. Therefore, we may fail to qualify as a REIT-if: distributions from' all of eur
TRSs, when aggregated with all other non-real estate income with respect to any one year, are more
than 25% of our:gross income with respect to such year. We will use all reasonable efforts to structure
our activities in a manner intended to satisfy the requirements for-our continued qualification as a
REIT. Our failure to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect the return on your investment.
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Certain fees paid to us may affect our REIT status.

Income received in the nature of rental subsidies or rent guarantees, in some cases, may not
qualify as rental income and could be characterized by the Internal Revenue Service as non-qualifying
income for purposes of satisfying the “income tests” required for REIT qualification. In addition, in
connection with our Section 1031 TIC Transactions, we or one of our affiliates may enter into a .
number of contractual arrangements with Behringer Harvard Exchange Entities whereby we will
guarantee or effectively guarantee the sale of the co-tenancy interests being offered by any Behringer
Harvard, Exchange Entity. In consideration for entering into these agreements, we will be paid fees that
could be characterized by the Internal Revenue Service as non-qualifying income for purposes of
satisfying the “income tests” required for REIT qualification. If this fee income were, in fact, treated as
non-qualifying, and if the aggregate of such fee income and any other non-qualifying income in any
taxable year ever exceeded 5% of our gross revenues for such year, we could lose our REIT status for
that taxable year and the four taxable years following the year of losing our REIT status. We will use
commercially reasonable efforts to structure our activities in a manner intended to satisfy the
requirements for our continued qualification as a REIT. Our failure to qualify as a REIT would
adversely affect the return on your inv'estment. '

Recharactertzatton of the Section 1031 TIC Transacttons may result in taxation of income from a prohtbzted
transaction, which would diminish distributions to our stockholders.

In the event that the Internal Revenue Service were to recharacterize the Section 1031 TIC
Transactions such that we, rather than the Behringer Harvard Exchange Entity, are treated as the bona
fide owner, for tax purposes, of properties acquired and resold by the Behringer Harvard Exchange
Entity in connection with the Section 1031 TIC Transactions, such characterization could result in the
fees paid to us by the Behringer Harvard Exchange Entity as bemg deemed income from a prohibited
transaction, in which event the fee income paid to us in connection with the Section 1031 TIC
Transactions would be subject to a 100% penalty tax. If this occurs, our-ability to make cash
distributions to our stockholders will be adversely affected. '

You may have current tax lmbzlzty on dtstrtbutzons you elect to reinvest in our common stock.

If you participate in our distribution reinvestment plan, you will be deemed to have received, and
for income tax purposes will be taxed on, the amount reinvested in shares of our common stock to the
extent the amount reinvested was not a tax-free return of capital. In addition, you will be treated for
tax purposes as having received an additional distribution to the extent the shares are purchased at a
discount to fair market value. As a result, unless you are a tax-exempt entity, you may have to use
funds from other sources to pay your tax liability on the value of the shares of common stock received.

If our operatmg partnershtp fails to maintain its status as a partnershtp, its mcome may be subject to
taxation, which would reduce the cash avatlable to us for distribution to_our stockholders

We intend to maintain the status of Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II, our’ operatlng
partnership, as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. However, if the Internal Revenue Service
were to successfully challenge the status of the operating partnership as an entity taxable as a
partnership, Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II would be taxable as a corporation. In such event,
this would reduce the amount of distributions that the operating partnership could make to us. This
could also result in our losing REIT status, and becoming subject to a corporate level tax on our
income. This would substantially reduce the cash available to us to make distributions and the return -
on your investment. In addition; if any of the partnerships or limited liability companies through which
the operating partnership owns its properties, in whole or in part, loses its characterization as a
partnership for federal income tax purposes, it would be subject to taxation as a corporation, thereby
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reducing distributions to the operating partnership. Such a recharacterization of an underlying. property
owner could also threaten our ablhty to maintain REIT status.

In certain circumstances, we may be subject to federal and state taxes, which would reduce our cash available
Jfor distribution to our stockholders.

- BEven if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may become subject to federal and state
taxes. For example, if we have net income from a “prohibited transaction,” such income will be subject.
to a 100% penalty tax. We may not be able to make sufficient distributions to avoid excise taxes
applicable -to REITs. We may also decide to retain income we earn from the sale or other disposition
of our assets and pay income tax directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would be .
treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it directly.-We may also be subject to state
and local taxes on our income or property, either directly or at the level of the operating partnership or
at the level of the other companies through which we indirectly own our assets. Any federal or state
taxes paid by us will reduce the cash available to us for dlstnbuuon to our stockholders.

Non-U.S. income or other taxes, and a requtrement to withhold any non-U.S. taxes, may apply, and, lf so, the
amount of net cash from operations payable to you will be reduced.

We intend to acqulre real property located outside the U.S. and may invest in stock or other
securities of entities owning real property located outside the U.S. As a result, we may be subject to
foreign (i.e., non-U.S.) income taxes, stamp taxes, real property conveyance taxes, withholding taxes,
and other forelgn taxes or similar impositions in connection with our ownership of foreign real property
or foreign securities. The country in which the real property is located may impose such taxes
regardless of whether we are profitable and in addition to any U.S. income tax or ‘other U.S. taxes
imposed on profits from our investments in such real property or securities. If a foreign country
imposes income taxes on profits from our investment in foreign real property or foreign securities, you
will not be eligible to claim a tax credit on your U.S. federal income tax returns to offset the income
taxes paid to the foreign country, and the imposition of any foreign taxes in connection with our
ownership and operation of foreign real property or our investment in securities of foreign entities will
reduce the amounts distributable to you. Similarly, the imposition of withholding taxes by a foreign
country will reduce the amounts distributable to you. We expect the organizational costs associated w1th
non-U.S. investments, including costs to structure the investments so as to minimize the impact of
foreign taxes, will be higher than those associated with U.S. investments. Moreover, we may be
required to file income tax or other information returns in foreign jurisdictions as a result of our
investments made outside of the U.S. Any organizational costs and reporting requirements will increase
our administrative expenses and reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to you. You are
urged to consult with your own tax advisors with respect to the impact of applicable non-U.S. taxes and
tax withholding requirements on an investment in our common stock.

Our foreign investments will be subject to .changes in foreign tax or other laws, as well as to changes in U.S.
tax laws, and such changes could negatzvely impact our returns from any parttcular investment.

We expect to make 1nvestments in real estate located out51de of the United States. Such
investments will typically be structured to minimize non-U.S. taxes, and generally include the use of .
holding companies. Our ownership, operation and disposition strategy with respect to non-U.S.
investments will take into account foreign tax considerations. For example, it is typically advantageous
from a tax perspective in non-U.S. jurisdictions to sell interests in a holding company that owns real
estate rather than the real estate itself. Buyers of such entities, however, will often discount their
purchase price by any inherent or expected tax in such entity. Additionally, the pool of buyers for
interests in such holding companies is typically more limited than buyers of direct interests in real
estate, and we may be forced to dispose of real estate directly, thus potentially incurring higher foreign
taxes and negatively effecting the return on the investment.
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We will also capitalize :our holding companies with ‘debt and equity to reduce foreign income and
withholding taxes as appropriate and with consultation with local counsel in each jurisdiction. Such
capitalization structures are complex and potentlally sub]ect to challenge by foreign and domest1c taxmg
authorities. < l A : - . :

We may use certain holding structures for our non-U.S. investments to accommodate the needs of
one class of investors which reduce the after-tax returns to other classes of investors. For example, if
we interpose -an entity treated as-a corporation for United States tax purposes in our chain of
ownership with respect to any particular investment, U.S. tax-exempt investors will generally benefit as
such investment will no longer generate unrelated business taxable income. However, if a corporate
entity is interposed in a non-U.S. investment holding structure, this would prevent individual investors -
from claiming a foreign tax credit for any non-U. S 1ncome taxes incurred by the corporate: entity or its
subsidiaries. » :

Foreign mvestments are subject to changes in foreign tax or other laws. Any such law changes may
require us to modify or abandon a particular holding structure. Such changes may also lead to higher
tax rates on our foreign investments than we anticipated, regardless of structuring modifications.
Additionally, U.S. tax laws with respect to forelgn investments are sub]ect to change, and such changes
could negatlvely 1mpact our returns from any “particular investment.

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect the returns to our investors.

In recent years numerous legislative, ]ud1c1al and admrmstratlve changes have becn made in the
provisions of the federal income tax laws applicable to investments similar to an investment in shares of
our common stock. Additional changes to the tax laws are likely to continue to occur, and we cannot
assure you that any such changes will not adversely affect the taxation of a stockholder. Any such
changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or the o
resale potential of our assets. You are urged to consult with your own tax advisor with respect to the
impact of recent leglslanon on your investment in our shares and the status of legislative, regulatory or
administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our shares.
You also should note that our counsel’s tax 0p1n10n is based upon existing law and Treasury
Regulatlons applicable as of the date of its opinion, all of which are subject to change, either
prospectlvely or retroactively.

Congress passed major federal tax leg1slat1on in 2003, with modifications to that legislation in 2005.
One of the changes affected by that legislation generally reduced the tax rate on dividends paid by
corporations to individuals to a maximum of 15% prior to 2011. REIT distributions generally do not
qualify for this reduced rate. The tax changes did not, however, reduce the corporate tax rates.
Therefore, the maximum corporate tax rate of 35% has not been affected. However, as a REIT, we -
generally would not be subject to federal or state corporate income taxes on that portion of our
ordinary income or capital gain that we distribute currently to our stockholders, and we thus expect to
avoid the “double taxation” that othet corporatlons are typically sub]ect to.

Although REITs continue to receive substant1ally better tax treatment than entities taxed as
corporations, it is possible that future legislation would result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages,
and it could become more advantageous for a company that invests in real estate to elect to be taxed
for federal income tax purposes as a corporation. As a result, our charter provides our board of
directors with the power, under certain circumstances, to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT"
election and cause us to be taxed as a corporation, without the vote of our stockholders. Our board of
directors has fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and could only cause such changes in our tax -
treatment if it determines in good faith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders.
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Egquity participation .in mortgage, bridge, mezzanine or.other loans may result in taxable income and gains
Jrom these properties that could adversely impact our REIT status.

If we participate under a loan in any appreciation of the properties securing the mortgage loan or
its cash flow and the Internal Revenue Service characterizes this participation as “equity,” we might
have to.recognize income, gains. and other:items from the property for federal income tax purposes
This could affect .our ability to qualify as a REIT. :

Our mvestments in debt mstmments may cause us to recognize ‘?zhantom mcome” for Jederal income tax.
purposes even though no cash payments have been recetved on the debt instruments.

It is expected that we may acquire debt mstruments in the secondary market for less than their
face amount. The amount of ‘such discount will generally be treated -as “market discount” for federal -
income tax.purposes. We may acquire, distressed debt investments that are subsequently modified by
agreement with the borrower. If the amendments to the outstanding debt are “significant
modifications” under the applicable Treasury regulatlons, the modified debt may be cons1dered to have
been reissued to us in a debt-for-debt exchange with the borrower. This deemed reissuance may

prevent. the modified debt from qualifying as a good REIT asset if the underlying securlty has dechned
in value.

In general; we will be required to accrue original issue discount on a debt instrument as taxable
income in accordance with applicable federal income tax rules even though no cash payments :may be
received on such debt instrument.

In the event a borrower with:respect to a particular debt instrument encounters financial difficulty
rendering it unable to pay stated interest as due, we may nonetheless be required to continue to
recognize the unpaid interest as taxable income. Similarly, we may be required to accrue interest
income with respect to subordinate residential and commercial mortgage-backed securltles at the stated
rate regardless of when their corresponding cash payments are received.

As 2 result of these factors, there is a 51gn1flcant risk that we may recogmze substant1a1 taxable
income in excess of cash available for distribution. In that evént, we may need to borrow funds or take
other actlon to-satisfy the REIT:distribution requirements for. the taxable year in Wthh this. ¢ phantom
income” is recognized. : o s

REIT dtstrzbutwn requtrements could adversely ajfect our abtllty to execute our busmess plan

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, sub]ect to certain
adjustments and-excluding any net capital gain, in order for federal corporate income tax not to apply -
to earnings that we distribute. To. the extent that we satisfy this -distribution requirement, but distribute
less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will -be subject to federal corporate income tax on our:
undistributed REIT-taxable income. In addition; we will be subject to-a 4% nondeductible excise tax if
the actual amount that we pay out to-our stockholders in a calendar year is less than a minimum
amount specified under federal tax laws. We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply
with the REIT requiremerits .of the Internal Revenue Code. : Sk

From time to time, we may generate taxable 1ncome greater than our taxable i 1ncome for financial N
reportlng purposes, or our taxable income may be greater than our cash flow available for distribution
to stockholdérs (for example, where a borrower defers the payment of interest in cash pursuant to a
contractual right or otherwise). If we do not have other funds avallable in these situations we could be
required to borrow funds, sell investments at dlsadvantageous prices or find another alternatrve source |
of funds to make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough ‘of our taxable income to
satisfy the REIT distribution requirement and to aV01d corporate income tax and the 4% ex01se tax 1n a
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particular year. These alternatives could increase our-costs or reduce our equity. Thus; compliance with
the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits. -

Risks Related to Investments by Tax-Exempt Entities and Benefit Plans Subjeet to ERISA

If the fiduciary of an employee pension benefit plan subject to ERISA (such as profit sharing; Section 401(K)
or pension plan) or any other retirement plan or account fails to meet the fiduciary .and other standards
under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code as a result of an investment in our stock, you could be subject to
criminal and civil penalties. ,

There are special considerations that apply to employee benefit plans subject to ERISA (such as
profit sharing, section 401(k) or pension plans) and other retirement plans or accounts subject to
Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (such as an IRA) that are investing in our shares. If you-
are investing the assets of ‘such a plan or account in our common stock, you should satisfy yourself that:

* your 1nvestment is consistent with your f1du<:1ary obligations and other under ERISA and the
Internal Revenue Code;

-+ your investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing your plan\
or IRA, including your plan’s or account’s investment policy;

* your investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B)
and 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA and other applicable provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue
Code;

* your investment in our shares, for which there is no public trading market exists, is consistent
with the liquidity needs of the plan or IRA; :

* your investment will not produce an unrelated amount ‘unrelated business texable income” for
the plan or IRA; ‘

* you will be able to comply with the requirements under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code
to value the assets of the plan or IRA annually; and -

- * your investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code.

We have adopted a valuation policy in respect of estimating the per share value of our common
stock and expect to disclose such estimated value annually, but this estimated value is subject to
significant limitations. Until 18 months have passed without a sale in an offering of our common stock
(or other securities from which the board of directors believes the value of a share of common stock
can be estimated), not including any offering related to a distribution reinvestment plan, employee
benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our operating partnership, we generally will use the gross-
offering price of a share of the common stock in our most recent offering as the per share estimated
value thereof or, with respect to an offering of other securities from which the value of a share of -
common stock can be estimated, the value derived from the gross offering price of the other security as
the per share estimated value of the common stock. This estimated value is not likely to reflect the
proceeds you would receive upon our liquidation or upon the sale of your shares. Accordingly, we can
make no assurances that such estimated value will satisfy the applicable annual valuation requirements
under ERISA and the Code. The Department of Labor or the Internal Revenue Service may determine
that a plan fiduciary or an IRA custodian is required to take further steps to determine the value of
our common shares. In the absence of an appropriate determination of value, a plan fiduciary or an
IRA custodian may be subject to damages, penalties or other sanctions. See Item 5, “Market for
Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—
Market Information” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA-
and the Code may result in the 1mp081t10n of civil and criminal penalties and could subject the
fiduciary to claims for damages or for equitable remedies. In addition, if an investment in our shares
constitutes a prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Code, the fiduciary or IRA owner who
authorized or directed the investment may be subject to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to
the amount invested. In the case of a prohibited transaction involving an IRA owner, the IRA may be
disqualified and all of the assets of the IRA may be deemed distributed and subjected to tax. ERISA .
plan fiduciaries and IRA custodians should consult with counsel before making an 1nvestment in our -
common shares.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.
General

- The following table presents certain additional information about: our: consolldated investment in
real estate property as of December 31, 2009: o

Approximate
Rentable o Ownership
Property Name Location Date Acquired Square Footage Description ; Encumbrances  Interest

1875 Lawrence Denver, CO October 2008 185,000 . 15-story office building $18.-5*4rnillion; . 100%

The following information generally applies to our consolidated investment in our real estate
property:

* we believe our real estate property is adequately covered by insurance and suitable for its
intended purpose;

* our property is located in a market where we are subject to competition in attracting new
tenants and retaining current tenants; and

* depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the building.

Future Lease Payments Table

The following table presents the future minimum base rental payments due to us over the next ten
years at our consolidated property as of December 31, 2009 ($ in thousands):

2000 . . e $3,202
200 L e 1,957
2002 L e e e 1,415
200 e e 699
2004 L e e e 225
2005 L e —
2006 . e e e e —
2007 o e —
2008 L e e e e —
2000 . e —
Thereafter. . . ... ... e e —
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Portfolio Lease Expirations

The following table p;esénts lease expirations at our consolidated prdperty as of December 31, .

2009 ($ in thousands):

Percent of Percent of
Number of . Portfolio Leased Portfolio
: Leases = Annualized  Annualized Base  Rentable  Rentable Sq. Ft.
Year of Expiration : '_ Expiring ~ Base Rent®  Rent Expiring Sq. Ft. " Expiring
2010 ..o v i 8 $1,365  36% 66,917 40%
2011, .. 8 991 26% 48,049 28%
2012, .. e 2 548 14% 20,322 , 12%
2013, .. 3 573 15% 22,574 13%
2014. . ... e __4_ 330 _9% 11,558 '_7%
¢ 25 $3,807 100% 169,420 100%

M Annualized Base Rent represents contractual base rental income on a US GAAP straight line
adjustment basis from the time of our acquisition, without consideration of tenant contraction or

termination rights. Tenant reimbursements generally include payment of real estate taxes, -operating
expenses, and common area maintenance and utility charges.

Ttem 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not“party to, and none of our properties are subject to, any material pending legal

proceedings.

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved)
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PART 1I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’ Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases '
of Equlty Securltles

Market Information

There is no established public trading market for our common stock. Therefore, there is-a risk that
a stockholder may not be able to sell our stock at a time or price‘acceptable to the stockholder. Unless
and until our shares are listed on-a national. securrtres exchange it is not expected that a pubhc market
for the shares will- develop ' , :

“We have adopted a valuation policy in respect of est1mat1ng the per share Value of our common
stock. For this purpose, the estimated value of our comment stock is $10. 00 per share as of
December 31, 2009, This basis for this valuation is the gross offermg price. of a share of our common
stock in the Offermg Until 18 months have passed w1thout a sale in an offermg of our common stock
(or other securities from which the board of directors believes the value of a share of common stock
can be estimated), not 1nclud1ng any offermg related to a distribution reinvestment plan, employee
benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our operating ‘partnership, we generally will use the gross
offering price of a share of the common stock.in our most recent offering as the per;share estimated
value thereof or, with respéect to an offering of other securities from which the value of a share. of
common stock can be estimated, the value derived from the gross offering price-of the other security ‘as
the per share estimated value of the common stock. This estimated value is‘not likely to reflect the. -
proceeds you would receive upon our liquidation: or upon the sale of your shares. In addition, this per -
share valuation method is not designed to arrive at a valuation that is related to any individual or: =
aggregated value estimates or appraisals of the value of our assets. We expect that after 18 months.
have passed without a sale in an offering of our common (or other securities from which our board of
directors believes the value of a share of common stock can be estlmated) not including any offering
related to a distribution reinvestment plan, employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our
operating partnership, the estimated value we provide for- our common stock will be based on
valuatrons of our properties and other assets.

Holders

. As of February 28, 2010, we had 16, 279 884 shares of common stock outstanding held by a total of
7, 194 stockholders

Distributions

Dlstnbutlons are: authorlzed at ‘the discretion of our board of directors based on its analysis of our
performance over the previous period, expectatlons of performance for future periods, including actual
and anticipated operating cash flow, changes in market capitalization rates for investments suitable for
our portfolio, capital expenditure needs, general financial condition, and other factors that our board
deems:relevant. The board’s decision will be ‘influenced, in substantial part, by its-obligation'to ensure
that we maintain our status as-a REIT. In light of the pervasive and fundamental disruptions 'in the.
global financial and real estate markets, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to achieve
expected cash flows necessary to-continue to pay distributions at any particular level, or at all. If the
current.economic conditions continue, our board could determine to reduce our current distribution
rate or cease paying drstrlbutlons in.order to conserve cash.

Until proceeds from the Offermg are fully invested and generatmg sufficient operating cash flow to
fully fund the payment of distributions to our stockholders, we have and will continue to pay some ‘of |
all of our distributions from sources ‘other than operating cash flow. We may, for example generate
cash to pay distributions froni fihancing activities, components of which may include proceeds from the
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Offering and borrowings (including borrowings secured by our assets) in anticipation of future
operating cash flow. In addition, from time to time, our advisor and its affiliates may agree to waive or
defer all, or a portion, of the acquisition, asset management or other fees or incentives due to them,
pay general administrative expenses or otherwise supplement investor returns in order to increase the
amount of cash that we have available to pay distributions to our stockholders. S

*- Cash amounts distributed to stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2009 were
$1:1 million. Distributions funded through the issuance of shares under the DRP during the yéar ended
December 31, 2009 were $3.1 million. For the year ended December 31, 2009, cash flows provided by
operating activities were $0.3 million. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2009, none of the
cash flows provided by operations exceeded cash amounts distributed to stockholders. Cash amounts
distributed to stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2008 were $0.2 million. Distributions
funded through the issuance of shares under the DRP during the year ended December 31, 2008 were
$0.5 million. For the year ended December 31, 2008, cash flows used in operating activities were
$0.1 million. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2008, none of the cash flows from
operating activities exceeded cash amounts distributed to stockholders. The shortfall for the years
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was funded from proceeds from the Offering.

The amount by which our distributions paid exceeded cash flow from operating activities has
increased due to a higher distribution rate and increased proceeds from the Offering. Effective June 1,
2009, our board of directors increased our.distribution rate from an annual effective rate of 3.0% to
5.0%. As a result, future distributions declared and paid may continue to exceed cash flow from
operating activities until such time that:we invest in additional real estate or real estate-related assets at
favorable yields. - :

Distributions by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 were as follows (in
thousands, except per share amounts)

N . Cash FI Total Declared

. : Distributions Paid Provided by (Used . Distributions  Distribution

w Cash Reinvested Total In) Operations Declared Per Share
4th Quarter .............. $ 440 $1,150  $1,590 $1,016 $1,703 $0.126

3rdQuarter .............. 364 997 1,361 (724) 1,437 0.126 -
2nd Quarter . ............. 172 505 677 174 881 0.091
1st Quarter. ........ L. 138 < 416 554 (151 - 586 0.074
Total.................. $1,114  $3,068  $4,182 $ 315 $4,607 $0.417
S . Cash FI Total  Declared

Lo S Distributions Paid___ pryvided by (Used  Distributions  Distribution

E(E o Cash Reinvested  Total In) Operations Declared Per Share
4th Quarter . .. ............... $105 $334 $439 - $ 722 $494 . $0.076 -
3rd Quarter. . . .. P R 54 158 212 - (681) _ 297 0.076
2nd Quarter ............. e * 8 25 33 (122) T4 - 0.075
1st Quarter . ... .. S P S — — — (14) ; — —
Total . ........... .. %167 $517 $684 $ (95  $865 $0.227

Distributions declared per share assumes the share was issued and outstanding each day during the
period and was based on a declared daily distribution rate of $0.0008219 per share per day for the
period through May 31, 2009. As of June 1, 2009, the effective daily distribution rate is $0.0013699.
Each day in the four quarters of 2009 was a record date for distributions. On December 15, 2009, the
Company s.board.of directors declared distributions payable.to the stockholders of record each day
during the months of January, February, and March 2010. On March 26, 2010, the Company’s board of
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directors declared distributions payable to the stockholders of record each day during the months of
April, May, and June 2010. Distributions payable to each stockholder of record will be paid in cash on
or before the 16th day of the following month.

Over the long term, we expect that more of our distributions will be paid from cash flow provided
by operations (except with respect to distributions related to sales of our assets). However, operating
performance cannot be accurately predicted due to numerous factors, including our ability to raise and
invest capital at favorable yields, the financial performance of our investments in the current real estate
environment, the types and mix of investments in our portfolio and the accounting treatment of our
investments in accordance with our accounting policies.

For further discussion regarding our ability to sustain the current level of our distributions, see
“Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion-and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Distributions.”

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On January 4, 2008, our Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-140887), covering a
public offering of up to 125,000,000 shares of common stock, was declared effective under the
Securities Act of 1933. The Offering:commenced on-January 21, 2008 and is ongoing, We expect to sell
the shares offered in our public offering over a three-year period. Under rules promuigated by the
SEC, in some circumstances we may continue the offering beyond this date. Our board of directors has
the discretion to extend the offering period for the shares offered under the DRP up to the sixth
anniversary of the termination of the primary offermg

We are offering a maximum of 100,000,000 shares in our primary offering at an aggregate offerrng
price of up to $1 billion, or $10.00 per share with discounts available to certain categories of
purchasers The 25,000,000 shares offered under the DRP are being offered at an aggregate offering
price of $237.5 million, or $9.50 per.share. We may reallocate the shares of common stock being
offered between the primary offering and the DRP.-Behringer Securities LP, an affiliate of our advisor,
is the dealer manager of our offering. As of December 31, 2009, we had sold 14,710,354 shares of our
common stock, net of the 22,471 shares issued to Behringer Harvard Holdings, on a best efforts‘basis
pursuant to the Offering for gross offering proceeds of approximately $146.7 million.

" From the cornmencernent of the Offering through December 31, 2009 we incurred the following
expenses in connection with the issuance and distribution of the regrstered securltles pursuant to the
Offering ($ in thousands)

Type of Expense ' ’ . : - Amount

Other expenses to affiliates® .. ... ... T P eeea..... $19389

Other expenses to non-affiliates . . ......... L —
Total expenses .......... e e PRI $19,389

®  “Other expenses to afflllates includes commissions and dealer manager fees paid to
-~ Behringer Securities, which reallowed all or a. portion of the commissions and fees. to
soliciting dealers

From the commencement of the Offering through December 31, 2009, the net offermg proceeds to,
us from the Offering, including the DRP, after deducting the total expenses incurred described above,.
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were $127.3 million. From the commencement of the Offering through December 31, 2009, we had
used $67.2 million of such net proceeds to purchase interests in-real estate, net of notes payable and
real estate-related investments. Of the amount used for the purchase of these investments, $2: million
was paid to Behringer Opportunity Adv1sors II, as acquisition and advisory fees and acqu1s1t10n expense
relmbursement

Securmes Authorrzed for Issuance under Equlty Compensatlon Plans v

The following table provides.information regardmg our equity compensatlon plans as. of
December 31, 2009: .

: Number of securities
Number of securities to-be .. Welghted-average remaining available for

. issued upon exercise of exercise price of future issuance
outstanding options, °  outstanding options, under equity

Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights compensation plans

Equity compensation plans approved S ’ S
by security holders ............. — — 10,000,000*

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders . . . ...

10,000,000*

5
g
I

I

.~ All shares authorized for issuance pursuant to awards not yet granted under the Incentive Plan.

Share Redemptlon Program

Our board of directors has authorized a share redemptlon program for stockholders who have held
their shares for more than one year subJect to the’ s1gn1flcant COIldlthIlS and limitations of the
program. : :

Under our share redemption program the per share redempnon prlce will equal:

* in the case of Ordinary Redemptions, 90%. of (i).the most recently disclosed estimated Value per
‘share (the “Valuation”) as determined in accordance with our valuation policy (the “Valuation -
Policy™), as such Valuation Policy is amended from:time to time, less (ii) the aggregate’
distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or more of our assets; or
other special distributions so designated :by: our board of directors, distributed to stockholders:
after the Valuation was determined (the “Valuation Adjustment”); provided, however, that the
‘purchase price per share shall not exceed: (1) prior to the first Valuation conducted by our -
board of directors, or a committee thereof (the “Initial Board Valuation’ ’), under the Valuatlon
Policy, 90% of (i) the Original Share Price (as defined herein) less (ii) the aggregate
distributions per share of any net sale proceeds from the sale of one or more. of our assets, or
other special distributions so designated by our board of directors, distributed to stockholders
prior to the redemption date (the “Special Distributions”); or (2) on or after the Initial Board
Valuation, the Original Share Price less any Special Distributions; and

* in the case of Exceptional Redemptions, (1) prior to the Initial Board Valuation, the Original
Share Price less any Special Distributions; or (2) on or after the Initial Board Valuation, the
most recently disclosed: Valuation less any-Valuation Adjustment, provided, however, that the
purchase price per share shall not exceed the Original Share Price léss any Special Distributions.

“Original Share Price” means the average price per share the original purchaser or purchasers of
shares paid to us for all of his or her shares (as adjusted for any stock dividends, combinations, ‘splits,
recapitalizations and the like with respect to our common stock). :
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Notwithstanding the redemption prices set forth above, our board of directors may determine,
whether pursuant to formulae or processes approved or set by our board of directors, the redemption
price of the shares, which may differ between Ordinary Redemptions and Exceptional Redemptions;
provided, however, that we must provide at least 30 days’ notice to stockholders before applying this
new price determined by our board of directors. :

Under our share redemption program, we will not redeem, during any twelve-month period, more
than 5% of the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the twelve-month period
immediately prior to the date of redemption. In addition, the cash available for redemption on any
particular date will generally be limited to the proceeds from the DRP during the period consisting of
the preceding four fiscal quarters for which financial statements are available, less any cash already
used for redemptions during the same period, plus, if we had positive operating cash flow during such
preceding four fiscal quartets, 1% of all operating cash flow during such preceding four fiscal quarters.

During the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2009, we redeemed sharés as follows:

Total Number of Maximum

Shares Purchased  Number of Shares
as Part of That May Be
: Publicly Purchased Under
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans the Plans or
2009 . ‘ Shares Redeemed  Paid Per Share or Programs . Programs
OCtober. . ..ot in — $ — —
November .................... 39,813 $9.19 -~ 39,813 1)
December . .........ovuurenn.. — $ — —
39,813 $9.19 39,813 Y

(1) A description of the maximum number. of shares that may be purchased under-our redemption
program is included in the narratlve preceding this table.

Item 6 Selected Fmancxal Data

We were formed on January 9, 2007 and commenced operatlons on Aprrl 1, 2008 when we -
accepted the minimum amount of subscriptions pursuant to the Offering. At December 31, 2007 we
owned no properties. _ G

As of December 31, 2008, we wholly: owned one property, an offlce bulldmg located in Denver
Colorado (“1875 Lawrence”): . ‘

As of December 31; 2009, we had invested in four real estate and real estate related assets and
consohdated three: :

s 1875. Lawrence' .

* areal estate loan receivable to provide up to $25 million of second lien financing (“PAL’ Loan”)
for the privatization of and lmprovements to, approx1mately 3,200 hotel lodging units on ten '
US. Army 1nsta11at10ns and

* a 90% interest in a promissory note secured by a flrst lien mortgage The:collateral for the:
- promissory note-is a 408-unit mult1fam1ly complex ‘Palms of Monterrey, on a 28-acre site. located
in Fort Myers, Florida. - .

In addition, we have a noncontrollmg, unconsolidated interest in an investment that is accounted
for‘using the equity method of accountlng, a 9.99% 1nterest ina mult1fam11y property 1n Kllleen Texas
(“Stone Creek”).
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The following data should be read in-conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
the notes thereto and “Management’s. Discussion and Analysis-of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected data below has
been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements (in thousands, except per share
amounts).

December 31, :
© 2009 2008 2007

Total assets . .......... YRR $144,937 $86,343  $203
.Long-term debt obligations . . . . ....c, . ..o $ 18,500 $18,500 $ —
Other liabilities . . ... T S : 3,838 9,021 54
BQUity . . o oooee e e e i 122,599 58,822 149
Total liabilities and equity . . . . . ... e $144,937 $86,343 $203

From Inception
Year Ended Year Ended (January 9, 2007)

December 31, December 31, through
’ o _ v 2009 2008 December 31, 2007
Revenues . ... . ... ivuivee. .. $ 6,375 $ 913 $ —
Netloss ....oovviiiiinennn... $(1,075) $ (249) $ (52)
Add: Net loss attributable to the
noncontrolling interest . ......... $ 9 $ — $ —
Net loss attributable to Behringer o
Harvard Opportunity REIT 1L, Inc. ..  $(1,066) $ (249) $ (52)
Basic and diluted loss per share ...... $ (0.10) $(0.09) $(2.30)
Distributions declared per share ...... - § 042 ~ § 0 23 $ —

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of F1nanc1al Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conJunctlon with the accompanymg
consohdated financial statements and the notes thereto. :

Executive Overview

We were formed primarily to acquire and operate commercial real estate and real estate-related
assets on an opportunistic basis. In particular, we focus generally on acquiring commercial properties:
with significant possibilities for short-term capital appreciation, such as those requiring development,
redevelopment or repositioning, those located in markets and submarkets with high growth potential,
and those available from sellers who are distressed or face time-sensitive deadlines. In addition, given
current economic conditions, our opportunistic investment strategy may also include investments in
loans secured by or related to real estate at more. attractive rates of current return than have been
available for some time. Such loan investments may have capltal gain characteristics, whether as a
result of a discount purchase or related equity participations. We may acquire a wide variety of
commercial properties, including office, industrial, retail, hospitality, recreation and leisure, single-
tenant, multifamily, and other real properties. These properties may be existing, income-producing
properties, newly constructed properties or properties under development or construction, and may
include multifamily properties purchased for conversion into condominiums and single-tenant properties
that may be converted for multi-tenant use. Further, we may invest in real estate-related securities,
1nclud1ng securities issued by other real estate companies, either for investment or in change of control
transactions completed on a negotiated basis or otherwise. We also may originate or invest in -
collateralized mortgage-backed securities, mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans, and Section 1031
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tenant-in-common interests (including those issued by affiliates of our- advisor) or in entities that make
investments similar to the foregoing. We expect to make our investments in or in respect of real estate
assets located in the United States and other countries based on current market conditions.

On February 26, 2007, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S- 11 with the SEC to offer up to
125,000,000 shares of common stock for sale to the public, of which 25,000,000 shares are being offered
pursuant to our DRP. We reserve the right to reallocate the shares we are offering between our
primary offering and the DRP. The SEC declared our Registration Statement effective on January 4,
2008, and we commenced our ongoing initial public offering on January 21, 2008. We commenced
operations on April 1, 2008 upon satisfaction of the conditions of our escrow agreement and
acceptance of initial subscriptions of common stock.

Market Outlook

Beginning in 2008, the U.S. and global economies have experienced a significant downturn. This
downturn included d1srupt10ns in the broader financial and credit markets, declining consumer
confidence, and an increase in unemployment rates. These conditions have contributed to weakened
market condltlons Due to the struggling U.S. and global economies, including losses in the financial
and professional services industries, overall demand across most real estate sectors including office,
multifamily, hospitality, and retail continued to remain low. Further, we believe that correspondrng
rental rates will also remain weak at least through the first half of 2010. The national vacancy
percentage for office space increased from 14.5% in the fourth quarter of 2008 to 19.7% in the fourth
quarter of 2009. Office vacancies are expected to peak at over 21% in 2010. We also believe that tenant
defaults and bankruptcies. are likely to increase in the short-term. To date, we have not experlenced -any
srgmﬁcant tenant defaults resulting in the loss of material rental income. -

As a result of the existing economic conditions, our primary ob]ectlves are to raise capital and to
take advantage of favorable investment opportunities. We believe that the current economic
environment will result in investment opportunities for many high- quality real estate and real
estate-related assets. To the extent that we have capital available to invest, we plan to actively pursue
1nvestment opportunities.

qumdlty and Capltal Resources

Our principal demands for funds will be for the acquisition of real estate and real estate-related
assets, for the payment of operating expenses and distributions, and for the payment of interest on our
outstanding indebtedness. ‘Generally, we expect to meet cash needs for items other than acquisitions
from our cash flow from operations, and we expect to meet cash needs for achISltIOI‘IS from the net,
proceeds of the Offering and from financings.

We expect to fund our short-term liquidity requirements by using the net proceeds realized from
the Offering and cash flow from the operations of investments we acquire. Operating cash flows are
expected to increase as additional real estate assets are added to the portfolio. For both our short-term
and long-term liquidity requirements, other potential future sources of capital may include proceeds.
from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders, proceeds from the sale of our,
investments, if and when any are sold, and undistributed funds from operations. If necessary, we may
use financings or other sources of capital in the event of unforeseen 51gn1f1cant cap1ta1 expenditures.

Our adv1sor may, but is not required to, establish capital reserves from gross offering proceeds out
of cash flow generated by operating properties and other investments, or out of non-liquidating net sale
proceeds from the sale of our properties and other investments. Cap1ta1 reserves are typically utilized
for non-operating expenses such as tenant improvements, leasing commissions and major Capital
expenditures. Alternatively, a lender may require its own formula for escrow of capital reserves.
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We intend. to borrow money to acquire properties and make: other:investments. There is-no
limitation on the amount we may invest in any single property or:other asset or on the amount we can
borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other investment.: Under our charter, the
maximum amount of our indebtedness shall not exceed 300% of our “net assets” (as defined by the
NASAA REIT Guidelines) as of the date of any borrowing; however, we may exceed that 11m1t if o
approved by a majority of our independent directors. In addition to our charter limitation, our board of
directors has adopted a policy to generally limit our aggregate borrowings to approxrmately 75% of the-
aggregate value of our assets unless substantial justification exists that borrowing a greater amount is in
our best interests. Our policy limitation, however, does not apply to individual real estate assets and
will only apply once we have ceased raising capital under the Offering or any subsequent offering and
invested substantially all of our capital. As a result, we expect to borrow more than 75% of the contract
purchase price of each real estate asset we acquire during the early periods of our operatlons to the
extent our board of directors determines that borrowing at these levels is prudent.

The commerc1al real estate debt markets are continuing to expertence VOlatlllty as'a result of
certain factors, 1nc1ud1ng the tightening of underwriting standards by lenders and credit rating agencnes
Credit spreads for major sources of capital have widened significantly as investors have demanded a
hlgher risk premium. This is resulting in lenders increasing the cost for debt financing. Consequently,
there is greater uncertainty regarding our ability to access the credit markets in order to attract ‘
financing on reasonable terms. Our ability to borrow funds to finance future acquisitions could be
adversely affected by our 1nab111ty to secure permanent f1nanc1ng on reasonable terms, f at all.

Should the overall cost of borrowings increase, either by increases in-the 1ndex rates or by
increases in lender spreads, we will need to factor such increases into the economics of our :
acquisitions, developments and property contributions. This may result in. our investment operations -
generating lower overall economic returns and a reduced level of cash flow, which could potentially
impact our ability to' make distributions to our stockholders at current levels. In addition, the recent
dislocations in the debt markets have reduced the amount of capltal that is available to finance real
estate, which, in turn: (i) leads to a decline in real estate values generally, (n) slows real estate.
transaction actrvrty, (iii) reduces the loan to value upon which lenders are willing to extend debt; and,
(iv) results in difficulty in refinancing debt as it becomes due, all of which may reasonably be expected
to have a material adverse impact on the value of real estate investments and the revenues, income or
cash flow from the acquisition and operations of real properties and mortgage loans. In addition, the’
current state of the debt markets has negatively impacted the ability to raise equity capital.

If the current debt market environment persists, we may modify our investment strategles in order '
to seek to optimize our portfolio performance. Our strategies may 1nclude among other, options,
limiting or eliminating the use of debt and focusing on those investments that do not require the use of
leverage to meet our portfolio goals. o

Debt Financings

We may, from time to time, make mortgage, bridge, or mezzanine loans arid other loans for
acquisitions and investments as well as property development. We may obtain financing at thé time an
asset is acquired or an investment is made or at such later time as determined to be necessary,
depending on multiple factors.

At December 31, 2009, our note payable balance was $18.5 million and consisted of the note
payable related to 1875 Lawrence. We have unconditionally guaranteéd payment of the loan for an
amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) $11.75 million and (ii) 50% of the total amount advanced under
the loan agreement if the aggregate amount advanced is less than $23.5 million. At December 31, 2009,
the interest rate on this note was 6.25%, and the loan matures on December 31, 2012. Our loan
agreement stipulates that we comply with certain reporting and financial covenants. These covenants
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include, among other things, maintaining minimum debt service coverage ratios. As of December 31,
2009, we believe we were in compliance with the debt covenants under our loan agreement.

~ One of our principal long-term liquidity requirements includes the repayment of maturing debt.
The following table provides information with respect to the maturities and scheduled principal
repayments of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2009. The table does not represent any extension
options.

Paymvents Due by Period

2010 2011 2012 After 2012 'Total
Principal payments—variable rate debt. . .......... $ — § 293 $18,207 $— $18,500
Interest payments—rvariable rate debt (based on rates o o
in effect as of December 31», 2009)_ ............. 1,172 1,164 1,241 . LT 3,577
Total ... v SL172 0 $1,457  $19448 - §— $22,077

Results of Operations

As of December 31, 2009 we had invested in four real estate and real estate related assets and:
consolidated three

* 1875 Lawrence, an office building located in Denver, Colorado;

* PAL Loan‘ a real estate loan receivable to provide upto $25 million of second lien financing for
the privatization of and improvements to, approximately 3,200 hotel lodglng units on ten U. S
Army installations that we purchased in order to pr0V1de mterest income; and

* Palms of Monterrey, a 90% interest in a promissory note secured bya frrst lien mortgage ‘The
“collateral for the promissory note is a 408-unit multi-family complex on a 28-acre site located:in
Fort Myers, Florida. After December:31, 2009, we reached .an agreement with. the borrower so
that the borrower will no longer contest the foreclosure proceedings in exchange for
$0.3 million. We expect to complete the foreclosure process and secure a fee srmple 1nterest in
‘the property in the second quarter of 2010

In addltlon we have noncontrolhng, unconsohdated interest in an 1nvestment that is accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, a 9.99% interest in a multifamily property, Stone Creek; in
Killeen, Texas

As of December 31, 2008 we had mvested in only one asset 1875 Lawrence Accordlngly, our
results of operations for the respective per1ods presented reflect increases 1n most categories due to the
growth of our portfolio. Management expects increases in most categories in the future as we purchase
additional real estate and real estate-related assets and as we begm to realize the full year 1mpact of
our 2009 acquisitions. ,
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Year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2008

Year Ended Increase
December 31, (Décrease)
- 2009 2008 Amount  Percent
Revenues: : . : Lo :
Rental revenue . ... i $5,484 $ 913 $4,571 501%
Interest income, from real estate loans receivable ............ 891 — 891  n/a
Total revenue . . ............. O $6,375 $§ 913 §$5,462  598%
Expenses: ' N .
Property operating expenses. . . . . . .. e S $1,381  $ 302 $1,079 357%
Interest expense .......... JR 1,309 — 1,309 n/a
Real estate taxes . . .. ....... e e 646 77 569  739%
Property management fees. .. ......... ... ... .. ... .. ... 172 34 138 406%
Asset management fees . .. ... ... ... L o i 457 61 396 649%
General and administrative . ...................0c...... 1,545 652 893 137%
Depreciation and amortization . . .. . e e e e i TN S 2,422 399 2,023 507%
TOtAl EXPEISES . o v v v it e e $7,932 $1,525 $6,407 420%

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009 were $6.4 million and consisted of
rental revenues of $5 5 million which were generated by 1875 Lawrence and interest income from the
PAL Loan of $0.9 m11110n At December 31, 2009, only $12.8 million was outstandmg of the total
$25 million available under the PAL Loan. Accordingly, we expect increases in interest income from
real estate loans receivable as the remaining amounts available under the PAL Loan are funded in
2010. We expect increases in rental revenue in the future as we complete the foreclosure on the Palms
of Monterrey property and as we purchase additional real estate propertles

Property 0peratmg Expenses Property operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2009
were $1.4 million and were comprised of a full year of operating expenses for 1875 Lawrence. For the
year ended December 31, 2008, property operating expenses were $0.3 million on approximately two
months of expenses for 1875 Lawrence, which was acquired on October 28, 2008. We expect increases
in property operating expenses in the future as we purchase additional real estate properties. '

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $1.3 million and was
for interest related to our note payable for 1875 Lawrence. We incurred no interest expense for the
year ended December 31, 2008.

"Real Estate Taxes. Real estate taxes for the year ended December 31, 2009.were: $0.6 million and
were for a full year of taxes on 1875 Lawrence. Real estate taxes for the year ended December 31,
2008 were $0.1 million and were comprised of approximately two months of real estate taxes related to
1875 Lawrence. We expect increases in real estate taxes in the future as we purchase additional real
estate properties.

Property Management Fees. Property management fees for the year ended December 31, 2009
were $0.2 million and consisted primarily of a full year of fees for 1875 Lawrence. Property
management fees for the year ended December 31, 2008 were less than $0.1 million and were
comprised of fees related to 1875 Lawrence which was acquired on October 28, 2008. We expect
increases in property management fees in the future as we purchase additional real estate properties.

Asset Management Fees. Asset management fees for the year ended December 31, 2009 were
$0.5 million and consisted primarily of a full year of fees for 1875 Lawrence. We also incurred asset
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management fees of less than $0.1 million each related to the PAL Loan, Palms of Monterrey, and
Stone Creek. Asset management fees for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $0.1 million and
were comprised of fees related to 1875 Lawrence. We expect increases in asset management fees in the
future as we purchase additional real estate properties.

General and Administrative Expenses. = General and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2009 were $1.5 million, as compared to $0.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2008 and were comprised of auditing fees, legal fees, board of directors’ fees, and other administrative
expenses. We expect increases in general and administrative expenses in the future as we purchase
additional real estate properties.

Depreczatzon and Amortization Expense. Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended
December 31, 2009 was $2.4 million and was comprised of a full year of depreciation and amortization
related to 1875 Lawrence. Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31,
2008 was $0.4 million and was comprised of depreciation and amortization related to 1875 Lawrence.
We expect increases in depreciation and amortization expense in the future as we purchase additional
real estate properties.

Ftscal :year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the period from January 9, 2007 (date of
mceptton) through December 31, 2007. - .

Fof the Period from

. Increase
Year Ended Ji 9, 2007
D:cilhlblelr e31, (date oz;'l;zzc‘gtion) through __(PEE“*‘L
) 2008 December 31, 2007 Amount Percent
Revenues:

Rental revenue ................. e $ 913 _ $— $ 913 n/a
Total revenue: . .« .. ovv v vv v vnn.. e e $ 913 $— $ 913 n/a
Expenses: '

Property operating expenses . . ........... $ 302 $— $ 302 n/a

Real estate taxes . ................... . 77 — 77 n/a

Property management fees.. . ............ 34 . — 34 - n/a

Asset management fees .. .............. 61 — 61 n/a

General and administrative.. . . ........... -652 54 . 598  1107%

Depreciation and amortization .. . . . e 399 — 399 n/a
Total eXPENSES . . v v v v v vt i e $1,525 $54 $1,471 2724%

Revenues. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $0.9 million and were generated
by our consolidated property, 1875 Lawrence, which was acquired on October 28, 2008. No revenue
was generated for the period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through December 31, 2007.

Property Operating Expenses.” Property operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008
were $0.3 million and were comprised of operating expenses of 1875 Lawrence. We incurred no
property operating expenses for the penod from January 9, 2007 (date of 1ncept10n) through
December 31, 2007.

Real Estate Taxes. Real estate taxes for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $0.1 million and
were comprlsed of real estate taxes related to 1875 Lawrence. We incurred no real estate taxes for the
period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through December 31, 2007.

Property/Asset Management Fees. Property and asset management fees for the year ended
December 31, 2008 were $0.1 million and were comprised of fees related to 1875 Lawrence. There
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were no property and asset management fees for the period from January 9, 2007 (date of 1ncept10n)
through December 31;.2007. L S At

~ General and Admzmstratlve Expenses General and admmlstratlve expenses for the. year ended '
December 31, 2008 were $0.7 million, as compared to $0.1 million for the period from January 9, 2007
(date of.inception) through December 31, 2007, and were comprised of aud1t1ng fees legal fees,-board
of directors’ fees, and other administrative expenses. . ; :

Depreczatzon and Amomzatzon Expense Depre01at10n and amortlzatlon expense for the .year ended
December 31, 2008 was $0.4 million and was comprised of depreciation and, amortization related to
1875 Lawrence. There was no depreciation and amortization expense for the perlod from January 9,
2007 (date of 1ncept10n) through December 31, 2007. s

Cash Flow Analysns e
Ftscal year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008

Cash flows provxded by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2009 were
$0.3 million and were comprised primarily of the net loss of $1.1 million, an increase in accounts
receivable. of $0.3 'million, and an increase-in interest receivable for real estate loans receivable of *
$0.4 million, partially offset by an increase in accrued liabilities of $0.4 million; an increase. in payables
to related parties of $0.4 million, and depreciation and amortization of $1.3 million. Cash flows used in
operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $0.1 million and were comprised
primarily of the net loss of $0.2 million, a decrease in payables to related parties of $0.2 million, and
prepaid expenses and other assets of $0.1 million, partially offset by an increase in accrued liabilities of
$0.4 million. :

Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2009 were $40.6 million
and were ¢comprised primarily of $39.7 million for the investments in the PAL Loan and Palms of - "~
Monterrey real estate loans receivable. Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2008 were $35.1 million and represent the purchase of 1875 Lawrence. V

- Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31; 2009 were /
$60.4 million and were comprised primarily of the issuance of common stock, net of offering costs, of
$59.7 million. Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 were
$82.3 million and were comprised primarily of the issuance of common stock; het of offering costs, of
$64 5 mllhon and loan proceeds of $18.5 million related to the note payable on 1875 Lawrence.

Flscal year ended Deeember 31, 2008 as compared to the pertod Jrom January 9 2007 (date of
mceptton) through December 31, 2007 . :

Cash' flows used in operating activities for the year ‘ended December 31, 2008 were '$0.1 million
and were comprised primarily of the net‘loss of $0.2 million, decrease in payables to related partles of
$0.2 million and prepaid expenses and other assets of $0.1 million, partially offset by increase in
accrued liabilities of $0.4 million, which consists prlmarlly of accrued property taxes on 1875 Lawrence ”
and deprec1at10n and amortization of $0.2, million. For the period from January 9, 2007 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2007, cash flows provided by operating activities were less than o
$0.1 million and consisted of the net loss offset by changes in accrued liabilities.

Cash flows used in mvestmg activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $35. 1 m11110n »
and represent the ‘purchase of 1875 Lawrence. There was no cash flow from 1nvest1ng act1v1t1es for the
period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through December 31, 2007. "

Cash flows provided by financing activities for the year énded December 31, 2008 were ‘
$82.3 million and were comprised primarily of the issuance of common stock; net of offering costs; of -
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$64.5 million and loan proceeds of $18.5 million related to the note payable on 1875 Lawrence. Cash
provided by financing activities for the period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through
December 31, 2007 was $0.2 million and con31sted of proceeds from the 1ssuance of common and
convertlble stock : - :

Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

- Funds from operations (“FFO”) is a non-GAAP financial measure that is widely recognized as a
measure of REIT operating performance. We use FFO, defined by the National Association of Real
Estate Investment Trusts as net income (loss), computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding
extraordinary items, as defined by GAAP, and-gains (or losses) from sales of property, plus depreciation
and amortization on real estateassets, and after adjustments for ‘unconsolidated partnerships, joint
ventures; and subsidiaries, as one measure to evaluate our operating performance. In addition to FFO,
we use modified funds from operations (“Modified Funds from Operations” or “MFFO”), which
excludes from FFO acquisition-related costs, impairment charges, and adjustments to fair value for
derivatives not quallfylng for hedge accounting, to further evaluate our operating performance

Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that
the'value of real estate diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate values have historically risen
or fallen with market-conditions, many industry investors and analysts’ have considered the presentation
of operating results for real estate companies that usé histotical cost accounting alone'to be =
insufficient. As' a result, our management believes that the use of FFO and MFFO, together w1th the :
required GAAP presentations, provides a more complete understanding of ‘our performance. S

We believe' that FFO is helpful to investors and our management as a medsure of operating
perfermance because it excludes depreciation and amortization, gains and losses from property -
dispositions; and extraordinary items, and as a result; when compared year to year, reflects the impact -
on operations from trends in occupancy rates, tertal rates, operating costs, development activities,
general-and administrative expenses, and interest costs, ‘which is ‘not immediately apparent from net
income. We believe MFFO- is helpful to our investors and ‘our management as a medsure of operating -
performance because it excludes-costs that management considers' more reflective of investing activities
and other non-operating items included in FFO. By'providing MFFO, we present information that’
assists investors in aligning their analysis with management’s analysis of long term, core operating
activities. We believe fluctuations in MFFO are more indicative of changes in operating activities and
provide comparability in evaluating our performance over time and as compared to other real estate
companies that may not have acquisition activities, derivatives, or affected by impairments.

As explained below, management’s evaluation of our operating performance excludes the items
considered in the calculation of MFFO based on the following economic considerations:

* Acquisition-related costs. In evaluating investments in real estate, including both business
combinations and investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting,
management’s investment models and analysis differentiates costs to acquire the investment from
the operations derived from the investment. Prior to 2009, acquisition costs for these types of
investments were capitalized; however beginning in 2009 acquisition costs related to business
combinations are expensed. We believe by excluding expensed acquisition costs, MFFO provides
useful supplemental information that is comparable for each type of our real estate investments
and is consistent with management’s analysis of the investing and operating performance of our
properties.

* Impairment charges. An impairment charge represents a downward adjustment to the carrying
amount of a long-lived asset to reflect the current valuation of the asset even when the asset is
intended to be held long-term. Such adjustment, when properly recognized under GAAP, may
lag the underlying consequences related to rental rates, occupancy and other operating
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. performance trends. The valuation is also based, in part, on the impact of current market
fluctuations and estimates of future capital requirements and long-term operating performance
that may not be directly attributable to current operating performance. Because MFFO excludes
impairment charges, management believes MFFO provides useful supplemental information by
focusing on the changes in our operating fundamentals rather than changes that may reflect only
anticipated losses. :

* Adjustments to fair value for derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting. Management uses
derivatives in the management,of our debt and interest rate exposure. We do not.intend to
speculate in these interest rate derivatives and accordingly period-to-period changes in derivative
valuations are not primary factors in management’s decision-making process. We believe by

‘ excluding the gains or losses from these derivatives, MFFO provides useful supplemental

ﬂuetuatlons :

FFO or MFFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss), as ‘an indication of
our liquidity, nor as dn indication of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to
make distributions and should be reviewed in connection with other GAAP measurements. For the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, we present only FFO as we did not.report any such
acquisition-related expenses, impairment charges, or adjustments to fair value for derivatives not
qualifying for hedge accounting in our Consolidated Statements of Operations nor did we have any
derivative financial instruments for the periods presented. Our FFO as presented may not be
comparable to amounts calculated by other REITS..

For the year ended December 31, 2009, FFO per.share has been impacted by the increase in net
proceeds realized from our existing offering of shares. ‘During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009,
we sold 7.1 million shares of our common stock, increasing our outstanding shares by 100%. The
proceeds from the issuance are temporarily invested in short-term cash equivalents until they can be
invested in real estate and real estate-related assets. Due to lower, interest rates on cash equivalent
investments, interest earnings were minimal. We expect to invest these proceeds in higher earning real .
estate and real estate-related assets consistent with our investment policy. We believe this will add value
to our stockholders over our longer term investment horizon, even if this results in less current period
earnings.
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- Our calculation of FFO for the years ended December 31,2009 and 2008 and the period from
January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through December 31, 2007 is presented below (amounts in
thousands except per share amounts)

. i . For the Period from
For the Year Ended  For the Year Ended January 9, 2007 (date

December 31, December 31, *of inception) Through
s 2009 2008 December 31, 2007

Netloss . ovvvvinn i ' $(1,075) $(249) $ (52)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest , 9 — —
Adjustments for: v

Real estate depreciation and amortization . . 2,422 399 —

Pro rata share of unconsolidated JV.

depreciation and amortization®. ... . ... : 8 — -

Funds from operations (FFO) ............. - $ 1,364 $ 150 $ (52)
Other Adjustments: ‘ - ' '

Acquisition expenses ................. T — — —

Impairment charge . . ............... - —_ — —

(Gain) loss on derivatives not designated as

- hedging instruments:. . .............. L — —. —
MFFO ...... O ST $ 1,364 $ 150 $ (52)
GAAP weighted average shares: ) . , L o

Basicand diluted . . .............. S 10,592 o 2859 . 22

MFFO per share . . .. .. e 0§ 013 $ 0.05 $(2.36)

@ This represents the depreciation and amortization expense of our share of depreciation and
amortization expense of Stone Creek Wthh we account for under the equlty ‘method of accounting.

@ This reflects the noncontrolhng mterest ad]ustment for the third-party partners proportronate
share of the real estate depre01at10n and amortrzatlon

Prov1ded below is addltlonal mformatlon related to selected non- -cash items 1ncluded in net loss
above, which may be helpful in assessmg our operating results.

* Straight-line rental revenue of $0.2 million and less than $0.1 mrlhon was recognized for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

* ‘Amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities was recognized as a net increase to rental
revenues of $1.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2009
and 2008, respectively.

* Amortization of deferred financing costs of apprommately $0.1 million was recognized as interest
expense for our note payable for the year ended December 31, 2009 No such charges were
incurred for the year ended December 31, 2008.

In addition, cash flows generated from FFO may be used to fund all or a portion of certain
capitalizable items that are excluded from FFO, such as capital expenditures and payments of principal
on debt, each of which may impact the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

Distributions

Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of directors based on its analysis of our
performance over the previous period, expectations of performance for future periods, including actual
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and anticipated operating cash flow, changes in market capitalization rates for investments suitable for
our portfolio, capital expenditure needs, general financial condition, and other factors-that our board
deems relevant. The board’s decision will be influenced, in substantial part, by its obligation to.ensure
that we maintain our status as a REIT. In light of the pervasive and fundamental disruptions in the
global financial and real estate markets, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to achieve
expected cash flows necessary to continue to pay distributions at any particular level, or at all. If the
current economic conditions continue, our board could determine to reduce our current distribution
rate or cease paying distributions in order to conserve cash.

Until proceeds from the Offering are fully invested and generating sufficient operating cash flow to
fully fund the payment of distributions to our stockholders, we have and will continue to pay some or
all of our distributions from sources other than operating cash flow. We may, for example, generate
cash to pay distributions from financing activities, components of which may include proceeds from the
Offering and borrowings (including borrowings secured by our assets) in anticipation of future
operating cash flow. In addition, from time to time, our advisor and its affiliates may agree to waive or
defer all, or a portion, of the acquisition, asset management or other fees or incentives due to them,
pay general administrative expenses or otherwise supplement investor returns in order to increase the
amount of cash that we have available to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Cash amounts distributed to stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2009 were
$1.1 million. Distributions funded through the issuance of shares under the DRP during the year ended
December 31, 2009 were $3.1 million. For the year ended December 31, 2009, cash flows provided by . -
operating activities were $0.3 million. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2009, none of the
cash flows provided by operations exceeded cash amounts distributed to stockholders. Cash amounts-
distributed to stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2008 were $0.2 million. Distributions'
funded through the issuance of shares under the DRP during the year ended December 31, 2008 were -
$0.5 million. For the year ended December 31, 2008, cash flows used in operating activities were
$0.1 million. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2008, none of the cash flows from -
operating activities exceeded cash amounts distributed to stockholders. The shortfall for the years - -
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was funded from proceeds from the Offering.

The amount by which our distributions paid. exceeded cash ﬂow from operating act1v1t1es has
increased due to a higher distribution rate and increased proceeds from the Offering. Effective June 1,
2009, our board of directors increased our distribution rate from an annual effective rate of 3.0% to
5.0%. As a result, future distributions declared and paid may continue to exceed cash flow from
operating activities until such time that we invest in additional real estate or real estate-related assets at
favorable yields.

The following are the distributions paid and declared as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 (amounts
in thousands except per share amounts). .

Cash Flow Total " Declared

) Distributions Paid Provided by (Used = Distributions . Distribution

E(_)?g » Cash Reinvested Total In) Operations Declared - Per Share
4th Quarter . ............. ©$ 440 $1,150  $1,590 $1,016  $1,703 $0.126
3rd Quarter ...... e 364 997 1,361 (724) 1,437 0.126
2nd Quarter . ... ... ... ... 172 505 677 174 - 881 0.091

Ist Quarter. .............. 138 416 554 (151) 586 0.074 -
Total .. ........... AU '$1,114  $3,068  $4,182 $ 315 $4,607 $0.417
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. . Cash Flow Total Declared

Distributions Paid Provided by (Used  Distributions  Distribution

% 4 ‘ " 'Cash  Reinvested  Total In) Operations Declared Per Share
4thQuarter................. $105 $334 $439 $ 722 $494 $0.076
3rdQuarter. . ............... 54 158 212 (681) 297 - 0.076
2nd Quarter ................ 8 25 33 (122) 74 0.075
IstQuarter . ................ e — _ (14) — —

Total ....... e $167  $517  $684  § (95) $865 $0.227

Distributions declared per share assumes the share was issued and outstanding each day during the
period and was based on a declared daily distribution rate of $0.0008219 per share per day for the
period through May 31, 2009. As of June 1, 2009, the effective daily distribution rate is $0.0013699.
Each day during the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2009 was a record date for distributions.
On December 15, 2009, the Company’s board of directors declared distributions payable to the
stockholders of record each day during the months of January, February, and March 2010. Distributions
payable to each:stockholder of record will be pa1d in cash on or before the 16th day of the. following
month.

Operating performance cannot be accurately predlcted due to numerous factors 1nclud1ng our
ability to raise and invest capital at favorable yields, the financial performance of our investments in the
current real estate environment, the types and mix of investments in our portfoho and the accounting
treatment of our investments in accordance with our accouriting pohcres

Contractual Obligations'

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2009 (amounts in
thousands):

Note Payable' K : - Total 2010 2011 - 2012 2013 2014  Thereafter

Principal . ... ... ... ...ee..... . $18500 § — '$ 293 $18207 $— $—  $—
INterest . . ...... uuueeeeenin... L3577 LI 1164 1241 — — —
TOtal «voeeeeeeeean e $22077 $L,172 $1457, $19448 $— $—  $—

In addltlon we have agreed to provrde up to.$25 million of second lien fmancmg related to the
PAL Loan, of which approximately $12.8 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2009.

Off—Balance, Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a current or future
material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results
of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources..

Critical Accounting Pollc1es and Estimates

Management’s dlscussmn and analysis of financial cond1t1on and results of operatlons are based
upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of Amerlca The preparation of these. financial
statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. On a regular basis, we evaluate these estimates, including investment impairment. These
estimates are based on management’s historical 1ndustry experience and on various other assumptions.
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

79



Below is a discussion of the accounting policies that we consider to be critical in that they may
require complex judgment in thelr application or require estimates about matters that are inherently
uncertain.

" Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of other sub51d1ar1es
over which we have control. All inter-company transactions, balances, and profits have been eliminated
in consolidation. Interests in entities acquired will be evaluated based on applicable GAAP, which
includes the requirement to consolidate entities deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIE”) in
which we are the primary beneficiary. If the interest in the entity is determined not to be a VIE, then
the entities will be evaluated for consolidation based on legal form, economic substance, and the extent
to which we have control and/or substantive participating rights under the respective ownership
agreement. :

There are judgments and estimates involved in determining if an éntity in which we have made an
investment is a' VIE and, if so, whether we are the primary beneficiary. The entity is evaluated to
determine if it is a VIE by, among other things, calculating the percentage of equity being risked
compared to the total equity of the entity. Determining expected future losses involves assumptions of
various possibilities of the results of future operations of the entity, assigning a probablhty to each
possibility and using a discount rate to determine the net present value of those future lo_sses A change
in the judgments, assumptions, and estimates outlined above could result in consolidating an entity that
should not be consolidated or accounting for an investment using the equity method that should in fact
be consolidated, the effects of which could be material to our financial statements..

Real Estate

Upon the acquisition of real estate properties, we recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, and:any noncontrolling interest as of the acquisition date, measured at their fair values. The
acquisition date is the date on which we obtain control of the real estate property. The assets acquired
and liabilities assumed may consist of buildings, any assumed debt, identified intangible assets and asset
retirement obligations. Identified intangible assets generally consist of the above-market and below-
market leases, in-place leases, in-place tenant improvements and tenant relationships. Goodwill is
recognized as of the acquisition date and measured as the aggregate fair value of the consideration
transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired. Likewise, a bargain purchase gain is recognized in current earnings when the aggregate fair
value of the consideration transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree is less than the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period
incurred.

Initial valuations are subject to change until our mformatlon is finalized, Wthh is no later than
twelve months from the acquisition date. :

We determine the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for acquired properties
based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases
acquired) of the difference between (1) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place
leases and (2) managemeit’s estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place
leases, measured over a period equal to (a) the remaining non-cancelable lease term for above-market
leases, or (b) the remaining non-cancelable lease term plus any fixed rate renewal option for below-
market leases. We record the fair value of above-market and below-market leases as intangible assets
or intangible liabilities, respectively, and amortlze them as an ad;ustment to rental income over the
above determined lease term. ' '
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The total value of identified real estate intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place
lease values and tenant relationiships based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of each
tenant’s lease and our overall relationship with that respective tenant. The aggregate value of in-place
leases acquired and tenant relationships is determined by applying a fair value model. The estimates of
fair value of in-place leases include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods
for the respective spaces, considering current market conditions. In estimating fair value of in-place
leases, we consider items such as real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses, as well as
lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up period and carrying costs that would have otherwise
been incurred had the leases not been in place, including tenant improvements and commissions. The
estimates of the fair value of tenant relationships also include costs to execute similar leases, including
leasing commissions, legal costs and tenant improvements as well as an estimate of the likelihood of
renewal as determmed by management on a tenant-by-tenant basis.

We amortize the value of in- place leases to expense over the term of the respectlve leases. The
value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial term and any
anticipated renewal periods, but.in no event does the amortization period for intangible assets exceed
the remaining depreciable life of the building. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized
portion of the in-place lease value and tenant relationship intangibles is charged to expense.

Revenue Recogmtton '

We recognize rental income generated from leases on real estate assets on a straight- -line ba51s
over the terms of the respective leases, including the effect of rent holidays, if any. Straight-line rental
revenue of $0.2 million and less than $0.1 million was recognized in rental revenues for the _years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respecuvely ‘

We recognize interest income from real estate loans receivable on an accrual basis over the life of
the loan using the interest method. ‘Direct loan origination fees and origination or acquisition costs, as
well as acquisition premiums or dlscounts are amortized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to
interest income. We will stop accruing interest on loans when there is concern as to the ultimate
collection of principal or interest of the loan. In the event that we stop accruing interest on a loan, we
will generally not recognize subsequent interest income until cash is received or we make the decision
to restart interest accrual on the loan.

Investment Impalrments

For real estate we wholly.own, we monitor events and changes in circumstances 1ndlcat1ng that the
carrying amounts of the real estate assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in
circumstances are present, we assess potential impairment by comparing estimated future undiscounted
operating cash flows expected to be generated over the life of the asset and from its eventual
disposition to the carrying amount of the asset. In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated future undiscounted operating cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to adjust the
carrying amount of the asset to estimated fair value. We consider projected future undiscounted cash
flows, trends, strategic decisions regarding future development plans, and other factors in our
assessment of whether impairment conditions exist. While we believe our estimates of future cash flows
are reasonable, different assumptions regarding factors such as market rents, economic conditions, and
occupancy rates could significantly affect these estimates. '

In addition, we evaluate our investments in real estate loans receivable each reporting date and if
it is probable we will not collect all principal and interest in accordance with the terms of the loan, we
will record an impairment charge based on these evaluations. While we believe it is currently probable
we will collect all scheduled principal and interest with respect to our real estate loans receivable,
current market conditions with respect to credit availability and with respect to real estate market.
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fundamentals create a significant amount of uncertainty. Given this, any future adverse development in
market conditions may cause us to re-evaluate our conclusions,-and could result in material impairment
charges with respect to .our real estate loans receivable. :

‘In evaluating our investments for impairment, management may use appralsals and makes
estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, the projected date of disposition of the
properties, the estimated future cash flows of thie properties during our ownership, and the projected
sales price of each of the properties. A change in these estimates and assumptions could result in
understating or overstating the book value of our 1nvestments which could be material to our flnanaal
statements.

We believe the carrying value of our,operating real estate and loan investments is currently
recoverable. Accordingly, there were no impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2009 or--
2008. However, if market conditions worsen beyond our current expectations, or if changes in our
strategy significantly affect any key assumptions used in our fair value calculations, we may need to
take charges in future periods for impairments related to our existing investments. Any such non-cash
charges would have an adverse effect on our consohdated f1nanc1al posmon and results of operations.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) delayed the effective date
of applying updated accounting guidance in regards to nonrecurring fair value measurements of
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities until the fiscal year beginning after November 1, 2008.
We adopted the updated accounting guidance effective January 1, 2009, and this adoption is expected |
to enhance our future disclosures regardlng how we develop fair value estimates related to
non-financial assets and liabilities in our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance on business combinations. The
updated guidance retains the fundamental requirement that the acqulsmon method of accounting, or
purchase method, be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be identified for each -
business combination. This Statement is broader in scope than the original guidance, which apphed
only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring consideration. The updated
guidance applies the same method of accounting (the acquisition method) to all transactions and other
events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. This Statement also
makes certain other modifications, including a broader definition of a business and the requirement
that acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. This statement applies to business combinations
occurring on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
December 15, 2008. The acquisition. of real estate property has been determined to meet the definition
of a business combination as defined in the updated guidance. Therefore, effective January 1, 2009, we
no longer capitalize acquisition related costs for future acquisitions of real estate properties, but
expense such costs as incurred. :

In February 2007, the FASB issued updated guidance regarding the fair value option for financial
assets and financial liabilities. The fair value option established by the new guidance permits all entities
to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. A business entity will report
unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings (or
another performance indicator if the business entity does not report earnings) at each subsequent
reporting date. We adopted this standard effective January 1, 2008 but have not elected the fair value
measurement option for any financial assets or liabilities at the present time; however, we may elect to
measure future eligible financial assets or liabilities at fair value.

In March 2008, the FASB issued hpdate‘d guidance for disclosures about derivative instruments and
hedging activities. The updated accounting guidance is intended to improve-financial reporting about
derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors to
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better understand their effects on an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.
Our adoption of the updated accounting guidance affected disclosures only and had no impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

~ In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on noncontrolling interests. This
guidance clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to as
mmonty interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity
in the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, this guidance requires
consolidated net income to be reported, on the face of the consolidated statement of operations, at
amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolhng interest. We
adopted this guidance on January 1, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB issued a staff position providing additional guidance for estimating fait
value when there has been a significant decrease in market activity for a financial asset. This staff
position re-emphasizes that regardless of market conditions the fair value measurement is an exit price
concept. It clarifies and includes additional factors to consider in determining whether there has been a
significant -decrease in market activity for an asset or liability and provides additional clarification on
estimating fair value when the market activity for an asset or liability has declined significantly. This -
guidance is applied prospectively to all fair value measurements where appropriate and is effective for
interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. The implementation of this guidance on
June 30, 2009 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for
the consolidation of variable interest entities. The guidance eliminates exceptions to consolidating
qualifying special-purpose entities, contains new critetia for determining the primary beneficiary, and
increases the frequency of required reassessments to determine whether a company is the primary -
beneficiary of a variable interest entity. It also contains a new requirement that any term, transaction,
or arrangement that does not have a substantive effect on an entlty s status as a variable interest entity,
a company’s power over a variable interest entity, or a company’s obligation to absorb losses or its
rights to receive benefits of an entity must be disregarded. The guidance is applicable for annual
periods after November 15, 2009 and interim periods thereafter. The implementation of this guidance
on January 1, 2010, did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Further, the new accounting standard related to the consolidation of Varlable interest entities
requires an enterprise to perform a qualitative analysis when determining whether or not it must
consolidate a variable interest entity. Additionally, it requires enhanced disclosures about an
enterprise’s involvement with variable interest entities and any significant change in risk exposure due
to that involvement, as well as how significant its involvement with the variable interest entity impacts
the enterprise’s financial statements. Finally, an enterprise is required to disclose significant judgments
and assumptions used to determine whether or not to consolidate a variable interest entity. The
adoption of this accounting standard did not change any of our previous conclusions regarding our
variable interest entities and thus did not have an effect on our financial position, results of operations,
or liquidity.

Inflation

The real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in the past several years due
to the relatively low inflation rate. However, we intend to include provisions in the majority of our
tenant leases that would protect us from the impact of inflation. These provisions include
reimbursement billings for common area maintenance charges, real estate tax and insurance
reimbursements on a per square foot basis, or in some cases, annual reimbursement of operatmg
expenses above a certain per square foot allowance
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
* Interest Rate Risk '

We may be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as a result of long term debt used to acquire
properties and make loans and other permitted investments. Our management’s objectives, with regard
to interest rate risks, are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to
lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, we will borrow primarily at fixed rates or
variable rates with the lowest margins available and in some cases, with the ability to convert variable
rates to fixed rates. With regard to variable rate financing, we will assess interest rate cash flow risk by
continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate exposures that may adversely impact
expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities. We may enter into derivative
financial instruments such as options, forwards, interest rate, swaps, caps, or floors to mitigate. our
interest rate risk on a related financial instrument or to effectively lock the interest rate portion of our
variable rate debt.. At December 31, 2009, we had one note payable outstanding that was subject to a
variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a margin of 2.5%. However, the note payable has a
minimum interest rate of 6.25%, which if the. LIBOR rate increased 100 basis points would not result
in an increase to a rate above the minimum.

Interest rate fluctuations will generally hot affect our future earnings or cash flows on our fixed
rate real estate loan receivable, the PAL Loan, unless such instruments mature or are otherwise
terminated. However, interest rate changes will affect the fair value of our fixed rate instrument. As we
expect to hold the PAL Loan to maturity and the amounts due under the loan would be limited to-the
outstanding principal balance and any accrued and unpaid interest, we do not expect that fluctuations
in interest rates would have a significant impact on the cash flows of our fixed rate real estate loan
receivable.

The PAL Loan, a fixed rate real estate loan receivable, with $12.8 million outstanding under the
loan as of December 31, 2009, has a maturity date of September 1, 2016 and accrues interest at 18%
per annum. The PAL Loan is subject to market risk to the extent that the stated interest rate varies
from current market rates for loans made under similar terms.

We have initiated foreclosure proceedmgs against the Palms. of Monterrey borrower in order to
take a fee simple interest in the property, a 408-unit multifamily complex on a 28-acre site located in
Fort Myers, Florida. We expect the foreclosure process to be complete in the second quarter of 2010.
Accordingly, we do not beheve that there is significant interest rate risk assocxated with this investment.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information requlred by this Item 8 is included in our Oonsohdated Financial Statements
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report.on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures.
Evaluatzon of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As requlred by Rule 13a-15(b) and Rule 15d-15(b) under the Exchange Act our management
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of December 31, 2009,
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)
and Rule 15d-15(¢). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective, as of December 31, 2009, to
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provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in this report is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the
Exchange Act and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures.

We believe, however, that a controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot
provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls systems are met, and no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error, if any,
within a company have been detected. :

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over =~
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)). Our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of December 31, 2009,
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our internal controls, as of December 31, 2009, were effective.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public
accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not
subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules, of the
Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. ' ‘ : S

Changes in Internal Control.over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
quarter ended December 31, 2009 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. : L

Itvem: 9B. Other Information.

None.
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, ~ PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Coi'p'oraté ‘Governance.
Directors ;.. . , o » ) '

Because our directors take a critical role in guiding our strategic direction and oversee our o
management, they must demonstrate broad-based business and professional skills and experiences,.’
concern for the long-term interests of our stockholders, and personal integrity and judgment. In
addition, our directors. must have time available to-devote to board activities and. to enhance their
knowledge of our industry. As described further below, we believe our directors have the, appropriate
mix of experiences, qualifications, attributes, and skills required of our board members in the context of
the current needs of our company. .. - S

Robert M. Behringer, 61, has served as our Chairman of the Board and a director since our -
inception in November 2007. From January,2007 until June 2008, he also served as our Chief: Executive
Officer and Chief Investment Officer. He has also served. as the sole manager and Chief Executive
Officer of Behringer Harvard Holdings, the indirect parent corporation of our advisor, since December
2001. Mr. Behringer has also served as Chairman of the Board and a director of Behringer Harvard:
REIT I, Inc. (“Behringer Harvard REIT I”) since June 2002, Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT I,
Inc. (“Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT I”) since January 2007, and Behringer Harvard ;. ... .
Opportunity REIT I, Inc. (“Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I”) since November 2004, each a
publicly registered REIT, and Behringer Harvard REIT 11, Inc. (“Behringer Harvard REIT I1”), a
recently formed REIT, since April 2007. Since 2002, Mr. Behringer has béen a general partner of '
Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund I LP (“Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity
Fund”) and Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund I LP (“Behringer Harvard =~
Mid-Term Value Enhancement Fund”), each a publicly registered real estate limited partnership.’

Mr. Behringer also controls the general partners of Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund I
LP (“Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund I”) and Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity
Fund II.LP (“Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund II”"), private real estate limited .
partnerships. Since 2001, Mr. Behringer also has been the Chief Executive Officer of the other :
companies affiliated with Behringer Harvard Holdings, LLC. — L -

From 1995 until 2001, Mr. Behringer was Chief Executive Officer of Harvard Property Trust, Inc.,
a privately-held REIT formed by Mr. Behringer that has been liquidated and that had a net asset value
of approximately $200 million before its liquidation. Before forming Harvard Property Trust, Incy;
Mr. Behringer invested in commercial real estate as Behringer Partners, a sole proprietorship formed in
1989 that invested in single asset limited partnerships. From 1985 until 1993, Mr. Behringer was Vice
President and Investment Officer of Equitable Real Estate Investment Management, Inc. (now known
as Lend Lease Real Estate Investments, Inc.), one of the largest pension fund advisors and owners of
real estate in the United States. While at Equitable, Mr. Behringer was responsible for its General
Account Real Estate Assets located in the south-central United States, which included working on
mortgage loan “workouts” and restructurings. The portfolio included institutional-quality office,
industrial, retail, apartment and hotel properties exceeding 17 million square feet with a value of
approximately $2.8 billion. Mr. Behringer’s experience at Equitable required him to negotiate unique
terms (such as loan length, interest rates, principal payments, loan covenants (i.e., debt to equity
ratios), collateral, guaranties and general credit enhancements) for each restructured loan, specifically
tailored to the debtor’s particular facts and circumstances and market conditions. Although
Mr. Behringer was a significant participant in acquisitions, management, leasing, redevelopment and
dispositions, his primary responsibility was to increase net operating income and the overall value of
the portfolio.

Mr. Behringer has over 25 years of experience in real estate investment, management, and finance
activities, including approximately 140 different properties with over 24 million square feet of office,
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retail, industrial, apartment,.hotel and recreational space. Since the founding of the Behringer Harvard
organization, Mr. Behringer’s experience includes an additional approximately 140 properties, with over
approximately 31 million square feet of office; retail, industrial, apartment, hotel and recreational
properties. Mr. Behringer is a Certified Property Manager, Real Property Administrator and Certified
Hotel Administrator, holds FINRA Series 7, 24 and 63. registrations and is a member of the Institite of
Real Estate Management, the Building Owners and Managers Association, the Urban Land Institute
and the Real Estate Council. Mr. Behringer was also a licensed certified public d@ccountant. for over. .
20 years. Mr. Behringer received a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Minnesota. -

Our Board of Directors has concluded that Mr. Behringer is qualified to serve as-one of our
directors and  the Chairman of the Board for reasons including his over 25 years of- experlence in real”’
estate investing and having sponsored numerous: public and private real estate programs. Further, as -
Chairman of the Board and a director of Behringer Harvard REIT 1, Behringer Harvard Multifamily * -
REIT I and Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT 1, he has an understanding ‘of the requirements of:
serving-on a‘public company board ‘and the: leadershlp expemence necessary to serve as the Chalrman
of the Board of our company. » 4 . o

Robert S. ‘Aisner, 63, has served as our Chlef Executive Offlcer since June 2008 and as our
President and one of our directors since our inception in January 2007. From January 2007 through o
June 2008, Mr. Aisner served as our Chief Operating Officer. In addition, Mr. Aisner has served as
President since May 2005, Chief Executive Officer since July 2009 and from June. 2008 until May 2009
and a director since June 2003 of Behrmger Harvard REIT I, Inc. Mr. Aisner also has served as
President since November 2004 Chief Executlve Offlcer since June 2008, and a dlrector since
November 2004 of Behringer Harvard Opportunrty REIT 1, Inc., as Chief Executlve Officer and a . '
director of Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT I since August 2006 and as President since Aprll 2007.
and Chief Executive Officer since September 2008 of Behringer Harvard REIT II. Mr. Aisner is also
Chief Executive Officer of our advisor and President and Co Chief Operatmg Offlcer of our sponsor
Behnnger Harvard Holdmgs ' S ML :

Mr. Alsner has over 30 years of commermal real estate experlence In addltlon to Mr. Arsner s
commercial real estate experience, as an officer and director of Behringer Harvard sponsored programs
and their advisors, Mr. Aisner has overseen the acquisition, structurrng and management of various .
types of real estate-related loans, including mortgages and mezzanine loans. From 1996 until joining
Behringer Harvard in 2003, Mr. Aisner seérved as: (1) Executive Vice: President of AMLI- Re31dent1al
Properties Trust, formerly a:New York Stock Exchange-listed REIT focused on the development, -
acquisition and management of upscale apartment.communities and served as advisor and asset
manager for institutional investors with respect to their multifamily real .estate investment activities;

(2) President of AMLI Management Company, which oversaw all of AMLI’s apartment: operations in
80 communities; (3) President of the'AMLI Corporate Homes division that managed AMLI’s" ‘corporate
housing properties; (4) Vice President of AMLI Residential Construction; a division of AMLI that
performed real estate construction services; and (5) Vice President of AMLI Institutional Advisors, the:
AMLI division that served as institutional advisor and asset'manager for institutional investors with =
respect to their multifamily real estate activities. Mr. Aisner also served on AMLI’s Executive" '
Committee and'Investment Committee. From 1994 until 1996, Mr. Aisner owned and operated Regents
Management, Inc., which had both a multifamily development and construction group and a general
commercial property management group. Mr. Aisner is.a member of the Board of Directors of the
Association of Foreign Investors in Real Estate (AFIRE) the Board of Dlrectors of the National
Multi-Housing Council (NMHC), the Urban Land Institute (ULI) and the Pension Real Estate o
Association (PREA). From 1984 to 1994, Mr. Aisner served as Vice President of HRW Resources, Inc.,
a real estate development and management company. Mr. Aisner received a Bachelor of Arts degree
from Colby College and a Masters of Business Admlnlstratron degree from the Umversny of New .
Hampshire. ~
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Our board of directors has concluded that Mr. Aisner is qualified to serve as one of our directors
for reasons including his over 30 years of commercial real estate experience. This experience allows him
to offer valuable insight and advice with respect to our investments and investment strategies. In .
addition, as the Chief Executive Officer of our advisor and with prior experience as an executive officer;
of a New York Stock Exchange-listed REIT, Mr. Aisner is able to direct to the board of directors to -
the critical issues facing our company. Further, as a director of Behringer Harvard REIT I, Behringer.
Harvard Multifamily REIT I, and Behringer Harvard Opportumty REIT I, he has an understandmg of
the requirements of serving on a public company board. : :

Andreas K. Bremer, 53, has served as one of our independent directors since November. 2007.
Mr. Bremer currently serves as Executive Vice President of International Capital, LLC, a position he
has held since 2005. Mr. Bremer joined International Capital as its. Chief Financial Officer in October
2002. International Capital specializes in acquisition, disposition, management and administration of
commercial investment properties, and Mr. Bremer is responsible for all financial aspects of the
company’s operations. Before joining International Capital, Mr. Bremer was the Chief Financial Officer
of ATLASwerks®, a leading communication software company in Dallas. He acted as a corporate
finance consultant for two years at McKinsey & Co. in both the Dallas and New York offices and
served as Vice President of Finance and Treasurer at Paging Network, Inc. Mr. Bremer started his’
career at COMMERZBANK AG in Germany and spent seven of his 13-year tenure at the company’s
New York and Atlanta offices. Mr. Bremer has over 20 years of financial and general management
experience with extensive knowledge of corporate finance and commercial lending both in the United
States and other countries, partlcularly Germany. He is the Director of the Texas Warburg Chapter of
the American Council on Germany in Dallas and as Knight of Honor is a member of the Order of
St. John. Mr. Bremer recelved a law degree from the Johannes-Gutenberg University in Mainz,
Germany.

Our board of directors has concluded that Mr. Bremer is quahfled to serve as one of our dlrectors
for reasons including his over 20 years financial and general management experlence including
international corporate finance and commercial lendmg Mr. Bremer has served in various financial
management positions and has significant experience in acquisition, disposition, management, and
administration of commerc1al real estate investments. In addltlon Mr. Bremer’s international
background brings a unique perspective to our board.

Jeffrey P Mayer, 53, has served as one of our 1ndependent directors since November 2007 and is
chairman of our audit committee. Mr. Mayer is currently a consultant serving the real estate industry -
and he currently holds the Certified Turnaround Professional designation. From 2000 until 2007,

Mr. Mayer was the Chief Financial Officer of ClubCorp, Inc., a holding-company that owns and
operates premier golf and business clubs and destination golf resorts. He previously served as Chief
Financial Officer of Bristol Hotels & Resorts in Dallas, a position he held from 1996 until the
company’s acquisition by Bass PLC in early 2000. Prior to joining Bristol, he was Corporate Controller :
at Host Marriott Corporation (formerly Marriott Corporation) and, prior to that, held various senior
financial positions at Marriott Corporation. Mr. Mayer is a member of Financial Executives .
International, the Turnaround Management Association and the National Association of Corporate - - -
Directors. He was a board member of the Dallas Children’s Advocacy Center. A graduate of the
College of William & Mary, he began his career as an accountant with Arthur Andersen LLP.

Our Board of Directors has concluded that Mr. Mayer is qualified to serve as one of our directors.
and as Chairman of our Audit Committee for reasons including his over 30 years of accounting and
finance experience in the commercial real estate 1ndustry In particular, Mr. Mayer has served as Chief
Financial Officer for two commercial real estate companies and has significant management experience
relating to preparing and reviewing financial statements and coordinating with external auditors. =~
Mr. Mayer continues to provide consulting services to the commercial real estate industry, and i isin
tune with current industry trends and issues. '
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Diane S. Detering-Paddison, 50, has served as one of our independent directors since June 2009.
Ms. Detering-Paddison was recently appointed Chief Strategy Officer of Cassidy Turley, one of the -
nation’s largest commercial real estate service providers.  Prior to joining Cassidy Turley, Ms. Detering-
Paddison served as the Chief Operating Officer of ProLogis, the an owner, manager, and developer of -
distribution facilities, from June 2008 until January 2009. Prior to that Ms. Detering-Paddison was with
CB Richard Ellis and Trammell Crow Company for over twenty years. During her time there she
served as Senior Vice President, Corporate and Investor Client Accounts from April 2001 until
December 2004, Chief Operating Officer, Global Services from January 2005 until December 2006, and
President, Global Corporate Services—Client Accounts from December 2006 until May 2008.
Ms. Detering-Paddison was part of a ten member executive team that managed the merger between
Trammell Crow Company and CB Richard Ellis in December 2006. Ms. Detering-Paddison holds an
Master of Business Administration degree from the Harvard Graduate School of Business and a
Bachelor of Science degree from Oregon State University-where she graduated as Valedictorian.

Our Board of Directors has concluded that Ms. Detering-Paddison is qualified to serves as one of
our directors for reasons including her over 20 years of management experience. Ms. Detering-Paddison
continues to provide advisory and consultmg services in her position as Chief Strategy Officer of -
Cassidy Turley, and, as such, remains in tune with industry trends and issues. With her background,

Ms. Detering-Paddison brings substantial 1n51ght and experlence with respect to the commercial real
estate industry. :

Cynthia Pharr Lee, 61, has served as one of our 1ndependent dlrectors since November 2007.
Ms. Pharr Lee has served as President of C. Pharr & Company, a marketlng communications
consulting firm since 1993, providing strategic brand, marketing and public relations services to many
real estate, construction and design firms, in addition to other corporate clients. Ms. Pharr Lee also
serves as a member of the board or-directors of CEC Entertainment, Inc. (CEC-NYSE) and its audit
and compensation committees. A ‘co-founder ‘of Texas Women Ventures Fund, Ms. Pharr Lee serves on’
the Fund’s Investment Advisory Committee and is also a board member of Southwest Venture Forum.
Ms. Pharr Lee is a former president of Executive Women of Dallas and former national chairman of
the Counselor’s Academy of the Public Relations Society of America. From May 1989 through
February 1993, Ms: Pharr Lee was president and chief executive officer of Tracy Locke/Pharr Public
Relations, a division of Omnicom (NYSE). She received her Bachelor of Science degree in English
(summa cum laude) and her Master of Arts degree in English from M1s31551pp1 State University.

Our board of directors has concluded that Ms. Pharr Lee is qualified to serve as one of our
directors for reasons including her over 20 years management experience in the public relations and
marketing communications industry, with significant experience working with commercial real estate
and construction firms. Ms. Pharr Lee has also served on the board of directors of a New York Stock
Exchange listed company, which allows her to provide valuable knowledge and insight into management
issues. In addition, Ms. Pharr Lee’s background compliments that of our other board members, and
brings a unlque perspectlve to our board

Executive Officers

In addition to Robert M. Behrmger and Robert S. Alsner, the followmg individuals serve as our
executive officers: ,

Gerald J. Reihsen, III, 50, has served as our Executive Vice Pre51dent—Corporate Development &
Legal since our inception in January 2007. He also serves in these capacities with our advisor and in
these and similar capacities with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings, including.
Behringer Harvard REIT I, Behringer Harvard REIT II, Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I and .
Behringer Harvard Multlfamrly REIT 1. Mr. Relhsen is also President of Behringer Securities LP.

89



For over 20 years, Mr. Reihsen’s business and legal background has centered on.sophisticated
financial and transactional matters, including commercial real estate transactions, real estate
partnerships, and public and private securities- offerings. For the period. from 1985 to 2000, Mr. Reihsen
practiced as an outside corporate securities attorney. After serving from 1986 to 1995 in the corporate
department of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, a leading international commercial law firm, Mr. Reihsen -
established his own firm, Travis. & Reihsen, where he served as a corporate/securities partner until :
1998. In 1998, Mr, Reihsen became the lead partner in the corporate/securities section of the law firm
Novakov Davis, where he served until 2000, In 2000, he practiced law as a principal of Block &
Balestri, a corporate and securities. law firm. In 2000 and-2001, Mr. Reihsen was employed as the Vice -
President—Corporate Development and Legal of Xybridge Technologies, Inc., a telecommunications
software company that Mr. Reihsen helped guide through venture funding, strategic alliances with
international telecommunications leaders and its ultimate sale to Zhone Technologies, Inc. Mr. Reihsenr
holds FINRA Series 7, 24, 27 and 63 registrations. Mr. Reihsen received a Bachelor -of ‘Arts degree,
magna cum laude, from the Umversxty of Mississippi and a Juris Doctorate degree, cum laude, from
the Unlversxty of Wisconsin.

Gary S. Bresky, 43, has served as our Chlef Fmanc1a1 Offlcer since .our mceptlon in January 2007,
Executive Vice President since June 2007, and Treasurer since June 2008. Mr. Bresky also is the
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of our, advisor.and serves in-these and similar
executive capacities with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings, including Behringer
Harvard REIT 1, Behringer Harvard REIT II, Behrlnger Harvard Opportunity REIT I and Behringer
Harvard Multifamily REIT 1.

Mzr. Bresky has been active in commerc1al real estate and related f1nanc1a1 act1v1tles for over .
20 years. Prior to joining Behringer Harvard in 2002, Mr. Bresky served, from 1997 to 2001, as a Senior
Vice President of Finance with Harvard Property Trust, Inc. In this capacity, Mr. Bresky was
responsible for directing all accounting and financial reporting functions and overseeing all treasury
management and banking functions for the company. Mr. Bresky also was integral in.analyzing deal
and capital structures as well as participating in all major decisions related to any acquisition or sale of
assets. From 1995 until 1996, Mr. Bresky worked in the Real Estate Group at Coopers & Lybrand LLP
in Dallas, Texas, where he focused on finance and accounting for both public and private real estate
investment trusts. His experience included conducting annual audits, preparing quarterly and annual
public securities reporting compliance filings and public real estate securities registration statements for
his clients. From 1989 to 1994, Mr. Bresky worked with Ten West Associates, LTD and Westwood
Financial Corporation in Los Angeles California as a real estate analyst and asset manager for two
commercial real estate portfolios totaling in excess of $185 million. From 1988 until 1989, Mr. Bresky
worked as an analysts” assistant for both Shearson-Lehman Bros., Inc. and Hambrecht and Quist Inc.,
assisting brokers in portfolio management. Mr. Bresky holds FINRA Series 7, 24, 27 and 63 '
registrations. Mr. Bresky received a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California—
Berkeley and a Masters of Business Administration degree from the Umversrcy of Texas at Austin.

M. Jason Mattox, 34, has served as our Executive Vice Presrdent since our 1ncept10n inlJ anuary
2007. Mr. Mattox also serves as an Executive Vice President of our advisor and serves-in these and
similar executive capacities with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings, including
Behringer Harvard REIT I, Behringer Harvard REIT II, Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I and
Behringer Harvard Multifamily REIT L

From 1997 until joining Behrmger Harvard in 2002, Mr. Mattox served as a Vice President of
Harvard Property Trust, Inc. and became a member of its Investment Committee in 1998. From 1999
until 2001, Mr. Mattox served as Vice President of Sun Resorts International, Inc., a recreational
property investment company, coordmatlng marina acquisitions throughout the southern United States
and the U.S. Virgin Islands. From 1999 until 2001, in addition to providing services related to investing,
acquisition, disposition, and operational activities, Mr. Mattox served as an asset manager with
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responsibility for over one million square feet of Harvard Property Trust, Inc.’s commercial office assets
in Texas and Minnesota, overseeing property performance management offices, personnel and
outsourcing relationships.

Mr. Mattox is a continuing ‘member of the Building Owners and Managers Association and the
National Association of Industrial and Office Properties. Mr. Mattox holds FINRA Series 7, 24 and 63
registrations. Mr. Mattox received a Bachelor of Business Administration degree, with honors and a
Bachelor of Scrence degree, cum laude, from Southern Methodist University.

Samuel A Glllespre, 51, has served as our Chief Operating Officer since June 2008 In addition,
Mr. Gillespie has served as Senior Vice President—Funds Management of Harvard Property
Trust, LLC, the managing member of our advisor, since March 2006. Prior to that Mr. Gillespie served
as Vice President of various Behringer Harvard sponsored entities. Mr. Gillespie also serves as Chief -
Operating Officer for Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I, and for the general partner of
Behringer Harvard Short-Term Opportunity Fund I and Behringer Harvard Mid-Term Value
Enhancement Fund L. In addltlon Mr. Gillespie also serves as the Chief Operating Officer of v
Behringer I—Iarvard Strategic Opportunity Fund I and Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund II.

Mr. Gillespre has: over 25 years of experience in the commercial real estate industry guiding
diverse and sophisticated portfolios. Prior to joining Behringer Harvard in November 2004,
Mr. Gillespie was with. the Trammell Crow Company for 21 years. At Trammell Crow, he held the
position of Managing Director of National Accounts and was responsible: for Trammell Crow
Company’s largest institutional customers. Prior to that, Mr. Gillespie was partner in charge of
Trammell' Crow’s Indianapolis office from 1986 to 1997. He began his career with Trammell Crow as a
leasing agent in Oklahoma City in 1983. Mr. Gillespie holds a Bachelor of Science degree, summa cum
laude, in accounting from Texas A&M University, and holds the CCIM designation. :

Key Personnel
"The followmg 1nd1v1duals are non-executive personnel who are important to.our success:

" James D. Fant, 50, is Senior Vice Presrdent—Real Estate and Chief Investment Officer of our
advisor. Mr. Fant also serves as Senior Vlce President—Real Estate of Behringer Harvard Opportunity
Advisors I, LLC, and serves in this capacity for Harvard Property Trust, the general partner of our
advisor, and with other entities sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr. Fant joined Behrrnger
Harvard in April 2005.

Mr. Fant has been in the commercral real estate business since 1983. primarily in investment «
advisory services, project development, and investment sales. From October 2002 until March 2005,
Mr. Fant was the founder of an adv1sory business providing financial and real estate services to small
businesses. From March 2000 until September 2002, Mr. Fant served as Vice President of ‘Acquisitions
for the pension advisory firm Kennedy Associates, sourcing opportunity acquisitions and ground up
development transactions with local development partners in the mid continent region of the country.
From October 1998 until February 2000, he served as Vice President for Metro-Américan Developers
and Investors sourcing development and investment opportunities. Mr. Fant served. in multiple
capacities for MEPC American Properties from December 1983 until September 1998. As Senior Vice
President, his. responsibilities included acquisitions and dispositions, pro;ect development and asset
management in markets throughout the country. Mr. Fant has experience in a variety, of product types
including office, industrial, and retajl. Mr. Fant received a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
from the University of Texas at Arhngton is a Certified Public Accountant licensed in the State of
Texas and is a Licensed Real Estate Salesman.

Albert J. Palamara, 54, currently serves as Senior Vice President and Portfolio Manager of our
advisor and Behringer Harvard Opportunity Advisors I, LLC. Prior to joining the company in 2007,
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Mr. Palamara was Senior Vice President of Lexington Realty Trust, one of the largest publicly traded
REITS in the United States that specializes in single tenant, net.leased properties. In this role, he
oversaw asset management for approximately $1 billion of office and industrial assets. In-addition,

Mr. Palamara helped the company open its Dallas office in May 2005. From 2004 until 2005,

Mr. Palamara was the Chief Operatmg Officer for Holt Lunsford Commercial, one of Dallas’ largest
management and leasing companies. For seven years prior to that, Mr. Palamara was Senior Asset
Manager at INVESCO Real Estate, a pension fund advisor. He began his real estate career with
LaSalle Partners (now Jones Lang LaSalle) in 1987 and spent 10 years with its management services
group specializing in property management, leasing, and redeveloping office properties. Mr. Palamara
holds a Master of Business Admmlstratlon degree and Bachelor of Arts degree from Baylor University.

Sectlon 16(a) Beneficral Ownership Reporting Compllance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires each director, officer,
and individual beneficially owning more than 10% of a registered security of the Company to file with
the SEC, within spec1f1ed time frames, initial statements of beneficial ownershlp (Form 3) and
statements of changes in beneficial ownership (Forms 4 and 5) of common stock of the Company.
These specified time frames require the reporting of changes in ownership within two business days of
the transaction giving rise to the reporting obligation. Reporting persons are required to furnish us with
copies of all Section 16(a) forms filed with the SEC. Based solely on a review of the copies of such
forms furnished to the Company during and with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 or
written representations that no additional forms were required, to the best of our knowledge, all
required Section 16(a) filings were timely and correctly made by reporting persons during 2009.

Code of Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct Policy that is applicable to all
members of our board of directors, our executive officers and employees of our advisor and its
affiliates. We have posted the policy on the website maintained for us at www.behringerharvard.com. If,
in the future, we amend, modify or waive a provision in the Code of Business Conduct Policy, we may,
rather than filing a Current Report on Form 8-K, satisfy the disclosure requirement by promptly
posting such information on the website maintained for us as necessary. '

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Audit Committee consists of independent directors Jeffrey P. Mayer, the chairman,
Andreas K. Bremer, Diane S. Deterlng -Paddison, and Cynthia Pharr Lee. Our board of directors has
determined that Mr. Mayer is an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined by the rules of the
SEC. The biography of Mr. Mayer including his relevant qualifications, is previously descrlbed in this
Item 10.

Item 11. Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

- We do not directly compensate our named executlve officers, including Mr. Aisner, our Chief
Executive Officer, for services rendered to us, and we do not intend to pay any compensation directly
to our executive officers. As a result, we do not have, nor has our board of directors considered a
compensation policy or program for our executive officers and thus we have not included a
Compensation Discussion and Analysis in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. '
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Directors’ Compensation

We pay each of our directors who is not an employee of the Company, Behringer Harvard
Opportunity Advisors II or their affiliates an annual retainer of $25,000. In addition, we pay the
chairperson of the Audit Committee an annual retainer of $10,000 and the chairpersons of our
Nominating and Compensation Committees annual retainers of $5,000 each. These retainers are
payable quarterly in arrears. In addition, we pay each non-employee director (a) $1,000 for each board
of directors or committee meeting attended in person, (b) $500 for each board of directors or
committee meeting attended by telephone and (c) $500 for each written consent considered. by the
director.

All directors receive reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection
with attendance at meetings of our board of directors. If a director is also an employee of us, or an
employee of Behringer Harvard Opportunity Adv1sors II or its afflhates we do not pay compensatlon
for services rendered as a director.

Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our director compensation durlng
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009

Fees Earned or
Name Paid in Cash ($§) Option Awards ($)(1) Total ($)

Robert M. Behringer . .......... o — = —
Robert S. Aisner .............. — —

Andreas K. Bremer ............ $45,500.00® — $45,500.00
Jeffrey P Mayer . .. ............ $52,000.00) - " $52,000.00
Diane S. Detering-Paddison ......  $18,500.00 R — -~ $18,500.00
Cynthia Pharr Lee .. ....... e $46,000.009 — $46,000,00-

@ The value of stock option awards represents the amount of compensation cost under
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718.

@ Includes payment of $10,500.00 in 2009 for services rendered in 2008.
®  Includes payment of $11,750.00 in 2009 for services rendered in 2008.

Incentive Award Plan

Our 2007 Amended and Restated Incentive Award Plan (the “Incentive Award Plan”) was
approved by the board of directors and stockholders on December 19, 2007. The Incentive Award Plan
is administered by our Compensation Committee and provides for equity awards to our employees,
directors and consultants and those of our advisor and its affiliates. The Incentive Award Plan
authorizes the grant of non-qualified and incentive stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted
stock units, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalents and other stock-based awards. A total of
10,000,000 shares have been authorized and reserved for issuance under our Incentive Award Plan. No
awards have been issued under the Incentive Award Plan, and we currently have no plans to issue any
additional awards under the Incentive Award Plan.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No member of our compensation committee served as an officer or employee of the Company or
any of our subsidiaries during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 or formerly served as an officer
of the Company or any of our subsidiaries. In addition, during the fiscal year ended December 31,
2009, none of our executive officers served as a director or member of a compensation committee (or
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other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the
entire board of directors) of any entity that has one or more executive officers or directors serving as a
member of our board of directors or compensatlon commlttee '

Item 12, Securlty Ownershlp of Certain Beneficnal Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters. L
Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table gives 1nf0rmat10n regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31,
2009:

Number of securities to be Welghted-average Number of securities remaining

issued upon exercise of exercise price of " available for future issuance
’ e - outstanding options, outstanding options, . . under equity compensation
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights plans

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders . — — . o 1.10,000,000*
Equity compensation plans not , v _

approved by security holders . — — B —

Total oo 10,000,000*

@ All shares authorized for issuance pursuant to awards not yet granted under the Incentive Award
Plan.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2009 regarding the beneficial
ownership of our common stock by each person known by us to own 5% or more of the outstanding
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shares of common stock, each of our directors, each of our executive officers, and our directors and
executive officers as a group. : - :

Amount and Nature Percentage
of Beneficial of

Name of Beneficial Owner ‘ » Ownership® Class

Robert M. Behringer® . . . .. ... .. ... o .. 22471 *
Robert S. Aisner® .. ............ [ S _

Samuel A. Gillespie ............... RN D o —
Gerald J. Reihsen, III® . . ... ............... e — e
Gary S. Bresky® .......... ... ...l P - =
M. Jason Mattox® . D S PPN o= —
. Andreas K. Bremer ................ . e . v - L=

Jeffréy-P. Mayer............0coooiiiio - — =

Diane S. Detering-Paddison e e IR o  —— .
Cynthia Pharr Lee .. [.............. e ' - —

All directors and executlve officers as a A group (eleven
' persons)(7) .............................. . 22471 o

*

- (@

@

€)

all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them.

Represents less than 1%

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally
_includes voting or investment power with respect to securities and shares issuable

pursuant to options, warrants and similar rights held by the respectlve person or group .
that may be exercised within 60 days following December 31, 2009. Except as otherwise
indicated by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the
persons named in the table above have sole voting and investment power with-respect to

Includes 22,471 shares. of common stock owned by Behringer Harvard Holdmgs It does
not include 1,000 shares of convertible stock owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings. As
of December 31, 2009, Mr. Behringer controlled the disposition of approx1mately 40% of
the outstanding limited liability company interests and the voting of 85% of the )
outstandmg limited 11ab111ty company 1nterests of Behrmger Harvard Holdings.

Does not include 22 471 shares of common stock and 1,000 shares of convertlble stock 5
owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr. Aisner controls the disposition. of 4% of .the

~ limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr.-Behringer has the

®)

 right to vote Mr. Aisner’s interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings.

@

Does not include'22,471shares of common stock and 1,000 shares of convertible stock
owned by Behtinger Harvard Holdings. Mr. Reihsen controls the disposition of 4.5% of
the limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr‘ 'Behringer has
the rlght to vote Mr. Reilisen’s interest in Behrlnger Harvard Holdmgs

-Does not 1nclude 22 ,471 shares of common stock and 1,000 shares of convertlble stock

owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr. Bresky controls the disposition of 3% of the ;
limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr, Behringer has the
right to vote Mr. Bresky’s interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings. | : :
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(6) Does not include 22,471 shares of common stock and 1,000 shares of convertible stock
owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr. Mattox controls the disposition.of 1.5% of
the limited liability company interests in Behringer Harvard Holdings. Mr. Behringer has

~ the right to vote Mr. Mattox’s interest in Behringer Harvard Holdings.

(7) Does not include 1,000 shares of convertible stock owned by Behringer Harvard Holdings.
The actual number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the
convertible stock is indeterminable at this time.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.
Policies and Procedures for Transactions with Related Persons

We do not currently have written formal policies and procedures for the review, approval or
ratification of transactions with related persons, as defined by Item 404 of Regulation S-K of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Under that definition, transactions with related persons
are transactions in which we were or are a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and
in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Related parties
include any executive officers, directors, director nominees, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our
voting securities, immediate family members of any of the foregoing persons, and any firm, corporation
or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is employed and in which such person has 10% or
greater beneficial ownership interest.

However, in order to reduce or eliminate certain potential conflicts of interest, our charter
contains a number of restrictions relating to (1) transactions we enter into with our advisor and its
affiliates, (2) certain future offerings, and (3) allocation of investment opportunities. among affiliated
entities. As a general rule, any related party transactions must be approved by a majority of the
directots (including a majority of independent directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction. In
determining whether to approve or authorize a particular related party transaction, these persons will
consider whether the transaction between us and the related party is fair and reasonable to us and has
terms and conditions no less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties.

Related Party Transactions

Our advisor and certain of its affiliates will receive fees and compensation in connection with the
Offering, and in connection with the acquisition, management, and sale of our assets.

Behringer Securities LP (“Behringer Securities™), the. dealer-manager and an affiliate of our
advisor, receives commissions of up to 7%, of gross offering proceeds. Behringer Securities reallows
100% of selling commissions earned to participating broker-dealers. In addition, we pay Behringer
Securities a dealer manager fee of up to 2.5% of gross offering proceeds. Pursuant to separately
negotiated agreements, Behringer Securities may reallow a portion of its dealer manager fee in an
aggregate amount up to 2% of gross offering proceeds to broker-dealers participating in the Offering;
provided, however, that Behringer Securities may reallow, in the aggregate, no more than 1.5% of gross
offering proceeds for marketing fees and expenses, conference fees and non-itemized, nhon-invoiced due
diligence efforts and no more than 0.5% of gross offering proceeds for out-of-pocket and bona fide,
separately invoiced due diligence expenses incurred as fees, costs or other expenses from third parties.
Further, in special cases pursuant to separately negotiated agreements and subject to applicable
limitations imposed by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Behringer Securities may use a
portion of its dealer manager fee to reimburse certain broker-dealers participating in the Offering for
technology costs and expenses associated with the Offering and costs and expenses associated with the
facilitation of the marketing and ownership of our shares by such broker-dealers’ customers. No selling
commissions or dealer manager fee will be paid for sales under the DRP. For both of the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, Behringer Securities earned selling comniissions and dealer manager fees
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of $4.9 million and $1.8 million, respectlvely, which were recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in
capital. : : :

We reimburse Behringer Opportunlty Advisors II or its affiliates for any organization and offering
expenses incurred on our behalf in connection with our primary offering (other than selling
commissions and the dealer manager fee). On October 2, 2009, we entered into an Amended and
Restated Advisory Management Agreement with Behringer Opportunity Advisors II. The Amended and
Restated Advisory Management Agreement changes the timing in determining the reimbursement of
organization and offering expenses by us during the offering and waives the reimbursement of $3.5
million of organization and offering expenses (other than selling commissions and the dealer manager
fee) the advisor incurred on our behalf through December 31, 2008. We wrote off the $3.5 million of
organization and offering expenses in the fourth quarter of 2009, which reduced the outstanding
balance payable to affiliates and increased our additional paid-in capital. Pursuant to the Amended and
Restated Advisory Management Agreement we will reimburse our advisor for organization and offering
expenses (other than selling commissions and the dealer manager fee) incurred on our behalf until an
aggregate of $7.5 million of such organization and offering expenses have been reimbursed to our
advisor. Thereafter, we will not reimburse any such organlzatlon and offering expenses until the
completion of our primary offering. Upon completlon of our primary offering, we will reimburse our
advisor for any additional organization and offering expenses (other than selling commissions and the |
dealer manager fee) incurred up to 1.5% of the gross proceeds from the completed primary offering;
provided however, we will not be required to reimburse our advisor any additional amounts and our
advisor will be required to reimburse us to the extent that the total amount spent by us on organization
and offering expenses (other than selling commissions.and the dealer manager fee) would exceed 1.5%
of the gross proceeds from the completed primary offering. In connection with the Amended and
Restated Advisory Management Agreement, we reimbursed $3.4 million of organization and offering
expenses to Behringer Opportunity Advisors II-on October 20, 2009.

Since our inception through December 31, 2009, approximately $9.6 million of orgamzatlon and
offering expenses had been incurred by Behringer Opportunity Advisors II or its affiliates on our
behalf. Of this amount, $5.7 million had been reimbursed by us, $3.5 million had been written off
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Advisory Management Agreement (discussed above), and $0.4
million of reimbursements payable is included in payables to affiliates on our balance sheet. Of the $0.4
million of organization and offering expenses reimbursable by us through December 31, 2009,
approximately $0.1 million had been expensed as organizational costs with the remainder recorded as a
reduction of additional paid-in capital. Behringer Opportunity Advisors II or its affiliates determines
the amount of organization and offering expenses owed based on specific invoice identification as well
as an allocation of costs to us and other Behringer Harvard programs based on respective equity
offering results of those entities in offering.

Our advisor or its aff111ates 'will -also receive acqu1s1t10n and-advisory fees of 2. 5% of the amount
paid and/or budgeted in respect of the purchase, development, construction, or improvement of each
asset we acquire, including any debt attributable to these assets. Our-advisor and its affiliates will also
receive acquisition and adv1sory fees of 2.5% of the funds advanced in respect of a loan or other
investment. '

Our advisor or its affiliates also receive an achISItIOIl expense. reimbursement in the amount of
0.25% of the funds paid for purchasmg an asset, including any debt attrlbutable to the asset, plus
0.25% of the funds budgeted for development construction, or 1mprovement in the case of assets that
we acquire and intend to develop, construct, or improve. Our advisor or its affiliates will also receive
an acquisition expense reimbursement in the amount of 0. 25% of the funds advanced in respect of a
loan or other investment. In addition, to the extent our advisor or its affiliates directly provide services
formerly provided or usually provided by third parties, including without limitation accounting services
related to the preparation of audits required by the SEC, property condition reports, title services, title
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insurance, insurance brokerage or environmental services related. to:the preparation of environmental °
assessments in connection with a prospective or completed investment the direct employee costs and
burden to our advisor of providing these services will be acquisition expenses for which we will
reimburse our advisor. We also pay third partles or reimburse the “advisor of its affiliates, for any
investment- related expenses due to third parties in the case of a completed 1nvestment mclud1ng, but
not 11m1ted to, legal fees and- expenses, travel and communication expenses costs of apprarsals
accounting fees and expenses, third- party brokerage or flnder s fees, title insurance, premlum expenses
and other closrng costs. In- addltlon acqu1s1tron €xXpenses for which we w1ll rermburse our advisor,
include any payments’ made to (1) a prospective seller of an asset, (ii) an agent of a prospective seller
of an asset, or (m) a party that has the right to control the sale of ‘an asset intended for investment by
us that are not refundable and that are not ultlmately apphed agamst the purchase price for such asset.
Except as descrlbed above with" respect to services customarlly or prevrously provided by third partles
our advisor is responsrble for paying all of the -expenses it incurs associated with persons employed by
the advisor to the extent dedicated to makmg mvestments for us, such as wages and benefits of the °
investment personnel Our advisor or its affiliates are also responsrble for paying all of the investment-
related expenses that we or our adv1sor or its affiliates i incur that are due to third partres or related to
the additional services provrded by our adv1sor as descnbed above with respect to investments we do
not make other than certain non- refundable payments made in connectlon with any acqulsmon For the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we ‘incutred $0.9 million and $0.8 million in acquisition and .
advrsory fees, respectrvely We incurred $0 1 million for in acqursltron expense reimbursements for both
of the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008.

We pay-our advisor or its aff111ates a debt financing fee of 1% of the amount avallable under any
loan orline of credit made available to us. It is anticipated that our advisor will pay some or all of
these fees to third parties with whom it subcontracts to. coordinate financing for us. We did not incur
any debt financing fees for year ended December 31, 2009 or the period from January 9, 2007 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2007. For the year, ended December 31 2008 we incurred debt
frnancrng fees of $0 2 million. .

We pay our advrsor or its: affrhates a development fee in-an amount that is usual and customary
for comparable services rendered to similar-projects in the geographic market of the project if such -
affiliate provides the development services and if -a majority of our independent directors determines .
that such development fee is fair and reasonable and-an terms -and conditions not less favorable than . -
those available from. unaffrhated third partres We mcurred no. such fees for the years ended
December 31, 2009.or 2008.- » T : S

We pay our property manager ‘and affrhate of our advrsor Behrmger Harvard Opportumty II
Management Sérvices, LLC (“BHO II Management”) or its affiliates, fees for the ‘management,
leasing, and construction supervision of our properties. Property management fees are 4.5% of the
gross revenues of the properties managed by BHO II Management or-its-affiliates plus leasing
commissions-based upon the customary leasing commission applicable to the same geographic location
of the respective property. In the.event that we contract directly with a third-party property manager in
respect of a property,-BHO. 1I.Management or its affiliates receives an oversight fee equal t0:0.5% of
the gross revenues of the property managed. In no event will BHO II Management or its affiliates -
receive both a property management fee and an oversrght fee with respect to any particular property.

In the event we own a property through a ]ornt venture that does not pay BHO II Management directly
for its services, we wrll pay BHO II Management a management fee or overs1ght fee, as apphcable
based only on an economic interest in.the property We incurred and’ expensed property management
fees or over51ght fees to BHO'IT Management of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31 2009
We mcurred no such fees for the year ended December 31, 2008 o
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We pay our advisor or its affiliates a monthly asset management fee of one-twelfth of 1.0% of the
sum of the higher of the cost or value of each asset. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
we expensed $0.5 million and $0.1 mﬂhon respectlvely, of asset management fees.

We reimburse our advisor or its _afflh-ates for all expenses paid or incurred by the advisor in
connection with the services provided to us, subject to the limitation that we will not reimburse our
advisor for any amount by which its operating expenses (including the asset management fee) at the
end of the four preceding fiscal quarters exceeds the greater of: (A) 2% of our average invested assets,
or (B) 25% of our net income determined without reduction for any additions to reserves for.
depreciation, bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and excluding any -gain from the sale of our
assets for that period. Notwithstanding the above, we may reimburse the advisor for expenses in excess
of this limitation if a majority of our independent directors determines that such excess expenses are
justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
we incurred and expensed such costs for administrative services totaling $0.5 million and $0.1 million,
respectively.

>

We are dependent on Behringer Securities, Behringer Opportunity Advisors II, and BHO I1
Management for certain services that are essential to us, including the sale of shares of our common
stock, asset acquisition and disposition decisions, property management and leasing services, and other
general administrative responsibilities. In the event that these companies were unable to provide us
with their respectlve services, we would be requrred to obtain such services from other sources.

On November 30, 2009, we purchased from an unaffﬂlated third party, a 9.99% hmlted
partnership interest in a multifamily property in Killeen, Texas for $0.5 million (“Stone Creek”). The
unaffiliated third party retained a 0.01% general partner interest with the remaining 90% limited
partner interest held by Behringer Harvard Strateglc Opportumty Fund I LP, an 1nvestment program
sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings.

Independence

Although our shares are not listed for trading on any natronal securities exchange and: therefore
our board of directors is not subject to the independence requirements of the NYSE or any other
national securities exchange, our board has evaluated whether our directors are “independent” as -
defined by the NYSE. The NYSE standards provide that to qualify as an independent director, in
addition to satisfying certain bright-line criteria, the board of directors must affirmatively determine
that a director has no material relationship with us (elther directly or as a partner, stockholder or
officer of an organization that has a relationship with us).,

Consistent with these considerations, after review of all relevant transactions or relationships - -
between each director, or any of his family members, and Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I, our °
senior management and our independent registered public accounting firm, the board has determined
that the majority of the members of our board, and each member of our audit committee, '
compensation commiittee and nominatin'g -com’mittee is “independent” as defined by the NYSE.

Item 14.: Prmc1pal Accounting Fees and Services.

Independent Reglstered Public Accountmg Firm

-Deloitte & Touche LLP has served as our independent registered pubhc accounting:firm sirice
January 2007. Our management believes that it is knowledgeable about our operations and accountlng
practlces and well qualified to act as our mdependent reglstered public accountmg firm.
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Audit and Non-Audlt Fees

The following table presents fees for professmnal services rendered by our independent registered
public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and
their respective affiliates (collectively, “Deloitte & Touche”) for the years ended December 31, 2009
and 2008:

. ) 2009 2008
Audit FeesD . ... ... .. ... .. ......... S O $367,526  $205,248
Audit-Related Fees?. . . .. S Fe i .. 225063 60,163
Tax Fees® . .. i —_ 9,390
All Other Fees ............. P P T ‘ — —
Total FEes . ... oove it e $592,589  $274,801

' Audit fees consisted of professional services performed in connection with the audit of
our annual financial statements, review of financial statements included in our quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and review of our financial statements that were included i in the
registration statement, as amended for our public offermg of common stock.

@ . For 2009, audit-related fees consisted of profess1onal services performed in connection
with the audit of historical financial statements for property acquisitions and Sarbanes-
Oxley Section 404 advisory services. For 2008, audit-related fees consisted of professional
services performed in connectlon with the audlt of historical financial statements for
property acquisitions.

@ Tax fees consist principally of assistance with matters related to tax compliance, tax
planning and tax advice.

Our audit committee considers the provision of these services to be compatible with maintaining
the independence of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee must approve any fee for services to be performed by the Company s
independent registered public accounting firm in advance of the service being performed. For proposed
projects using the services of the Company’s independent registered public accountmg firm that are
expected to cost under $100,000, our audit committee will be provided information to review and must
approve each project prior to commencement of any work. For proposed projects using the services of
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm that are expected to cost $100,000 and
over, our audit committee will be provided with, a detailed explanation of what is being included, and
asked to approve a maximum amount for specifically identified services in each of the following
categories: (1) audit fees; (2) audit-related fees; (3) tax fees; and (4) all other fees for any services
allowed to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm. If additional amounts
are needed, our audit committee must approve the increased amounts prior to the previously approved
maximum being reached and before the work may continue. Approval by our audit committee may be
made at its regularly scheduled meetings or otherwise, including by telephonic or other electronic
communications. The Company will report the status of the various types of approved services and fees,
and cumulative amounts paid and owed, to our audit committee on a regular basis. Our audit
committee has considered the independent registered public accounting firm’s non-audit services -
provided to the Company and has determined that such services are compatible with maintaining its
independence.
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Our audit committee approved all of the services provided by, and fees paid to, Deloitte & Touche
during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

"PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) List of Documents Filed. :

1.

Financial Statements

The list of the financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is set
forth on page F-1 herein.

Financial Statement .Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Schedule 1I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and’ Reserves
Schedule I1I-—Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
Schedule IV—Mortgage Loans on Real Estate

Exhibits ‘ '

The list of exhibits filed as pért of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is submitted in the
Exhibit Index following the financial statements in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

(b) Exhibits.

The exhibits filed in responseﬁ to Ttem 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index
attached hereto. ’

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. '

All financial statement schedules, except for Schedules I, IT1, and IV (see (a) 2. above), have been
omitted because the required information of such schedules is not present, is not present in
amounts sufficient to require a schedule, or is included in the financial statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc,

Dated: March 30, 2010 , ‘ By: | /s/ ROBERT S. AISNER

~Robert S. Aisner
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secﬁritieé‘Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of.the registrant- and .in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

March 30, 2010 . /s/ ROBERT M. BEHRINGER

Robert M. Behriﬁger ;
Chairman of the Board of Directors

March 30, 2010 /s/ ROBERT S. AISNER

Robert S. Aisner
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 30, 2010 S B | /s/ GARY S. BRESKY

- Gary S. Bresky = -
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 30, 2010 /s/ BRYAN A. SINCLAIR

Bryan A. Sinclair
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 30, 2010 /s/ ANDREAS K. BREMER

Andreas K. Bremer
Director

March 30, 2010 /s/ CYNTHIA PHARR LEE

Cynthia Pharr Lee
Director
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March 30, 2010

March 30, 2010
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/s/ JEFFREY P.-MAYER

Jeffrey P. Mayer
Director

/S/ v DIANE S. DETERING-PADDISON

Diane S. Detering-Paddison
Director ' E
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT 1II, Inc.,
Addison, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Behringer Harvard Opportunity
REIT I, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2009
and 2008 and for the period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through December 31, 2007.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted .our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial -
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion..

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31,
2009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 and for the period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through
December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 30, 2010



Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, ljecember 31,

2009 - 2008
Assets ‘ .

Real estate . ’ ' ' ' ‘
Land . .................. ... L. P $ 9,000 - $ 9,000
Buildings, net . ................. S e . e e 25,314 25,964

Total real estate . .. .o ... .. . . oo oL . 34,314 34,964
Real estate loans receivable, net'. . . .-, . B 39,712 =

Total real estate and real estate-related iny;éStments, net [......... 74,0_26'»1 34,964
Cash and cash equivalents . ........ e e 67,509 47,375
Accounts receivable, net.. .. . .. R A S AP e ‘ 344 . 44
Receivable from related party . .. ... ... e e e e e e e e N — 501
Interest receivable-real estate loans recelvable ......... R e 398 - Sl e
Prepaid expenses and.other assets.. ... ov. i i o e . 564 662
Investment in unconsolidated joint venture v .. ...... ... ...... e . 506 =
Lease intangibles, net. . ... ... .. v iy iinn i R 1,590 2,797

Total assets .., ........ JRIA e I e e - $144,937. . $86,343

Liabilities and Equity ' - : o E B : )

Note payable . . . . .. e L Ll . JRFR $ 18,500 - $18,500

Accounts payable . . ........ooun oL L iUl 1 -

Payables to related parties ............... e e 582 5,519

Acquired below-market leases, net ............................. 1,134 2,262

Distributions payable . ... ... ... ... .. ... i 607 181

Accrued and other liabilities . . . ........... ... .. .. ... .. ... .... 1,504 1,059

Total liabilities . ........... ... ... i 22,338 27,521

Equity -

Preferred stock, $.0001 par value per share; 50,000,000 shares authorized,
none outstanding . . . ..., ... e — —

Convertible stock, $.0001 par value per share; 1,000 shares authorized,

1,000 outstanding . . ... ... . e e e — —_—
Common stock, $.0001 par value per share; 350,000,000 shares authorized,

14,648,698 and 7,323,180 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,

2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively ... ................... 1 1
Additional paid-incapital . . . ........ ... .. . . . 126,815 59,987
Cumulative distributions and netloss ........................... (6,839) (1,166)

Total Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc. Stockholders’

EBquity . ... e e e 119,977 58,822
Noncontrolling interest. . . . .. ...ttt 2,622 —
Total eqUILY « -« .o e e 122,599 58,822

Total liabilities and equity . .......... ... . ... . . ... $144,937 $86,343

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II; Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Rental revenue .....................
Interest income from real estate loans
receivable . ........ .. ... . ...

Total revenues . ......

Expenses:
Property operating expenses. . . .........
Interest expense ....................
-Real estate taxes . . .. ................

Total expenses . ............... e

Interest income, net . ..................

Loss before equity in losses of unconsolidated
jointventure . . ...... ... .. .

-Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint
venture. . ... ... ... .. B T

Netloss .....covvvvveun.. P '

Add: Net loss attributable to the
noncontrolling interest ............

Net loss attributable to Behringer
Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc. . ..

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basicand diluted . . . ...............

Loss per share attributable to Behringer
Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc.:
Basicand diluted . . ................

For the Year Ended

For the Period
from January 9, 2007

For the Year Ended (Date of Inception)
December 31, . December 31, Through December 31,
2009 2008 2007
$ 5,484 $ 913 $ —
891 — L —
6,375 913 -—
1,381 302 —
1,309 — —
646 77
172 34 i
457 61 —
1,545 652 54
2,422 399 L=
7,932 1,525 - 54
484 363 2
(1,073) (249) (52)
@ —. —
(1,075) (249) (52)
9 = =
$(1,066) $ (249) $ (52)
10,592 2,859 22
$ (0.10) $(0.09) $(2.30)

See Notes to: Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT 11, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Equity
(in thousands)

Convertible Common

) Stoc}f Stock Additional Cumulative
. Number  Par  Number Par Paid-in  Distributions Noncontrolling  Total

L - of Shares Value of Shares Value Capital and Net Loss Interest Equity
Balance at January 9, 2007. . . . . — $— — $— 3 - $ — $ — $ —
(date of inception)
Issuance of convertible stock, » »
net . vv i 1 1 ' ' 1
Issuance of common stock, net . 22 200 200
Netloss ................ . o - (52) ‘ (52)
Balance at December 31, 2007 . . . 1 — 2 — 201 (52) — 149
Issuance of convertible stock;
net ...........00iio.. .
Issuance of common stock, net . 7,301 1 59,786 . 59,787
Distributions declared on _ :
common stock . ..... e (865) -, (865)
Netloss ................ - L . (249). , (249)
Balance at December 31, 2008 . . . 1 — 7,323 1 59,987 (1,166) — . 58,822
Issuance of common stock, net . 7,408 67,574 . .67,574
Redemption of common stock . (82) (746) (746)
Distributions declared on - '
common stock .......... _ (4,607) (4,607)
Contributions from _ ' : '
non-controlling interest . - . . S 2,631 2,631
Netloss ................ o L . ' - (1,066) - “(9) (1,075)
Balance at December 31, 2009. . . _1 $— 14,649 $_1

$126,815  $(6,839) $2,622 $122,599

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

For the Period
: : from January 9, 2007
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended  (Date of Inception)
December 31, December 31, Through December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities: v : v
Netloss .............. R $ (1,075)  $ (249) $(52)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash

flows provided by (used in) operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortization . .......... 1,297 219 —
Amortization of deferred financing fees . ... 133 - —
Equity in losses of unconsolidated jomt
£ 11411 (SO 2 — —
Change in accounts receivable ........... (299) (44) - —
Change in interest receivable-real estate loan
. receivable .......... ... e e, (398) — —
Change in prepaid expenses and other assets . (36) (122) . . —
Change in accounts payable ............. | — —
Change in accrued and other liabilities . . . .. - 445 386 54
Change in net payables to related parties . . . 393 (236) —
Addition of lease intangibles ............ o (158) "~ (49) —
Cash provided by (used in) operating o V
activities . . . . oo 315 95) 2
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of real estate . . . . .............. — (35,056) —
Investment in unconsolidated joint venture . . . . (508) — —
Investment in real estate loans receivable . . . .. (39,712) — —
Additions of property and equipment .. ... .... (410) — —
Cash used in investing activities. . ... ... .. (40,630) (35,056) —
Cash flows from financing actlvmes o .
Financing costs . . . ............. e — (533) —
Proceeds from notes payable .............. — - 18,500 —
Issuance of common stock . ... ............ , 70,757 .72,315 201
Redemptions of common stock ......... SR (746) . (18) —
Offering CostS . . . v v v v 11,079 .  (7,774) —
Distributions . . . ... ... ... (L1140 (167) —
Contributions from noncontrolling 1nterest "
holders .. ......... . ... 2,631 — =
" Cash provided by financing activities . . . . . . 60,449 82,323 , 201
Net change in cash and cash equivalents. ... .. 20,134 ' 47,172 203
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of = ’ : '
period. . ... 47,375 203 —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ... - $ 67,509 $ 47,375 $203 .

Sée Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. Business and Organization

Business

» (C b2

Behrlnger Harvard Opportunity REIT 1I, Inc. (which may be referred to as the “Company, €,

>.or “our”) was organized as a Maryland corporation on January 9, 2007 and has elected to be
taxed and currently qualifies, as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax
purposes .

‘

- We acquire and operate commercial real estate and real estate-related assets. In particular, we
focus generally on acquiring commercial properties with significant possibilities for short-term capital
appreciation, such as those requiring development, redevelopment, or repositioning, those located in
markets and submarkets with high growth potential, and those available from sellers who are distressed
or face time-sensitive deadlines. In addition, given economic conditions as of December 31, 2009, our
opportunistic investment strategy also includes investments in real estate-related assets that present
opportunities for higher current income. Such investments may have capital gain characteristics,
whether as a result of a discount purchase or related equity participations. We may acquire a wide
variety of commercial properties, including office, industrial, retail, hospitality, recreation and leisure,
single-tenant, multifamily, and other real properties. These properties may be existing, income-
producing properties, newly constructed properties, or properties under development or construction
and may include multifamily properties purchased for conversion into condominiums and single-tenant
properties that may be converted for multi-tenant use. Further, we may invest in real estate-related
securities, including securities issued by other real estate companies, either for investment or in change
of control transactions completed on a negotiated basis or otherwise. We also may originate or invest in
collateralized mortgage-backed securities, mortgage, bridge or mezzanine loans, and Section 1031
tenant-in-common interests (including those issued by affiliates of our advisor), or in entities that make
investments similar to the foregoing. We expect to make our investments in or in respect of real estate
assets located in the United States and other countries based on our view of existing market conditions.
We completed our first property acquisition, an office building located in Denver,-Colorado, on
October 28, 2008. During 2009, we made three investments in real estate and real estate-related assets:

* On August 14, 2009, we entered into an agreement to provide up to-$25 million of second lien
financing for the privatization of and improvements to, approximately 3,200 hotel lodging units
located on ten U.S. Army installations (the “PAL Loan™);

¢ On October 2, 2009, we purchased through a joint venture, at a discount, a 90% interest in a
promissory note secured by a first lien mortgage for $25.4 million plus closing costs from the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as Receiver for Corus Bank, N.A! The borrower is
currently in default under the promissory note and the principal balance and accrued interest
owed at the date of purchase was $65.8 million. The collateral for the promissory note is a
408-unit multi-family complex, Palms of Monterrey, on a 28-acre site located in Fort Myers,
Florida. Subsequent to December 31, 2009, we reached an agreement with the borrower such
that the borrower will no longer contest the foreclosure proceedings in exchange for
$0.3 million. We expect to complete the foreclosure process and secure a fee SImple interest in
the property in the second quarter of 2010; and

* On November 30, 2009, we purchased a 9.99% limited partnership interest in a multlfarnlly
property, Stone Creek, in Killeen, Texas for $0.5 million.

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II LP, a
limited partnership organized in Delaware on January 12, 2007 (“Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP
IT”). As of December 31, 2009, our wholly-owned subsidiary, BHO II, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
was the sole general partner of Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II and owned a 0.1% partnership
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1. Business and Organization (Continued)

interest in Behringer Harvard Opportunity OP II. As-of December 31; 2009, our wholly-owned
subsidiary, BHO Business Trust II, a Maryland business trust, was the sole limited partner of Behringer
Harvard Opportumty OP II and’ owned the remaining 99. 9% interest 1n Behrmger Harvard Opportunlty
OP II. C :

We are externally managed and advrsed by Behrmger Harvard Opportunlty Advrsors II, LLC a
Texas limited liability company that was formed on March 16, 2010 (“Behringer Opportunity Advisors:
II?)..Behringer Opportunity Advisors II is responsible for managing our day-to-day-affairs and for.
identifying and 'making acquisitions-and investments: on our behalf: Prior'to March.16, 2010, we were
advised by Behringer Harvard Opportunity ‘Advisors II LP, which was converted into Behrmger Harvard
Aadvisors II solely to reorganize the entity as a limited liability company. ‘ »

Orgamzatton

On February 26, 2007 we filed a Reglstratlon Statement on Form S-11 with the Secuntres and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to offer up to 125,000,000 shares of common stock for sale:to the
public (the “‘Offering”), of which-25,000,000 shares are being offered pursuant to our distribution
reinvestinent plan (the “DRP”). We reserve the right to reallocate’ the shares we are: offering between
our primary offering and-the DRP. The SEC declared our Registration Statement effective on
January 4, 2008, and we commenced our ongomg 1n1t1al pubhc offermg on January 21, 2008.:

In connect1on with our initial capltahzatlon on January 19 2007 we, 1ssued 22 471 shares of our
common stock and 1,000 shares of our convertible stock to Behrmger Harvard Holdmgs an affiliate of
our advisor.~As of December 31, 2009, we had 14,648,698 shares of common stock outstanding, which
includes the 22,471 shares issued to Behringer Harvard Holdings:-As of Decémber 31, 2009, we: had
1,000 shares:of-convertible stock 1ssued and outstanding to-Behringer Harvard Holdmgs :

We commenced operations on Apr11 1, 2008 upon satisfaction of the conditions of our, éscrow
agreement and our acceptance of initial subscriptions of common stock. Upon admission of new
stockholders, subscription proceeds are used for payment of dealer manager fees and selling
commissions and may be utilized as consideration for investments and the payment or reimbursement
of offering expenses and operating. expenses. Until-required for.such purposes, net offering proceeds
are held in short-term, liquid' investments. Through December 31, 2009, we had sold 14 710 354 shares
in the. Offermg, mcludmg the DRP, for: gross proceeds of $146.7 million. :

Our common stock 1s not currently hsted on a natlonal secur1t1es exchange Dependmg upon then
prevallmg market condltlons it is our 1ntent1on to consrder begmnmg the process of liquidating our
assets and d1strfbut1ng the net proceeds to our stockholders within three to six years after the
termmatlon of our primary offering. If we do not begm an orderly 11qu1datron wrthm that perlod we
may seek to have our shares 11sted on a natlonaI Securltles exchange

2. Summary of Slgmficant Accountmg Polrcnes _ .
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Fmancml Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accépted
in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions -
that affect the reported amounts of assets and ljabilities and disclosure of contmgent assets and
liabilities at the date of the f1nanc1a1 statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting penod These estimates mclude such items as purchase prlce allocatlon for real _
estate acquisitions, impairment of long-lived assets, deprec1at10n and amortlzatlon and allowance for '
doubtful accounts. Actual results could differ from those estimates.



2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Principles -of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of other subsidiaries
over which we have control. All inter-company transactions, balances, and profits have been eliminated
in consolidation. Interests in entities acquired will be evaluated based on applicable GAAP, which '
includes the requirement to consolidate. entities deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIE”) in
which we are the primary beneficiary. If the interest in the entity is determined not to be a VIE,. then
the entities will be evaluated for consolidation based on legal form, economic substance, and the extent
to which we have control and/or substantive participating rights under the respective ownership
agreement. In the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, all dollar and share amounts in
tabulation are in thousands of dollars and shares, respectively, unless otherwise noted.

There are judgments and estimates involved in determining if an entity in which we have made an
investment is a VIE and if so, whether we are the primary beneficiary. The entity is evaluated to
determine if it is a VIE by, among other things, calculating the percentage of equity being risked
compared to the total equity of the entity. Determining expected future losses involves assumptions of :
various possibilities of the results of future operations of the entity, assigning a probability to each
possibility, and using a discount rate to determine the net present value of those future losses. A
change in the judgments, assumptions, and estimates outlined above could result in consolidating an
entity that should not be consolidated or accounting for an investment using the equity method that
should in fact be consolidated, the effects of which could be material to our financial statements. We
have evaluated subsequent events for recognition or disclosure in our consolidated financial statements.

To conform to the 2009 presentation, which presents deferred financing fees, net as a component
of prepaid expenses and other assets on our consolidated balance sheets, we reclassified $0.5 million of’
net deferred financing fees to prepaid expenses and other assets for the year ended December 31, 2008.
This amount was previously reported separately as deferred financing fees, net on our consolidated
balance sheet.

Real Estate

Upon-the acquisition of real estate properties, we recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities .
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest as of the acquisition date, measured at their fair values. The
acquisition date is the date on which we obtain control of the real estate property. The assets. acquired
and liabilities assumed may consist of buildings, any assumed debt, identified intangible assets and asset
retirement obligations. Identified intangible assets generally consist of the above-market and below-
market leases, in-place leases, 1n-place tenant improvements and tenant relationships. Goodwill is -
recognized as of the achISltIOIl date and measured as the aggregate fair value of the consideration
transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired. Likewise, a bargain purchase gain-is recognized in current earnings when the aggregate fair
value of the consideration transferred and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree is less than the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Acqulsmon -related costs are expensed in the period
incurred.

Initial valuations are subject to change until our information is finalized, which is no later than
twelve months from the acquisition date. :

We determine the fair value of assumed debt by calculating the net present value of the scheduled
note payments using interest rates for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities that we believe
we could obtain. Any difference between the fair value and stated value of the assumed debt is
recorded as a discount or premium and amortized over the remaining life of the loan.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

. The fair value of the tangible assets acquired, consisting of land and buildings, is determined by
valuing the property as if it were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to land and -
buildings. Land values are derived from appraisals, and building values are calculated as replacement
cost less depreciation or management’s estimates of the relative fair value of these assets using
discounted cash flow analyses or similar methods. The value of the commercial office building is
depreciated over the estimated useful life of 25 years using the straight-line method.

We determine the value of above-market and below-market in-place leases for acquired properties
based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases
acquired) of the difference between (1) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place
leases and (2) management’s estimate of current market lease rates for the corresponding in-place
leases, measured over a period equal to (a) the remaining non-cancelable lease term for above-market
leases, or (b) the remaining non-cancelable lease term plus any fixed rate renewal option for below-
market leases. We record the fair value of above-market and below-market leases as intangible assets
or intangible liabilities, respectively, and amortize them as an adjustment to rental income over the
above determined lease term.

The total value of identified real estate intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place
lease values and tenant relationships based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of each
tenant’s lease and our overall relationship with that respective tenant. The aggregate value of in-place
leases acquired and ‘tenant relationships is determined by applying a fair value model. The estimates of
fair value -of iri-place leases include an estimate of cariying costs during the expected lease-up periods
for the respective spaces, considering current market conditions. In estimating fair value of in-place
leases, we consider items such as real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses, as well as
lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up period and carrying costs that would have otherwise
been incurred had the leases not been in place, including tenant improvements and commissions. The
estimates of the fair value of tenant relationships also include costs to execute similar leases, including
leasing commissions, legal costs and tenant 1mprovements as well as an estimate of the 11kelrhood of
renewal as determined by management on a tenant-by-tenant basis.

We amortize the value of in-place leases to expense over the term of the respective leases. The .
value of tenant relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial term and any
anticipated renewal periods, but in no event-does the amortization period for intangible assets exceed
the remaining depreciable life of the building. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized
portion of the in-place lease value and tenant relationship intangibles is charged to expense. As of
December 31, 2009, the estimated reinaining useful life for acqu1red lease mtangrbles was -
approximately 1 year. :

'Anticipated amortization expense associated with the acquired lease intangibles for each of the
followrng frve years ended December 31 is as follows

K . - k : . - Lease
Year ) . . ~ Intangibles
2010 .. e e e e $228
2011 ..o B Faaa. 38
2012 o e —
2013 L e —

2014 ...... e e L -
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

‘Accumulated depreciation and amortization related to our consolidated investments in real estate
assets and intangibles were as follows: ~ '

Acqlﬁred

Buildings and Lease  Below-Market
. w : ‘ - s : - Improvements Intangibles Leases :
Cost ........ A A A A, $26,548  $ 2,787 $(2,143)
Less: depreciation and amortization . .... .. . (1,234) (1,197) . -1,009 . .
Net ...... S AN L. $25314 '$1,590 - $(1,134)
: ‘ " Acquired
vl A -~ Buildings and Lease ' Below-Market
2008 . o e Improvements  Intangibles Leases
COSE v e ie e ... $26,138 $3,021 $(2,441) -
Less: deprec1at10n and amortization . ....... (174) 1o (224) 179

NEE © o oot e $25,964 $2,797  $(2,262)

Cash and Cash Eqmvalents

We c0n51der investments in highly- hquld money market funds ‘or investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents reported on the balance sheet approximates fair value.

Investment Impairment

For real estate we wholly own, we monitor events and changes in circumstances indicating that the
carrying amounts of the redl estate assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in
circumstances atre present, we assess potential impairment by comparing estimated future undiscounted
operating cash flows expected to be generated over the life of the asset and from its eventual
disposition to the carrying amount of the asset. In the event that the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated future undiscounted operating cash flows, we recognize an impairment loss to ad]ust the
carrying amount of the asset to. estimated fair value. We consider projected future undiscounted cash.
flows, trends, strategic decisions. regarding future development plans, and other factors in our .
assessment of whether impairment conditions exist. While we believe our estimates of future cash ﬂows
are reasonable, different assumptions regarding factors such as market rents, economic conditions, and
occupancy rates could significantly affect these estimates.

In addition, we evaluate our investments in real estate loans receivable each reporting date and if
it is probable we will not collect all principal and interest in accordance with the terms of the loan, we
will record an impairment charge based on these evaluations. While we believe it is currently probable
we will collect all scheduled principal and interest with respect to the PAL Loan, current market
conditions with respect to credit availability and with respect to real estate market fundamentals create
a significant amount of uncertainty. Given this, any future adverse development in market conditions
may cause us to re-evaluate our conclusions, and could result in material impairment charges with
respect to the PAL Loan.

We have initiated foreclosure proceedings against the Palms of Monterrey borrower in order to
secure a fee simple interest in the property. We expect the foreclosure process to be complete in the
second quarter of 2010. We believe that the fair value of the underlying collateral exceeds the carrying
value of the Palms of Monterrey note receivable at December 31, 2009. Accordingly, we have not

F-11



2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

recorded any impairment charge against the Palms of Monterrey note recervable for the year ended
December 31, 2009.

In evaluating our investments for impairment, management may use appraisals and makes
estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, the projected date of disposition of the
properties, the estimated future cash flows of the properties during our ownership, and the projected
sales price of each of the properties. A change in these estimates and assumptions could result in
understating or overstating the book value of our investments, which could be material to our financial
statements. : '

We believe the carrying value of our operating real estate and loan investments is currently
recoverable. Accordingly, there were no impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2009 or
2008. However, if market conditions worsen beyond our current expectations, or if changes in our
strategy s1gn1f1cantly affect any key assumptions used in our fair value calculations, we may need to
take charges in future periods for impairments related to our existing investments. Any such non-cash
charges would have an adverse effect on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize rental income generated from leases on real estate assets on a stralght -line basis
over the terms of the respective leases, including the effect of rent holidays, if any. Straight-line rental
revenue of $0.2 million and less than $0.1 million was recognized in rental revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectlvely Below market lease amortization of $1.1 million and
$0.2 million was recognlzed in rental revenues for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectlvely

We recogmze 1nterest income from real estate loans recelvable on an accrual bas1s over the life of
the loan using the interest method. Direct loan origination fees and origination or acquisition costs, as
well as acqu1s1t10n premiums or discounts, are amortized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to
interest income. We will stop accruing interest on loans when there is concern as to the ultimate
collection of principal or interest of the loan. In the event that we stop accruing interest on a loan, we
will generally not recognize subsequent interest income until cash is received or we make the decision
to restart interest accrual on the loan. ' ' '

Accounts Receivable.

Accounts receivable primarily consist of stralght -line rental revenue receivables of $0 2 million and
less than $0.1 million as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectlvely, and receivables
from our tenants related to 1875 Lawrence a multl-tenant office bu11d1ng located in Denver Colorado :
(“1875 Lawrence”).

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Prepald expenses and other assets include prepaid dlrectors and officers’ insurance, as well as
prepaid insurance of our consohdated property.

Deferred Fmancmg Fees

Deferred financing fees are recorded at cost and are amortlzed to interest expense of our. note
payable using a straight-line method that approximates the effective interest method over the life of the
related debt. Accumulated amortization of deferred financing fees was $0.1 million for the year ended
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

December 31, 2009. We did not have any accumulated: amortization of deferred. financing fees for the
years ended December 31, 2008. :

Organization and Oﬁéring Expenses

: We reimburse our advisor or its affiliates for any organization and offering expenses incurred on .
our behalf in connection with the primary offering (other than selling commissions and the dealer
manager fee). Through December 31,2009 we did not reimburse expenses.that caused our total
organization and offering expenses (other than selling commissions and the dealer manager fee) related
to our primary offering to exceed 1.5% of gross offering proceeds from the primary offering as of the
date of reimbursement. At each balance sheet date, we estimated the total gross public offering
proceeds expected to be received under the Offering and recognized the amount of organization and
offering reimbursement. We recorded the amount of reimbursement at the lower of (a) 1.5% of the
estimated gross public offering proceeds, or (b) the actual organization and offering costs incurred by.
our advisor or its affiliates. Effective October 2, 2009, we changed the timing in determining the limit
on the amount of the reimbursement of organization and offering expenses (other than selling
commissions and the dealer manager fee) as described in Note 10.

Organization and offering expenses are defined generally as any and all costs and expenses
incurred by us in connection with our formation, preparing for the Offermg, the qualification and
registration of the Offering, and the marketing and distribution of our shares. Organization and
offering expenses include, but are not limited to, accounting and legal fees, costs to amend the
registration statement and supplement the prospectus, printing, mailing and distribution costs, filing
fees, amounts to reimburse our advisor or its affiliates for the salaries of employees, and other costs in
connection with preparing supplemental sales literature, telecommunication costs, fees of the transfer
agent, registrars, trustees, escrow holders, depositories and experts, and fees and costs for ernployees of
our advisor or its affiliates to attend industry conferences. :

All offering costs are recorded as an offset to additional paid-in capital, and all organization costs
are recorded as an expense at the time we become liable for the payment of these amounts.

Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and have qualified as a REIT since the year ended
December 31, 2008. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet a number of organizational and operational
requirements, including a requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to
our stockholders. As-a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax at the corporate
level. We are organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the
Code and intend to continue to operate in such a manner, but no assurance can be given that we will
operate in a manner so as to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT.

We have reviewed our tax positions under GAAP guidance that clarifies the relevant criteria and
approach for the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions. The guidance prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition of a tax
position taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return. A tax position may only be recognized in the
financial statements if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon
examination. We believe it is more likely than not that the tax positions taken relatlve to our status as a
REIT will be sustained i in any tax examination.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Stock-Based -Compensation

We have adopted a stock-based incentive award plan for our directors and consultants and for
employees, directors and consultants of our aff111ates We have not issued any stock- based awards under
the plan as of December 31, 2009.

Concentration of Credit Risk

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had cash and cash equivalents deposited in certain financial -
institutions in excess of federally insured levels. We have diversified our cash and cash equivalents
among several banking institutions in an attempt to minimize exposure to any one of these entities. We
regularly monitor the financial stability of these financial institutions and believe that we are not
exposed to any significant credit risk in cash and cash equivalents or restricted cash.

Earnings per Share

Earnings (loss) per share is calculated based on the weighted ‘average number of common shares
outstanding during each period. The weighted average shares outstanding used to calculate both basic
and diluted loss per share were the same for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and for the
period from January 9, 2007 (date of mceptlon) through December 31, 2007 as there were no stock-
based awards outstanding. ;

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest represents the noncontrolling ownership interest’s proportionate share of
the equity in our consolidated real estate investment. At December 31, 2009, noncontrolling interest
consists of the 10% unaffiliated partners’ share in the Palms of Monterrey real estate loan receivable.
Income and losses are allocated to noncontrolling interest holders based. on their ownership percentage.

" Reportable Segments

GAAP establishes standards for reporting financial and descriptive information about an
enterprise’s reportable segments. We have determined that we have one reportable segment, with
activities related to the ownership, development and management of real estate assets. Our chief
operating decision maker evaluates operating performance on an individual property level. Therefore
our properties are aggregated into one reportable segment.

3. New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) delayed the effective date
of applying updated accounting guidance in regards to nonrecurring fair value measurements of
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities until the fiscal year beginning after November 1, 2008.
We adopted the updated accounting guidance effective January 1, 2009, and this adoption is expected - .
to enhance our future disclosures regarding how we develop fair value estimates related to .. T
non-financial assets and liabilities in our flnanmal statements.
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3. New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

In December 2007, the FASB issued updated accounting guidance on business combinations. The
updated guidance retains the fundamental requirement that the acquisition method of accounting, or
purchase method, be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be identified for each
business combination. This Statement is broader in scope than the original guidance, which applied
only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring consideration. The updated
guidance applies the same method of accounting (the acquisition method) to all transactions and other
events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. This Statement also
makes certain other modifications, including.a broader definition of a business and the requirement
that acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. This statement applies to business combinations’
occurring on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on-or after
December 15, 2008. The: acquisition of real estate property has been determined to meet the- definition
of a business combination as defined in ‘the updated guidance. Therefore, effective January 1, 2009, we:
no longer capitalize acquisition related costs for future acquisitions of real estate properties, but
expense such costs as incurred. R

In February 2007, the FASB issued updated guidance regarding the fair value option for financial
assets and financial liabilities. The fair value option established by the new guidance permits all entities-
to choose to measure eligible items. at fair value at specified election dates. A business entity will report
unrealized gains and losses on items for which' the fair value option has been elected in earnings (or
another performance indicator if the business entity does not report earnings) at each subsequent
reporting date. We adopted this standard effective January 1, 2008 but have not elected the fair value
measurement option for any financial assets or liabilities at the present time; however, we may elect to
measure future eligible financial assets or liabilities at fair value.

In March 2008, the FASB issued updated guidance for disclosures about derivative instruments and
hedging activities. The updated accounting guidance is intended to improve financial reporting about
derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable investors.to .
better understand their effects on an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.
Our adoption of the updated accounting guidance affected disclosures only and had no impact - on our
financial position or results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on noncontrolling interests. This
guidance clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, which is sometimes referred to-as.
minority interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity
in the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, this guidance requires - :
consolidated net income to be reported, on the face of the consolidated statement of operations, at
amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. We -
adopted this guidance on January 1, 2009.

In April 2009, the FASB issued a staff position providing additional guidance for estimating fair
value when there has been a significant decrease in market activity for a financial asset. This staff
position re-emphasizes that regardless of market conditions the fair value measurement is an exit price ’
concept. It clarifies and includes additional factors to consider in determining whether there has been a
significant decrease in market activity for an asset or liability and provides additional clarification on
estimating fair value when the market activity for an asset or liability has declined significantly. This
guidance is applied prospectively to all fair value measurements where appropriate and is effective for
interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. The implementation of this guidance on
June 30, 2009 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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3. New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

In June 2009, the FASB issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for
the consolidation of variable interest entities. The guidance eliminates exceptions to consolidating
quahfymg special-purpose entities, contains new criteria for determining the primary beneficiary, and
increases the frequency of required reassessments to determine whether a company is the primary
beneficiary of a variable interest entity. It also contains a new requirement that any term, transaction,
or arrangement that does not have a substantive effect on an entity’s status as a variable interest entity,
a company’s power over a variable interest entity, or a company’s obligation to absorb losses or its
rights to receive benefits of an entity must be disregarded. The guidance is applicable for annual
periods after November 15, 2009 and interim periods thereafter. The implementation of this guidance
on January 1, 2010 did not have a'material impact on our consolidated financial statements. '

Further, the new accountlng standard related to the consohdatlon of variable interest entltles
requires an enterprise to-perform a qualitative analysis when determining whether or not it must
consolidate a variable interest entity. Additionally, it requires enhanced disclosures about an . .
enterprise’s involvement with variable interest entities and any significant change in risk exposure due
to that involvement, as well as how significant its involvement with the variable interest entity impacts
the enterprise’s financial statements. Finally, an enterprise is required to disclose significant judgments
and assumptions used to determine whether or not to consolidate a variable interest entity. The
adoption of this accounting standard did not change any of our previous conclusions regarding our
variable interest entities and thus did not have an effect on our financial position, results of operatlons
or liquidity.

4. Real Estate and Real Estate Investments

As of December 31, 2009, we consolidated three real estate assets. In addition, we have a
noncontrolling, unconsolidated ownership interest in one real estate asset that we account for using the
equity method. The following table presents certain information about our consolidated properties as of
December 31, 2009: :

Approximaté

Rentable

Square

Footage Ownership
Property Name - Location (unaudited) Description Interest
1875 Lawrence . . .. ........... Denver, CO 185,000 15-story office building 100%
PALLoan .................. ¢)) n/a redevelopment property - Lender
Palms of Monterrey ........... Fort Myers, FL n/a multifamily | - Lender

(1) Hotel lodging units located on U.S. Army installations at Fort Hood, Texas; Fort. Leavenworth,
Kansas; Fort Myer, Virginia; Fort Polk, Louisiana; Fort Riley, Kansas; Fort Rucker, Alabama; Fort
Sam Houston, Texas; Tripler Army Medical Center and Fort Shafter, Hawaii; Fort Sill, Oklahoma;
and Yuma Proving Ground, Arizona.
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4. Real Estate and Real Estate Investments (Continued)
: Investment. in Unconsolidated Joint Venture

The folIowmg table presents certain information about our unconsohdated mvestment as of
December 31 2009 We had no unconsohdated joint ventures for the year ended December 31, 2008

‘Carrying Value of the

N . Ownership Investment at = .
Property Name . ) ) Interest December 31, 2009
StoneCreek‘....'.._...., ...... i o 999% o $506

" Our mvestment in an unconsolidated joint venture as of December 31 2009 cons1sted of our
proportronate share of the combmed assets and habrlrtres of our mvestment property as follows:

A T . AsofDecember 31, 2009 .
Real estate assets, net . ... ... SR R I i ©$13,886

* Cash and cash equivalents . ... .. .. IR S o 641 -
Otherassets .. ............ . ...0 ... . TRV 46
T‘otal;assets.......t..’...‘.‘..b...'.‘...”.v........br..‘.‘ o $14,573
. Notespayable....’..: ..... - $12917
‘Other liabilities . . . . . .. e . [ ©151
Total labilities . . . .. ..o v it i e 13,068
BQUILY © o v e ee e e e R 1,505
Total 11ab111t1es and equlty ........ SR S o $14 573

Our equrty in losses from this investment is our proportlonate share of the combined loss of our
unconsolidated joint venture for the year ended December 31, 2009. We had no unconsolidated joint
ventures for the year ended December 31, 2008 or for the period from January 9, 2007 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2007. =

For the Year Ended

December 31,

Revenue . ... $225
Operating expenses:

Operating eXpenses . . ............couoeeeeennn. e 66

Propertytaxes.'...'.....‘...'.'.....T ......... L 17+

Total operating expenses. . ... . . . e e e - 83
Operating inCoOMEe . . . .. ... ...ttt i ive e 142
Non-operating expenses:

Depreciation and amortization ...................... ... 78

Interest and other,net . . ....... ... . 0., 82

Total non-operating expenses . .............cou.iiinn... 160
Net 0SS .« vttt e e $(18)
Company’s share of net loss. ... .......... ... ... ... a.. $ (2)
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4. Real Estate and Real Estate Investments (Continued)
Real Estate Acquisitions and Investments—2009
PAL Loan

On August 14, 2009, we entered into a loan agreement with an unaffiliated third party to provide -
up to $25 million of second lien financing for the privatization of, and improvements to, approximately
3,200 hotel lodging units on ten U.S. Army installations.

The PAL Loan will be used to finance costs related to the construction, revitalization, renovation,
and development of improvements of hotel lodging units located on U.S. Army installations at Fort
Hood, Texas; Fort Leavenworth, Kansas; Fort Myer, Virginia; Fort Polk, Louisiana; Fort Riley, Kansas;
Fort Rucker, Alabama; Fort Sam Houston, Texas; Tripler Army Medical Center and Fort Shafter,
Hawaii; Fort Sill, Oklahoma; and Yuma Proving Ground, Arizona, through the U.S. Army’s
Privatization of Army Lodging (“PAL”) program.

The aggregate principal amount available under the loan agreement is $25 million, of which
approximately $12.8 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2009 and is included in real estate
loans receivable on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009. Future advances may be
made not more frequently than monthly in accordance with the terms and conditions of the loan
agreement. Proceeds of our ongoing public offering were used to fund the PAL Loan. The PAL Loan
accrues interest at 18% per annum and matures on September 1, 2016. The PAL Loan is payable as
follows:

* Monthly payments of interest only calculated at the rate of 10% per annum (the “Minimum
- Monthly Payment”) are required beginning on October 1, 2009 through September 1, 2011;

* Beginning on October 1, 2011, and ending on September 1, 2013, payments of the Minimum
Monthly Payment, and (after payment of the senior indebtedness described below) accrued and
unpaid interest to the extent of available cash flow;

* Beginning on October 1, 2013, and ending on August 1, 2016, payments of the Minimum
Monthly Payment, and accrued and unpaid interest and principal to the extent of available cash
flow; and

¢ Any remaining principal amount and accrued and unpald interest are due and payable on
September 1, 2016. -

“The loan may be prepaid at any time after the full $25 million has been disbursed, upon the
fulfillment of certain conditions as described in the related promlssory note and the payment of a
prepayment premium in the circumstances described in such promissory note. The loan is secured by a
second lien leasehold mortgage encumbering certain real and personal property comprising
approximately 3,200 hotel lodging units on the ten U.S. Army installations. An affiliate of the borrower
has provided a limited guaranty for payment of the full amount of the PAL Loan should the borrower
file for bankruptcy and in certain other limited circumstances related to bankruptcy of the borrower.

The PAL Loan is subordinate to a $35 million senior credit facility provided by Bank of America,
N.A., an unrelated third party lender, and is senior to a $21.5 million subordinate loan provided by an
affiliate of the borrower. - ' ' '

_ Palms of Monterrey

On October 2, 2009, we purchased through a joint venture, at a discount, a 90% interest in a
promissory note secured by a first lien mortgage for $25.4 million plus capitalized closing costs from
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as Receiver for Corus Bank, N.A. Proceeds of our ongoing
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4. Real Estate and Real Estate Investments (Continued)

public offering were used to fund the Palms of Monterrey purchase. The borrower is.currently in .
default under the promissory note and the principal balance and accrued interest owed at the date of
purchase was $65.8 million. The collateral for the promissory note is a 408-unit multi-family complex,
Palms of Monterrey, on a 28-acre site located in Fort Myers, Florida. Subsequent to December 31,
2009, we reached an agreement with the borrower such that the borrower will no longer contest the
foreclosure proceedings in exchange for $0.3 million. We.expect to complete the foreclosure process.
and secure a fee simple interest in the property during the first half of 2010. Until the foreclosure
process is complete we will recognize interest income on the defaulted note when cash is recelved At
December 31, 2009, the balance for this’ real estate loan receivable was $27 1 mllhon

Stone Creek

On November 30 2009, we purchased from an unafflhated third party, a.9.99% l1m1ted
partnership interest in a multifamily property in Killeen, Texas for $0.5 million (“Stone Creek”). The
unaffiliated third party retained a 0.01% general partner interest with the remaining 90% limited
partner interest held by Behringer Harvard Strategic Opportunity Fund I LP, an investment program
sponsored by Behringer Harvard Holdings. Stone Creek is a 300 unit multifamily property built in 1997.
We will account for this property under the equlty method of accounting. Proceeds from our ongomg
public offering were used to fund the purchase of our interest in Stone Creek.

Real Estate Acquisitions and Investments—2008

On October 28, 2008, we acquired a multi-tenant office building, 1875 Lawrence: 1875 Lawrence is
a 15-story office building containing approxrmately 185,000 rentable square feet (unaudited), located on
approximately half an acre of land. The total contract purchase price for 1875 Lawrence, excluswe of
closing costs, was $34.5 million.

5. Variable Interest Entities
PAL Loan

On August 14, 2009, we entered into a loan agreement with an unaffiliated third party (borrower)
to provide up to $25 million of second:lien financing for the privatization of, and improvements to,
approximately 3,200 hotel lodging units on ten U.S. Army installations, the PAL Loan. As of
December 31, 2009, $12.8 million of the aggregate $25 million available under the loan agreement was
outstanding and is included in real estate loans recelvable on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2009. Based on our evaluation, we have determined that the unafflhated third- party
entity meets the criteria of a variable interest entity under GAAP but that we are not the primary
beneficiary. Accordingly, we do not consolidate the unaffiliated third- party entity. At December 31,
2009 there was, approx1mate1y $44.3 million of assets related to the unafflhated th1rd -party entity.

Stone Creek

In November 2009, we acquired a 9.99% limited partnership interest in a multifamily property,
Stone Creek, in Killeen, Texas for $0.5 million. Based on our evaluation, we have determined that the
entity meets the criteria of a variable interest entity under GAAP but that we are not the primary
beneficiary. Accordingly, we do not consolidate the Stone Creek entity and instead account for it under
the equity method of accounting. At December 31, 2009, there was approxrmately $13 9 m11hon of real
estate assets related to Stone Creek ' N :
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6. Real Estate Loans Receivable

As of December 31, 2009, we had invested in two real estate loans receivable.

Annual

. . : i T Book Value as: Effective
Loan Name Date Acquired  Property Type  of 12/31/2009  Interest Rate - Maturity Date
PALLoan ................. 8/14/2009  Hospitality $12,634 18% 9/1/2016

Palms of Monterrey .......... 10/2/2009  Multifamily 27,078 @ &)
h ' ' $39,712

M We acquired the loan in default with the intent to foreclose on the borrower and secure a fee
simple interest in the underlying collateral. Because we have no reasonable expectation about the
timing and amount of cash flows expected to be collected, while the loan remains in default, we
are recogmzmg 1nterest income only to the extent of cash recelved

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we- earned $0.9- IIlllllOIl in interest income from our
real estate loans receivable, all related to the PAL Loan. Subsequent to December 31, 2009, we
received $0.7 million related to the Palms of Monterrey real estate loan receivable, which was
recognized as interest income in the period received.

7. Note Payable

The following table sets forth our note payable on 1875 Lawrence as of December 31 2009 and
2008.

- ‘ December 31, Interest -7 Maturity
Description 2009 2008 Rate ) Date
1875 Lawrence. . . ... .ooviinn ... $18,500 $18,500 30- day LIBOR + 2500 12/31/12

o 30-day LIBOR was 0.231% at December 31, 2009. The loan has a minimum interest rate of 6.25%.

~ On December 31 2008, we entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution to borrow up
to $23.5 million. The initial advance under the loan agreement was $18.5 million and was used to fund
acquisition and acquisition-related costs of 1875 Lawrence, which we acquired on October 28, 2008.
The remaining advances under the loan agreement will be used for capital expenditures, tenant
improvements, and leasing commission costs for 1875 Lawrence. We have unconditionally guaranteed
payment of the loan for an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) $11.75 million and (i) 50% of the
total amount advanced under the loan agreement if the aggregate amount advanced is less than $23.5
million.

.. The loan matures on December 31 2()12 and we, have the optron to extend it for one twelve- s
month period provided that.certain conditions.have been met. v

Commencing with the first calendar miorith following the date of the loan and contmumg through
the first 24 months, monthly payments of accrued unpaid interest are required. Commencing on the
twenty-fifth calendar month from the date of the loan and continuing until the maturity date, monthly
payments. of principal and interest are due and payable with principal calculated using an_amortization
term of 25 years, with the unpaid prmcrpal balance and all accrued unpaid interest bemg due and
payable on: the .maturity date. S : o ;

The loan is secured by a first mortgage lien on the assets of 1875 Lawrence mcludmg the Iand
fixtures, improvements, contracts; leases, rents, and reserves.
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7. Note Payable (Continued)

We are subject to-customary affirmative, negative, and financial coyenants, representations,
warranties and borrowing conditions, all as set forth in the loan agreement.

The following table summar:zes our contractual ob11gat10ns for principal payments as of
December 31, 2009:

Year ‘ o - - Amount Due

2011 ........ R R $ 293

2012 ..o oo ie e e e e e e 18,207
$18,500

8. Leasing Activity

Future minimum base rental payments due to us under non-cancelable leases in effect as of
December 31, 2009 for 1875 Lawrence are as follows: ~

Minimul;n »
‘ ' Rental

Year . : Payments -
270 10 O $3,202
DOTL o e e e e e e e e 1,957
2003 e e e e e e e e 699
2014 .......... e e e 225
Thereafter . ... ........... .. ... e e e e e —
Total .. ... PSPPI $7,498

As of December 31, 2009, one of our tenants accounted for 10% or more of our aggregate annual
rental revenues from our consolidated property, 1875 Lawrence. Policy Studies, Inc., a tenant in the
healthcare consulting services industry, accounted for rental revenue of approximately $0.8 million, or
apprommately 15%; of our aggregate rental revenues for the year. -ended December 31, 2009. Policy
Studies, Inc. has exercised its termlnatlon option and plans to vacate the building on or before
August 31, 2010. '

9. Stockholders’ Equify

Capitalization

As of December 31, 2009, our authorized capital was 350,000,000 shares of common stock,
50,000,000 shares of preferred stock and 1,000 shares of convertible stock. All shares of such stock have
a par value of $.0001 per share. As of December 31, 2009, we had 14,648,698 shares of our common

stock issued and outstanding, 1,000 shares of convertible stock issued and outstanding, and no shares of
preferred stock issued and outstanding. :

The shares of convertible stock will be converted into shares of common stock automatically if
(1) we have made total distributions on then outstanding shares of our common stock equal to'the
issue price of those shares plus a 10% cumulative, non-compounded, annual return on the issue price
of those outstanding shares, or (2) we list our common stock for trading on a national securities
exchange if the sum of the prior distributions on then outstanding shares of the common stock plus the
aggregate market value of the common stock (based on the 30-day average closing price) meets the
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9. Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)

same 10% performance threshold.:In general, the convertible' stock will convert into shares of common
stock with a value equal to the lesser of (A) 20% of the excess of our enterprise value plus the
aggregate value of distributions paid to date on then outstanding shares of our common stock over the
aggregate issue price of those outstanding shares plus a 10% cumulative, non-compounded, annual
return on the issue price of those outstanding shares or (B) 15% of the excess of our enterprise value
plus the aggregate value of distributions paid to date on then outstanding shares of the common stock
over the aggregate issue price of those outstanding shares plus a 6% cumulative, non-compounded,
annual return on the issue price of those outstanding shares. At the date of issuance of the shares of
convertible stock, management determined the fair value under GAAP was less than the nominal value
paid for the shares; therefore, the difference is not material.

The timing of the conversion of any or all of the convertible stock may be deferred by our board
of directors if it determines that full conversion may jeopardize our qualification as a REIT. Any such
deferral will in no event otherwise alter the terms of the convertible stock, and such stock shall be
converted at the earliest date after our board of directors determines that such conversion will not
jeopardize our qualification as a REIT. Our board of directors is authorized to amend our charter,
without the approval of the stockholders, to increase the aggregate number of authorized shares of
capital stock or the number of shares of any class or series that we have authority to issue.

| Share Redemption Program

Our board of directors has adopted a share redemption-program that permiits our stockholders to
sell their shares to us after they have held them for at least one year, subject to significant conditions
and limitations. The purchase price for the redeemed shares is set forth in the Amended and Restated
Share Redemption Program. Subject to certain limitations, we: will waive the one-year holding
requirement for redemptions sought upon a stockholder’s death or qualifying disability or redemptions
sought upon a stockholder’s confinement to a long-term care facility. Our board of directors reserves
the right in its sole discretion at any time, and from time to time, to (1) waive the one-year holding:
period in the event of other exigent circumstances affecting a stockholder such as bankruptcy or a
mandatory distribution requrrement under the stockholder’s TRA, (2) reject any request for redemption,
(3) change the purchase price for redemptions, or (4) otherwise amend the terms for the share
redemption program. Under the terms of the program, the cashavailable for redemption on any
particular date will generally be limited to the proceeds from the DRP during the period consisting of
the preceding four fiscal quarters for which financial statements. are available, less any cash already
used for redemptions during the same period; plus,: if we had positive operating cash flow during such
preceding four fiscal quarters, 1% of all operating cash flow during such preceding four fiscal quarters.
In addition, we will not redeem in ‘excess of 5% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding
during the twelve-month period immediately prior to the date of redemption. We.redeemed 82,096
shares of commeon stock for approximately $0.7 million during the year:ended December 31, 2009..

Distributions

We initiated the payment of monthly drstrlbutlons in April 2008 in the amount of a 3% annualized
rate of return, based on an investment in our common stock of $10. 00 per share and calculated on a
daily record basis of $0.0008219 per share. The annualized rate of return was raised to 5% effective
June 1, 2009, calculated on a daily record ba81s of $0. 0013699 per share. A portion of each dlStrlbuthIl
is expected to constitute a return of capital for tax purposes Pursuant to the DRP, stockholders may
elect to reinvest any cash distribution in add1t10na1 shares of common stock. We record all distributions
when declared, except that the stock issued through the DRP is recorded when the shares are actually
issued. Distributions declared and payable as of December 31, 2009 were $0.6 million, which included



9. Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)

$0.2 million of eash distributions payable. Distributions declared and. payable as of December 31, 2008
were $0.2 million, which included less than $0.1 million of cash. :

The followmg are the distributions declared by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
2008.

2009 ' ‘ Cash - DRP Total .= Per Share

4thQuarter ......... e PR B e $ 474 $1,229 $_1>,7_(_)3 $O.126
3rdQuarter. . ..o ou R e 392 1,045 1,437 0.126
2nd Quarter ............... R, ' 227 654 881 ~ 0.091
IstQuarter . ...ttt e e e 147 439 586 0.074
Total . ....... e e e B P $1,240° $3,367 $4,607 $0.417
m | v . Lo . " Cash DRP ’ Total - - Per Share
4th Quarter ... .o e it e S e s 8120 8374 $494 ¢ $0.076
3rdQuarter .. ... e v e e i e e e 75 222 297 0.076
2nd Quarter . ... ... ..., [ U e e e 17 57 74 0.075
1st Quarter . ......... e e R T —_ — — e
1 1 7 1 $212 .$653 $865  $0.227

On December 16, 2009, the Company’s board. of directors declared distributions payable to.the
stockholders of record each day-during the months of January, February, and March 2010. On
March 26, 2010, the Company’s board of directors declared distributions payable to stockholders of
record each day during the months of ‘April, May, and June 2010. Distributions payable to each.
stockholder of record will be paid on or before the 16th day of the following month.

10. Related Party Transactions

Our adv1s0r and certain of its affiliates will receive fees and compensation in connectlon w1th the
Offering, and in connection with the acquisition, management, and sale of our assets.

Behringer Securities LP (“Behringer Securities”), the dealer-manager and an affiliate of our
advisor, receives commissions of up to 7% of gross offering proceeds. Behringer Securities reallows
100% of selling-commissions earned to participating broker-dealers. In addition, we pay Behringer
Securities a dealer manager fee of up to 2.5% of gross offering proceeds. Pursuant to separately -
negotiated agreements, Behringer Securities may reallow a portion of its dealer manager fee in an
aggregate amount up to 2% of gross offering proceeds to broker-dealers participating in the Offering; -
provided, however, that Behringer Securities may reallow, in the aggregate, no more than 1.5% of gross
offering proceeds for marketing fees and expenses, conference fees and non-itemized, non-invoiced due:
diligence efforts and no more than 0.5% of gross offering proceeds for out-of-pocket and bona fide,
separately invoiced due diligence expenses incurred as fees, costs or other expenses from third parties.
Further, in special cases pursuant to separately negotiated agreements and subject to apphcable
limitations imposed by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Behringer Securities may use a
portion of its dealer manager fee to reimburse certain broker-dealers participating in the Offering for .
technology costs and expenses associated with the Offering and costs and expenses associated with the
facilitation of the marketing and ownershlp of our shares by such broker-dealers’ customers. No selling
commissions or dealer manager fee will be paid for sales under the DRP. For both of the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, Behringer Securities earned selling commlssmns and dealer manager fees
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10. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

of $4.9 million and $1.8 million, respectively, which were recorded as a reduction to additional pald in
capital. -

We reimburse Behringer Opportunity Advisors II or its affiliates for any organization and offering
expenses incurred on our behalf in connection with our primary offering (other than selling
commissions and the dealer manager fee). On October 2, 2009, we entered into an Amended and
Restated Advisory Management Agreement with Behringer Opportunity Advisors II. The Amended and
Restated Advisory Management Agreement changes the timing in determmmg the reimbursement of
organization and offering expenses by us during the offering and waives the reimbursement of )
$3.5 million of organization and offering expenses (other than selling commissions and the dealer
manager fee) the advisor incurred on our behalf through December 31, 2008. We wrote off the
$3.5 million of organization and offering expenses in the fourth-quarter of 2009 which reduced the v
outstanding balance payable to affiliates, which increased our additional paid-in capital. Pursuant to the
Amended and Restated Advisory Management Agreement we will reimburse our advisor for
organization and offering expenses (other than selling commissions and the dealer manager fee)
incurred on our behalf until an aggregate of $7.5 million of such organization and offering expenses
have been reimbursed to our advisor. Thereafter, we will not reimburse any such organization and
offering expenses until the completion of our primary offering. Upon completlon of our primary
offering, we will reimburse our advisor for any additional organization and offering expenses (other
than selling commissions and the dealer manager fee) incurred up to 1. 5% of the gross proceeds from
the completed primary offering; provided however, we will not be required to reimburse our advisor
any additional amounts and our advisor will be required to reimburse us to the extent that the total
amount spent by us on organization and offering expenses (other than selling commissions.and the
dealer manager fee) would exceed 1.5% of the gross proceeds from the completed primary offering. In
connection with the Amended and Restated Advisory Management Agreement we reimbursed
$3.4 million of organlzatlon and offering expenses to Behringer Opportunity Adv1sors II on October 20,
2009. . :

Since our inception through December 31, 2009, approximately $9. 6 million of organization and
offermg expenses had been incurred by Behringer Opportunity Advisors II or its affiliates on our
behalf. Of this amount, $5.7 million had been reimbursed by us, $3.5 million had been written off per
the Amended and Restated Advisory Management Agreement (discussed above), and $0.4 million of
reimbursements payable is included in payables to affiliates on our balance sheet. Of the $0.4 million of
organization and offering expenses reimbursable by us through December 31, 2009, approximately -
$0.1 million had been expensed as organizational costs with the remainder-recorded as a reduction of
additional paid-in capital. Behringer Opportunity Advisors II or its affiliates determines the amount of
organization and offering expenses-owed based on specific invoice identification as well as an allocation
of costs to us and other Behringer Harvard programs, based on respective equlty offenng results of
those entities in offering.

Our advisor or its affiliates will also receive acquisition and advisory fees of 2.5% of the amount
paid and/or budgeted in respect of the purchase, development, construction, or'improvement of each
asset we acquire, including any debt attributable to these assets. Our advisor and its affiliates will also
receive acquisition and advisory fees of 2.5% of the funds advanced in respect of a loan or other
investment, S :

Our advisor or its affiliates also receive an acqtiis:i'tion’ expense reimbursement in the amount of
0.25% of the funds paid for purchasing an asset, including any debt attributable to the asset, plus -

0.25% of the funds budgeted for development, construction, or improvement in the case of assets that
we acquire and intend to develop, construct, or 1mprove Our adv1sor or its affiliates will also receive
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10. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

an acquisition expense reimbursement in the amount of 0.25% of the funds advanced in respect of a
loan or other investment. In addition, to the extent our advisor or its affiliates directly provide services
formerly provided or usually provided by third parties, including without limitation accounting services
related to the preparation of audits required by the SEC, property condition reports, title services, title
insurance, insurance brokerage or environmental services related to the preparation of environmental
assessments in connection with a prospective or completed investment the direct employee costs and
burden to our advisor of providing these services will be acquisition expenses for which we will
reimburse our advisor. We also pay third parties, or réimburse the advisor or its affiliates, for any
investment-related expenses due to third parties in the case of a completed investment, including, but
not limited to, legal fees and expenses, travel and communication expenses, costs of appraisals,
accounting fees and expenses, third-party brokerage or finder’s fees, title insurance, premium expenses,.
and other closmg costs. In addition, acquisition expenses for which we will reimburse our advisor,
include any payments made to (i) a prospective seller of an asset, (i) an agent of a prospective seller
of an asset, or (iii) a party that has the right to control the sale of an asset intended for investment by
us that are not refundable and that are not ultimately applied against the purchase price for such asset.
Except as descnbed above with respect to services customarily or previously provided by third parties,
our advisor is responsible for paying all of the expenses it incurs associated with persons employed by
the advisor to the extent dedicated to making investments for us, such as wages and benefits of the
1nvestment personnel. Our advisor or its affiliates are also responsible for paying all of the investment-
related expenses that we or our advisor or its affiliates incur that are due to third parties or related to
the additional services provided by our advisor as described above with respect to investments we do
not make other than certain non-refundable payments made in connection with any acqu1s1t10n For the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we incurred $0.9 million and $0.8 million in acquisition and
advisory fees respectively. We incurred $0.1 million for in acqu1s1t10n expense reimbursements for both
of the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

We pay our advisor or its affiliates a debt financing fee of 1% of the amount available under any
loan or line of credit made available to us. It is anticipated that our advisor will pay some or all of
these fees to third parties with whom it subcontracts to coordinate fmancmg for us. We did not incur
any debt fmancmg fees for year ended December 31, 2009 or the period from January 9, 2007 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2007. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we 1ncurred debt
financing fees of $0.2 million.

We pay our advisor or its affiliates a development fee in an amount that is usual and customary
for comparable services rendered to similar projects in the geographic market of the project if such
affiliate provides the development services and if a majority of our independent directors determines
that such development fee is fair and reasonable and on terms and conditions not less favorable than -
those available from unaffiliated third parties. We incurred no such fees for the years ended
December 31, 2009 or 2008.

We pay our property manager and affiliate of our advisor, Behringer Harvard Opportunity II
Management Services, LLC (“BHO II Management”), or its affiliates, fees for the management, -
leasing, and construction supervision of our properties. Property management fees are 4.5% of the -
gross revenues of the properties managed by BHO II Management or its affiliates plus leasing
commissions based upon the customary leasing commission applicable to the same geographic location
of the respective property. In the event that we contract directly with a third-party property manager in
respect of a property, BHO II Management or its affiliates receives an oversight fee equal to 0.5% of
the gross revenues of the property managed. In no event will BHO II 'Management or its affiliates
receive both a property management fee and an oversight fee with respect to any particular property.

In the event we own a property through a joint venture that does not pay BHO II Management directly
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10. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

for its services, we will pay BHO II Management a management fee or oversight fee, as applicable,
based only on an economic interest in the property. We incurred and expensed property management .
fees or oversight fees to BHO II Management of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009
We incurred no such fees for the year ended December 31, 2008.

We pay our advisor or its affiliates a monthly asset management fee of one-twelfth of 1.0% of the -
sum of the higher of the cost or value of each asset. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
we expensed $0.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of asset management fees. .

We reimburse our advisor or its affiliates for all expenses paid or incurred by the advisor in
connection with the services provided to us, subject to the limitation that we will not reimburse our
advisor for any amount by which its operating expenses (including the asset management fee) at the
end of the four preceding fiscal quarters exceeds the greater of: (A) 2% of our average invested assets,
or (B) 25% of our net income determined without reduction for any additions to reserves for
depreciation, bad debts or other similar non-cash reserves and excluding any gain from the sale of our
assets for that period. Notwithstanding the above, we may reimburse the advisor for expenses in excess
of this limitation if a majority of our independent directors determines that such excess expenses are
justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008
we incurred and expensed such costs for administrative services totaling $0.5 million and $0.1 million,
respectively.

2

We are dependent on Behringer Securities, Behringer Opportunity Advisors II, and BHO IT
Management for certain services that are essential to us, including the sale of shares of our common
stock, asset acquisition and disposition decisions, property management and leasing services, and other
general administrative responsibilities. In the event that these companies were unable to pr0V1de us
with their respective services, we would be required to obtain such services from other sourcés.

11. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments

We determined the following disclosure of estimated fair values using available market information
and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is necessary to interpret
market data and develop the related estimates of fair value. The use of different market assumptions
and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, management estimated that the carrying value of cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, other liabilities, payables/
receivables from related parties, and distributions payable were at amounts that reasonably
approximated their fair value based on their highly-liquid nature and/or short-term maturities.

As of December 31, 2009, our note payable totaled $18.5 million and consisted of one variable.
interest loan which we entered into on December 31, 2008. The loan has a variable interést rate with a
minimum rate of 6.25%. We believe that the carrying value of this loan approx1mates its fair‘value at
December 31, 2009. Y

At December 31, 2009, we had two real estate loans receivable with an aggregate carrying value of
$39.7 million. The PAL Loan, a fixed rate real estate loan receivable with $12.8 million outstanding
under the loan as of December 31, 2009, has a maturity date of September 1, 2016 and accrues interest
at 18% per annum. The borrower to Palms of Monterrey loan receivable, a loan we acquired in
October 2009, remains in default and we are currently pursuing foreclosure to secure a fee simple
interest in the underlying collateral. We considered the expected cash flows for the loans, underlying
collateral values (for collateral-dependent loans), and estimated yield requirements of institutional
investors for loans with similar characteristics, including remaining loan term, loan-to-value, type of

F-26



11. Fair Value Disclosure of Financial Instruments (Continued)

collateral and other credit enhancements: Aceordingly, we believe the carrying value of our real estate
loans receivable approximate fair value at December 31, 2009.

The fair value estimates presented heérein are based on information available to our management.
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. Although our management is not aware of any factors that would
significantly affect the estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively
revalued for purposes of these consolidated financial statements since that date, and current estimates
of fair value may differ significantly from the amounts presented herein.

12. Supplemenfal Cash Flow Information

Supplemental cash flow information is sumllnarized.below for the years ended December 31, 2009, -
2008, and for the penod from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through December 31 2007.

For the Penod
from January 9, 2007
(Date of Inception)
Through December 31,

_ ' | 2009 2008 ' 2007
Interest paid ......... .. Ceee ey $1,076 $ — $—
Non-cash financing activities:

Common stock issued in distribution reinvestment plan ..... $3,068 § 517 $—
Accrued dividends payable . ............ ... .. ..., $ 607, § 181 $—
Offering costs payable to related parties ................ $ 425 $5,254 $—

13. Quarterly Results (Unaudlted)

Presented below is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008. There was no net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest for
the year ended December 31, 2008.

2009 Quarters Ended
March 31 June 30  September 30  December 31

Revemue ............... e BT $1,325 $1,449  $ 1,615  $ 1,986
Net loss . ... ... e D P $(541) $(198) $ (285 $ (51
Add: Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling ,

Interest .. ... ... e — — — 9.
Net loss attributable to Behnnger Harvard Opportunity
REITIL Inc. .......... e e $(541) $(198) $ (285) $ (42
Basic and diluted weighted average shares.outstanding .. = 7,901 9,519 11,389 13,501
Basic and diluted loss per share . .. ................ $(0.07) $(0.02) § (0.03) $. 0.00
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13. Quarterly Results (Unaudited) (Continued)

2008 Quarters Ended ;
March 31  June 30  September 30  December 31

Revenue . ........ouuuuon... e | cevee. 8 — 8 — 8 — $ 913
Net income (loss) ............................. $ 64 $(Q75 $§ 87 $ (97

Add: Net income (loss) attributable to the
_ noncontrolling interest . ................. L. — — — : —

Net income (loss) attributable to Behringer Harvard

Opportunity REIT I, Inc. .................. .. $ (64 $Q75) 0§ 87 $ (97)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding .. 22 969 - 3864 - . 6,529
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share . ........... $(2.86) $(0.18)  $ 0.02° - $(0.01)

ok ok ok ok
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Behringer Harvard Opportumty REIT II, Inc.
Addison, Texas

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT
11, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and for the years ended -
December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the period from January 9, 2007 (date of inception) through
December 31, 2007 and have issued our report thereon dated March:30, 2010; such- consolidated
financial statements and report are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our audits also included the
consolidated financial statement schedules of the Company listed in Item 15. The consolidated financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole;,"
present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 30, 2010
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc.
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves
Schedule 11
Décember 31, 2009

Balance at Charged to -

Beginning-of  Costs and : Charged to Balance at End
) Period - Expenses Other Accounts ~ Deductions of Period
Year ended December 31, 2009
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . $— $22 $— $— $22
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT II, Inc.
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
Schedule:I11
December; 31, 2009

Initial cost

Cost capitalized -Gross t
PR ey Land and  Building and . subsequent: - .carried at Accumulated  Year of Date  Depreciable
Property Name Location Encumbrances improvements improvements: to acquisition. ‘close of period depreciation construction acquired life
1875 Lawrence . Denver, CO 18,500 9,000 26,102 446 35,548 1,234 1982 10/28/2008 .
Totals . ... .. $18,500 $9,000 $26,102 $446 $35,548 $1,234 .

(1)  Buildings are 25 years

A summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

2008

$35,138

174

2009
Real Estate:

Balance at beginning of period ............. . ... . ... $35,138
ACQUISIEIONS . . o oot —
Improvements . .......... ...ttt 410
Costof real estate sold . .......... .. ... —

Balance atend of the period . ... .......... ... ... . ... $35,548

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at beginning of period . ........ ... ... ... $ 174
Depreciation eXpense . . . ...t 1,060
Disposals ... ... e —

Balance at end of the period . .. ....... ... ... . ..., $ 1,234

$ 174
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Behringer Harvard Opportunity REIT I, Inc.
Mortgage Loans on Real Estate
Schedule IV
. December 31, 2009
($ in thousands)

Principal Amount of

Periodic o “Face Carrying ' Loans Subject to
Interest  Maturity = Payment Prior Amount of Amount of Delinquent Principal
Description Rate Date Terms ~ Liens Mortgages Mortgages or Interest
Palms of Monterrey . . @ ™. - Mg $65,8000  $27,078 $27,078D
PAL Loan ......... 18% 9/1/2016 ~ @ 350009 12,634® 12,634 —

$35,000 $78,434  $39,712 $27,078

(1) We acquired the loan in default with the intent to foreclose on the borrower and secure a fee
simple interest in the underlying collateral. Because we have no reasonable expectation about the
timing and amount of cash flows expected to be collected, while the loan is in default, we are only

- recognizing interest 1nc0me only to the extent of cash recelved

(2) 'The PAL Loan is payable as follows: monthly payments of interest only calculated at the rate of
10% per annum (the “Minimum Monthly Payment”) are required beginning on October 1, 2009
through September 1, 2011. Beginning on October 1, 2011, and ending on September 1, 2013,

“'payments of the Mmlmum Monthly Payment, and (after payment of the senior indebtedness)
accrued and unpald interest to the extent of available cash flow. Begrnnlng on October 1, 2013,
and ending on August 1, 2016 payments of the Minimum Monthly Payment, and accrued and
unpaid interest and principal to the extent of available cash flow.. Any remaining principal amount
and accrued and unpaid interest are due and payable on September 1, 2016.

(3) We do not hold the first mortgage on this property Accordmgly, the amourit of the prior llen at
-~ Decémber 31, 2009 is estlmated :

(4) This mortgage is ava11able for up to $25 m11110n

* Reconciliation of the Carrying Amount of Mortgages T
' '‘Balance at beginning of 2009 .. ... .. .. i i i $ -
Additions during period: S , -
New mortgage loans . . ............. .. .. ... ... ...... 39,712
Deductions durmg perlod _ o L o
" Collectlons of principal . .. ... ... 0 L L Ul =

" Balance at close of 2009 . . . ... ..o ... .. . 839712
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31

3.2%
3.2(a)*
4.1

4.2
43
4.4
4.5
10.1*
10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement as amended by the First Articles of
Amendment and the Second Articles of Amendment (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Amended and Restated Bylaws
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Bylaws

Form of Subscription Agreement (included as Exhibit A to prospectus, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887)

Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to Form 10-Q flled on November 12, 2009)

Amended and Restated Automatic Purchase Plan (1ncorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to Form 10-Q filed on: November 12, 2009)

Form of Escrow Agreement (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Pre-Effective
Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement on Form S-11, Commlssron
File No. 333-140887)

Statement regarding restrictions on transferability of shares of common stock (to appear
on stock certificate or to be sent upon request and without charge to stockholders
issued shares without certificates) (incorporated by reference to EXhlblt 4.5 to
Pre-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on

"~ Form S-11, Commlssron File No. 333 140887)

Second Amended and Restated Adv1sory Management Agreement

Junior Loan Agreement (related to the PAL Loan) by and between Rest Easy LLC and
Behringer Harvard PAL I, LLC, dated as of August 14, 2009 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2009)

Promissory Note (related to the PAL Loan) between Rest Easy LLC, and.Behringer
Harvard PAL I, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q filed on
November 12, 2009) :

Intercreditor and Subordination Agreement (related to the PAL Loan) by and among
Bank of America, N.A., Behringer Harvard PAL I, LLC, and ‘Lend Lease (US)
Capital, Inc., dated as of August 14, 2009 (1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2009)

Construction Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture
Filing (related to the PAL Loan Fort Hood, TX property) by Rest Easy LLC, as
Grantor, to and in favor of Stephen J. Hughes, as Trustee, and Behringer Harvard PAL
I, LLC, as Lender, dated as of August 14, 2009 with schedule disclosing other
substantially identical Deeds of Trust omitted (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2009)

Construction Leasehold Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing
(related to the PAL Loan Fort Sill, OK property) by Rest Easy LLC, as Borrower, to
and in favor of Behringer Harvard PAL I, LLC, as Lender, dated as of August 14, 2009
with schedule disclosing other substantially identical Mortgages omitted (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2009)
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10.7

10.8 -

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

21.1*
31.1%
31.2%
32.1%
99.1

: L1m1ted L1ab111ty Company Agreement of 15250 Sonoma Drive, LLC dated

September 9, 2009 made by, between and among Behringer Harvard' Palms of
Monterrey, LLC and DD-CTP, LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
Post-Effective Amendment No. 8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on

Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887

Loan Documents. Parchase and Sale Agreement by and between Corus Bank, N.A. and
Christian Tyler Properties, LLC dated as of June 8, 2009, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 8 to the Company s Reglstratlon
Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887 - :

First Amendment to Loan Documents Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between
Corus Bank, N.A. and Christian Tyler Properties, LLC dated as of July 2, 2009,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 8 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887

Second Amendment to Loan Documents Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between
Corus Bank, N.A. and Christian Tyler Properties, LLC dated as of July 2, 2009,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 8 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887

Third Amendment to Loan Documents Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between
Corus Bank, N.A. and Christian Tyler Properties, LLC dated as of July 13, 2009,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 8 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887

Loan Agreement by and between BTS Monterrey Holdings LLC and Corus Bank, N.A.
dated as of March 21, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission
File No. 333-140887

Promissory Note made by BTS Monterrey Holdings LLC in favor of Corus Bank, N.A.
dated as of March 21, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission
File No. 333-140887

Mortgage, Security Agreement, Assignment of Leases and Rents and Fixture Filing
made by BTS Monterrey Holdings LLC in favor of Corus Bank, N.A. dated as of
March 21, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission
File No. 333-140887

Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement by and between MTRY Funding, LLC and
Corus Bank, N.A. dated as of March 21, 2006, incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.25 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 8 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-140887

List of Subsidiaries,

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification
Section 1350 Certifications**

Valuation Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 10-Q filed on
November 12, 2009)



Exhibit Number Description

99.2 - Amended and Restated Share Redemption Program (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to Form 10-Q filed on November. 12, 2009)

*  Filed herewith

** Tn accordance with Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K, this Exhibit is not deemed “filed” for
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section.
Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registration specifically
incorporates it by reference. P S



- REPORT OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

As Independent Directors of Behrmger Harvard Opportunity REIT 11, Inc (the “Company”), we have
reviewed the Company s policies, including its policies with respect to investments, borrowings, dlsposmons
distributions and raising capital and believe they are in the best interests of its stockholders.:

Investment Policies. The Company’s investment.policies are designed so the Company may make
investments consistent with its investment objectives. The Company seeks to:make equity and debt investments in a
wide variety of commercial properties located.in the U.S. or in other countries, including office, industrial, retail, .
hospitality, recreation and leisure, single-tenant, multifamily and other real properties, which may be existing,
income-producing properties, newly constructed properties or properties under development or construction and
may include multifamily properties purchased for conversion into condominiums and single-tenant properties that
may be converted for multifamily use. The Company may also invest in real estate-related securities, including
securities issued by other real estate companies, either for investment or in change of control transactions completed
on a negotiated basis or otherwise, in bridge and mezzanine loans that may lead to an opportunity to purchase a real
estate interest and in collateralized mortgage-backed securities, mortgage loans and Section 1031 tenant-in-common
interests. When making investment decisions, the Company follows a rigorous set of acquisition criteria and closing
conditions and reviews other required documentation. These criteria are designed to assess and manage investment
risks and support the Company’s basis for making investment dec1s1ons in:the best interests of the Company s
stockholders . »

Borrowing Policies. There is no limitation on the amount.the-Company may.invest in any single property
or other-asset or on the-amount the Company can borrow for the purchase of any individual property or other -
investment. - Under the Company’s charter, the maximum amount of its indebtedness shall not-exceed 300% of the
Company’s “net assets” (as defined by the NASAA REIT Guidelines) as of the date of any borrowing; however, the
Company may exceed that limit if approved by a:majority of its.independent-directors.: In addition, the Company’s
board has adopted a policy to limit the Company’s aggregate borrowings to approximately 75% of the aggregate -
value of its assets, unless substantial justification exists that borrowing a greater amount is in the Company’s best
interests. The Company’s policy limitation, however, does not apply to individual real estate assets and will only
apply once the Company has ceased raising capital:and invested substantially all of its capital.. As a result, the
Company expects to borrow more than 75% of the contract purchase price of a particular real estate asset the
Company may acquire, to the extent the board of directors determines that borrowing these amounts is prudent: The
Company’s board of directors reviews the Company’s aggregate borrowings at least quarterly. We believe that - -
these borrowing limitations reduce risk of loss and are in the best interests of the:Company’s stockholders

Disposition Policies. As each of the Company s mvestments reaches what the Company beheves to be the
asset’s optimum value during the expected life of the program, the Company will consider disposing of the
investment and may do so for the purpose of either distributing the net sale proceeds to the Company’s stockholders
or investing the proceeds in other assets that the Company believes may produce a higher overall return to the
Company’s investors. The Company anticipates that any investment disposition typically would occur during the
period from three to six years after termination of the Company’s initial public primary offering. However, the
Company may sell a particular property or other asset before or after this anticipated holding period if, in the
judgment of the Company’s advisor and its board of directors, selling the asset outside of the anticipated holding
period is in the Company’s best interest. We believe the Company’s anticipated hold period is consistent with
stockholders’ expectations with respect to the targeted life of the program and the Company’s flexibility in the
timing of dispositions in order to maximize stockholders returns is in the best interests of the stockholders.

Distribution Policies. Distributions are authorized at the discretion of the Company’s board of directors,
based on the Company’s analysis of its performance over the previous period, expectations of performance for
future periods, including actual and anticipated operating cash flow, changes in market capitalization rates for
investments suitable for the Company’s portfolio, capital expenditure needs, general financial condition, and other
factors that the board deems relevant. The board’s discretion will be influenced, in substantial part, by its obligation
to cause the Company to comply with the REIT requirements. Until proceeds from the Company’s ongoing public
offering are fully invested and generating sufficient operating cash flow to fully fund the payment of distributions to
stockholders, the Company has and will continue to pay some or all of its distributions from sources other than
operating cash flow. The Company may, for example, generate cash to pay distributions from financing activities,
components of which may include proceeds from the Company’s ongoing public offering and borrowings (including
borrowings secured by its assets) in anticipation of future operating cash flow.

Many of the factors that can affect the availability and timing of cash distributions to stockholders are
beyond the Company’s control, and a change in any one factor could adversely affect the Company’s ability to pay
future distributions. In light of the pervasive and fundamental disruptions in the global financial and real estate



markets, the Company cannot provide assurance that it will be.able to achieve expected cash flows necessary to
continue to pay distributions at any particular level, or at all. If the current economic conditions continue, the board
could determine to reduce the current distribution rate or cease paying distributions in order to conserve cash. We
believe that the Company’s-distribution pohcres are in the best interests of its stockholders because the policies are
consistent with investors’. desire for current-income. »

Related-Party Transactions. We have reviewed the material transactions between the Company and the
- Company’s advisor and its affiliates during 2009 and outlined in Note 10-to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
In our opinion, the related-party transactions are fair and reasonable to the Company and its stockholders.

" NOTICES

Total Operatlng Expenses

‘ In accordance with the Statement of Pohcy Regardrng Real Estate Investment Trusts pubhshed by the
North American Securities Administrators Association, also known as the NASAA REIT Guidelines, our charter
requires that we. monitor our “total operating expenses” quarterly on a trailing twelve-month basis and report to our
stockholders annually our total operating expenses stated as a percentage of “average invested assets” and “net
income.” For the year ended December 31, 2009, our total operating expenses stated as a percentage of average
invested assets and net income was 3.9% and 524.1%, respectively. Our Board of Directors, including all of our
independent directors, have reviewed. our total operating expenses and unanimously determined the excess to be
justified because the Company. acquired its first Asset (as defined in the Charter) on October 28, 2008 and did not
acquire-any additional assets until the third quarter of 2009, which caused the expenses incurred in connection with
its organization.and as a result of being a public company for audit and legal services, director and officer liability
insurance, and fees and expenses for Board members in connection with service on the Board and its committees, to
be disproportionate to the Company’s Average Invested Assets and its Net Income.

Cost of Ralsmg Capltal

In accordance with the NASAA REIT Gurdehnes our charter requires that we report to our stockholders
annually the ratio of costs of raising capital during the year to the capital raised. For the year ended December 31,
-2009, we raised total capital of approximately $73.8 million, including approximately $70.7 million in equity capital
through the primary public offering of our common stock and approximately $3.1 million in equity capital through
our dividend reinvestment plan. We did not raise any debt capital.- We incurred costs of approximately $8.6 million
in connection with raising this capital. This equates to a ratio of approximately 11.6%.



Officers and Directors

Our Management Team

Behringer Harvard is managed by a seasoned, cohesive team of real estate
and investment professionals with expertise in deal structure, finance, acquisition,

management, and disposition.

Board of Directors and Executive Officers

Robert M. Behringer
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Robert S. Aisner
Chief Executive Officer, President
and Director

Gary S. Bresky
Executive Vice President, Chief
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Independent Directors

Cynthia Pharr Lee
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C. Pharr and Company

Andreas K. Bremer
Executive Vice President
International Capital, LLC.
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James D. Fant

Senior Vice President—Real Estate and
Chief Investment Officer of Behringer
Harvard Opportunity Advisors I LP

E-Communications

Gerald J. Reihsen, i
Executive Vice President—Corporate
Development and Legal

M. Jason Mattox
Chief Administrative Officer

Samuel A. Gillespie
Chief Operating Officer

Jeffrey P. Mayer
Independent Consultant

Diane S. Detering-Paddison
Independent Consultant

Albert J. Palamara

Senior Vice President—Portfolio Manager
of Behringer Harvard Opportunity
Advisors I LP

Go paperless with electronic delivery. Sign up at behringerharvard.com to switch from paper
mailings and view your quarterly statements, tax forms, and other investor communications online.

Safe Harbor
This report contains forward-looking statements. Please refer to the enclosed Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information and qualifications regarding forward-looking statements.
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